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Financial Highlights
MBREE

For the year ended
31 March
BE=A=1t—HLEE
2022 2021
—=E__
HK$’million
ER-

HK$ million
BEBTT

Operating Results

Revenue

— e-print segment

— e-banner segment

— property agency services segment*

Segment profit before other (losses)/
gains including impairment losses
on financial assets — net

— e-print segment
— e-banner segment
— property agency services segment*

Other (losses)/gains including
impairment losses on financial
assets — net

— e-print segment

— e-banner segment

— property agency services segment*

Segment profit/(loss)

— e-print segment

— e-banner segment

— property agency services segment*

Profit for the year attributable to
— equity holders of the Company

— non-controlling interests

Net profit margin % (Attributable to
equity holders of the Company)

Gross profit margin %

Basic earnings per share (HK Cents)
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306.02
229.52
70.79
5.71

6.52
4.43
4.82

(2.73)

(4.34)
(4.19)
(0.15)
0.00

2.19
0.25

4.67
(2.73)

2.10
1.64
0.7%
36.5%

0.38

266.90
210.44
56.46
N/ATE A

19.65
19.49
0.06
N/ATE A

0.73
0.82
(0.09)

N/A 3E FB

20.27
20.31

(0.04)
N/A 3E FB

19.01
0.33
7.1%
38.7%

3.46

14.7%
9.1%
25.4%
N/ATE

—-66.6%
—77.3%
7,933.3%
N/ATE A

—694.5%
—-611.0%
66.7%
N/ATE A

-89.2%
-98.8%
11,775.0%
N/ATE A

-89.0%
397.0%

-89.0%



Financial Highlights
B 2

As at 31 March

R=HA=+-—H
2022
—EE2__ =
HK$’ million HK$’ million
BEAT BEBT
Financial Position B 7 AR R
Total assets BEELRE 335.57 331.15 1.3%
Total equity - g k] 250.27 250.66 -0.2%
Cash and cash equivalents ReMRSEEIREE 113.91 106.57 6.9%
* Property agency services segment generated revenue for the period from the ~— *: MERBRREDHIRKWEAHPE—T=__F=
date of acquisition to 31 March 2022 while no revenue was generated for the A=+ HBHEAKRE MREBE_T=—
year ended 31 March 2021. FZRA=t+—HIFEWEmEE Wz
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Chairman’s Statement

EREHRE

To Our Shareholders

On behalf of the board (the “Board”) of directors (the “Directors”) of
eprint Group Limited (the “Company”, together with its subsidiaries,
collectively known as the “Group”), | am pleased to present the
annual results of the Group for the year ended 31 March 2022,
together with the comparative figures for the year ended 31 March
2021.

Operating Results

During the year ended 31 March 2022, the Group’s paper printing
business and banner printing business had slightly recovered from
the adverse impacts of novel coronavirus disease (“COVID-19”)
(the “Coronavirus Outbreak”) in previous years. With the gradual
recovery of the market demand, the sales orders of the paper
printing business and banner printing business increased
throughout the year. Both paper printing segment and banner
printing segment reported an increase in revenue of approximately
HK$19.1 million and approximately HK$14.3 million respectively
during the year ended 31 March 2022 when compared with the
same period of last year.

On 23 November 2021, E-BOSS CO. LIMITED (“‘E-BOSS”), an
indirect wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company, completed an
acquisition of 42% in Sakura Japan Property (Hong Kong) Limited
(“Sakura Japan”), a limited liability company incorporated in Hong
Kong, at consideration of HK$6.3 million (the “Step Acquisition”).
Upon the completion of the Step Acquisition, Sakura Japan and its
subsidiary (“Sakura Group”) has become a 62% owned subsidiary
of the Group.

Upon the completion of the acquisition of Sakura Japan, the
financial results of Sakura Group have been consolidated into
the consolidated financial statements of the Group. Sakura
Group is principally engaged in the provision of property agency
services including property selling and purchasing and property
management. For the period from the date of acquisition to 31
March 2022, Sakura Group contributed approximately HK$5.7
million of revenue to the Group.
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During the financial year ended 31 March 2022, the Group
recorded profit attributable to the equity holders of the Company
of approximately HK$2.1 million, representing a decrease in profit
by approximately HK$16.9 million or approximately 89.0%. The
decrease in profit was mainly due to (i) fair value losses from
investments held by the Group measured at fair value through
profit or loss; (ii) lack of receipt of subsidies under the Employment
Support Scheme of the Government of the Hong Kong Special
Administrative Region which resulted in the increase in employee
benefits expenses; and (jii) the impairment loss made to the printing
machineries and the goodwill of the Group.

Prospects

Because of the outbreak of COVID-19 since early 2020, the
Group’s businesses have been significantly affected. The Group has
implemented measures to minimize the impact and to maximize
returns to the shareholders of the Company (the “Shareholders”).
Due to the resurgence of the COVID-19 pandemic, there is still
a high degree of uncertainty about the situation of Coronavirus
Outbreak and it is expected that the economic activities will
continue to be affected by the COVID-19 pandemic for some time.
In light of the unfavorable economic and market conditions, the
management will continuously and closely monitor the situation,
keep assessing the Group’s cost and risk control policy and take
all necessary measures to protect our employees from the threat of
COVID-19. Our priority is always the well-being of our customers as
well as staff and we continue to do all we can to ensure their safety
and support them through this difficult time.

Looking into the future, the management will continue to strengthen
our core business and enhance the operational efficiency. In
addition, the Group will continue to explore different business
opportunities to seek better growth prospects and returns. We will
strive to continue to expedite the development of our business as
well as diversify its business, enhance the long term growth and
focus on maximizing returns to Shareholders.

Appreciation

Last but not the least, on behalf of the Board of the Directors of
the Company, | would like to express our sincere gratitude to our
shareholders, customers and business partners for their long-term
trust and continuous support in such a challenging year. | would
also like to take this chance to thank all our hardworking and
talented managements and staff for their loyalty, integrity, diligence,
dedication and valuable contribution to the Group.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

BEENWR D

Business Review

The Company is an investment holding company principally
engaged in the provision of printing services to a diversified
customer base in Hong Kong. The Company is also engaged in
the provision of solutions on advertisement, bound books and
stationeries.

On 8 September 2021, a legally binding provisional agreement (the
“Provisional Agreement”) was entered into between, among others,
e-banner Limited (the “Purchaser” or “e-banner”), an indirect non
wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company, and Advance Graphic
Systems Limited (the “Vendor”), pursuant to which the Purchaser
agreed to purchase and the Vendor agreed to sell the property at
Unit Q1, 2nd Floor, Block 1, Kwun Tong Industrial Centre, Nos. 472-
484 Kwun Tong Road, Kowloon, Hong Kong (the “Property”) at a
consideration of HK$9,000,000, subject to the terms and conditions
of the Provisional Agreement (the “Acquisition”). Completion of the
Acquisition has taken place on 29 October 2021. The Property is to
facilitate the expansion of the banner printing business.

On 5 November 2021, E-BOSS CO. LIMITED (“E-BOSS”), an
indirect wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company, entered into a
share purchase agreement (the “Share Purchase Agreement”) with
Mr. Yip Hin Lun (“Mr. Yip”), pursuant to which Mr. Yip agreed to sell
and E-BOSS agreed to purchase 3,150,000 issued ordinary shares
in the share capital of Sakura Japan, a limited liability company
incorporated in Hong Kong, legally and beneficially held by Mr.
Yip, representing 42% of the then existing issued shares of Sakura
Japan, at a total consideration of HK$6,300,000. As at the date of
entering into the Share Purchase Agreement, the total number of
issued shares of Sakura Japan is 7,500,000 shares. Sakura Japan
was owned as to 42% by Mr. Yip, 20% by E-BOSS and 38% by
Ms. Cheung Ming Chu. Upon completion of the Step Acquisition
on 23 November 2021, Sakura Japan becomes a 62% owned
subsidiary of E-BOSS. Accordingly, the financial results of Sakura
Japan have been consolidated into the consolidated financial
statements of the Group since then. The remaining 38% continues
to be owned by Ms. Cheung Ming Chu.

As at 31 March 2022 and up to the date of this report, the Group
is principally engaged in three business segments, (i) paper printing
business, (i) banner printing business, and (i) property agency
services. The Board presents to the Shareholders the results of the
Group for the year ended 31 March 2022. The Group reported the
revenue of approximately HK$306.0 million for the current financial
year, representing an increase of approximately HK$39.1 million
or approximately 14.7% as compared to approximately HK$266.9
million for the corresponding period last year.
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Business Review (Continued)

The Group’s audited profit attributable to equity holders of the
Company for the year ended 31 March 2022 was approximately
HK$2.1 million, representing a decrease of approximately 89.0%
when compared with same period of last year. The decrease
in audited profit attributable to equity holders of the Company
was mainly attributed to (i) material decrease in fair value from
investments held by the Group measured at fair value through
profit or loss; (i) lack of receipt of subsidies under the Employment
Support Scheme of the Government of the Hong Kong Special
Administrative Region which resulted in the increase in employee
benefits expenses; and (i) the impairment loss made to the printing
machineries and the goodwill of the Group.

Paper printing business

For the years ended 31 March 2022 and 2021, the revenue
of the Group’s paper printing segment were approximately
HK$229.5 million and approximately HK$210.4 million respectively,
representing an increase of approximately HK$19.1 million or
approximately 9.1%. With the gradual recovery of the customer
sentiment, the revenue from paper printing business was slightly
increased as compared with same period of last year. The
advertising printing was still the major contributor of the segment’s
revenue and recorded revenue of approximately HK$90.3 million,
representing approximately 29.5% of the Group’s revenue for the
year.

Banner printing business

For the Group’s banner printing segment, the revenue was mainly
derived from e-banner. e-banner provides a large number of digital
printing products, roll-up banners, mountings (foamboard, PVC
board and hollow board, etc.), stickers, posters, flags, promotional
tables, outdoor banners etc. For the year ended 31 March 2022,
the Group recorded revenue from banner printing business of
approximately HK$70.8 million, representing an increase of
approximately HK$14.3 million or approximately 25.4%. Banner
printing contributed approximately HK$59.9 million, representing
approximately 19.6% of the Group’s revenue for the year ended 31
March 2022.

Management Discussion and Analysis
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Management Discussion and Analysis

=R EC S

Business Review (Continued)

Property agency services

For the Group’s property agency services segment, the revenue
mainly derived from Sakura Japan and Sakura Global Property
Limited (“Sakura Global”). Sakura Japan and Sakura Global mainly
provide a variety of property agency services including property
selling and purchasing and property management. During the
period from the date of acquisition to 31 March 2022, the property
agency services segment contributed approximately HK$5.7 million
of revenue to the Group.

Outlook

With the gradual recovery of the customer sentiment, the business
environment and operation of the Group has also improved
during the year ended 31 March 2022 as compared with the
corresponding year. Nevertheless, because of the resurgence of the
COVID-19 pandemic, it is still uncertain about the development of
Coronavirus Outbreak as well as the economy in the coming year.
The management of the Group expected that COVID-19 pandemic
will affect the economic activities for some time, and therefore
the operating environment is still challenging in the future. In such
uncertain condition, the management of the Group will actively and
closely monitor the situation to react promptly in order to maintain
the profitability and maximise the Shareholder’s value.

During the year ended 31 March 2022, the Group has acquired
the subsidiaries which are principally engaged in property
agency services around the world. Apart from this, the Group will
continuously and proactively explore different business opportunities
for business development through diversifying the business portfolio
into new businesses.

During the year ended 31 March 2022, the Group has acquired a
property for the sake of expanding the banner printing business
and hence to reduce ongoing rental expenses. The Group will
continuously assess the operating cost and risk to maintain the
operating efficiency and effectiveness.
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Outlook (Continued)

Under the leadership of the Board, the management of the Group
has formed a broad consensus in response to the key improvement
areas in the existing business operation and market expansion in
order to further enhance the Group’s overall competitiveness. The
Group will continue to strengthen its market position and increase
its market share by adopting the following approaches:

° Strengthening the cost control to maintain the competitive
pricing strategy.

° Developing the new business line and customized products
and services to meet the market demand.

° Continuous effort to improve the value added services,
including but not limited to the e-print app, self-service
Platform, phone ordering system, self checkout and collecting
counters and the storage and delivery system.

Events after the Reporting Period

On 22 April 2022, two sales contracts, which are legally binding
agreements, were entered into between, among others, Promise
Network Printing Limited (“‘Promise Network”), an indirect wholly-
owned subsidiary of the Company, and Komori Hong Kong Limited
(“Komori”) (the “Sales Contracts”), pursuant to which the Promise
Network agreed to purchase and Komori agreed to sell two Komori
Lithrone G40A Sheet Fed Offset Press at the consideration of
JPY217,600,000 (equivalent to approximately HK$13,324,000),
subject to the terms and conditions of the Sales Contracts.

On 10 June 2022, Lucky Gainer Limited (“Lucky Gainer”), an
indirect wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company and e-banner, an
indirect non wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company as tenants
and CTP Limited (“CTP”) as landlord entered into the tenancy
agreements in respect of the tenancy of Unit W6 on 3rd Floor of
Block 1; Units K2, L2, W1 and W2 on 2nd Floor of Block 2; Unit
A3 on 1st Floor of Block 3; Units W1 to W5 on 2nd Floor of Block
3; Unit B3 on 3rd Floor of Block 3; Unit B3 on 4th Floor of Block 3;
Unit R4 on 2nd Floor of Block 4; Unit A4 on 5th Floor of Block 4;
and Units M4, N4, P4 and R4 on 6th Floor of Block 4, Kwun Tong
Industrial Centre, Nos. 436-484 Kwun Tong Road, Kowloon, Hong
Kong for lease terms from 1 April 2022 to 31 March 2023 with a
monthly rent of HK$407,200 for industrial use (the “CTP (Full Year)
Tenancy Agreements”).

Management Discussion and Analysis
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Events after the Reporting Period (continueq)

On the same date, Promise Network as tenant and CTP as landlord
entered into a tenancy agreement in respect of the tenancy of Car
Parking Space No. 142 on Basement, Kwun Tong Industrial Centre,
Nos. 436-484 Kwun Tong Road, Kowloon, Hong Kong for a lease
term from 1 August 2022 to 31 March 2023 with a monthly rent
of HK$3,300 for carparking use (the “CTP (Partial Year) Tenancy
Agreement”).

On 10 June 2022, Lucky Gainer and Promise Network as tenants
and King Profit International Limited (“King Profit”) as landlord
entered into the tenancy agreements in respect of the tenancy of
Unit A3 (including Flat Roof appurtenant thereto) on 4th Floor of
Block 3, Unit L4 on 3rd Floor of Block 4 and Car Parking Space No.
36 on Basement, Kwun Tong Industrial Centre, Nos. 436-484 Kwun
Tong Road, Kowloon, Hong Kong for lease terms from 1 April 2022
to 31 March 2023 with a monthly rent of HK$63,300 for industrial
and carparking use (the “King Profit Tenancy Agreements”).

On 10 June 2022, Lucky Gainer as tenant and Profit More Rich
Limited (“Profit More”) as landlord entered into a tenancy agreement
in respect of the tenancy of Workshop Nos. M201, M202 and M210
on 3rd Floor of Block 2, Kwun Tong Industrial Centre, Nos. 436-
484 Kwun Tong Road, Kowloon, Hong Kong for a lease term from
1 April 2022 to 31 March 2023 with a monthly rent of HK$50,700
for industrial use (the “Profit More Tenancy Agreement”).

On 10 June 2022, Lucky Gainer as tenant and Promise Properties
Limited (“Promise Properties”) as landlord entered into the tenancy
agreements in respect of the tenancy of Unit W3 on 2nd Floor of
Block 2; Unit K3 on 3rd Floor of Block 3; Unit H3 on 4th Floor of
Block 3; and Unit A4 on 6th Floor of Block 4, Kwun Tong Industrial
Centre, Nos. 436-484 Kwun Tong Road, Kowloon, Hong Kong for
lease terms from 1 April 2022 to 31 March 2023 with a monthly
rent of HK$125,600 for industrial use (the “Promise Properties
Tenancy Agreement”).
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Events after the Reporting Period (continueq)

On 10 June 2022, Lucky Gainer and Promise Network as tenants
and VVV Limited (“VVV”) as landlord entered into the tenancy
agreements in respect of the tenancy of (1) Unit H2, on 2nd Floor of
Block 2; Unit K4 on 3rd Floor of Block 4; Car Parking Space No. 78
on Ground Floor, Kwun Tong Industrial Centre, Nos. 436-484 Kwun
Tong Road, Kowloon, Hong Kong; and (2) Workshop No. 1 on
Ground Floor, Trend Centre, No. 29 Cheung Lee Street, Hong Kong
for lease terms from 1 April 2022 to 31 March 2023 with a monthly
rent of HK$166,700 for industrial and carparking use (the “VVV (Full
Year) Tenancy Agreements 17).

On the same date, Lucky Gainer as tenant and VVV as landlord
entered into (i) a tenancy agreement in respect of the tenancy of
Unit J2 on 2nd Floor of Block 2, Kwun Tong Industrial Centre, Nos.
460-470 Kwun Tong Road, Kowloon, Hong Kong for a lease term
from 1 November 2022 to 31 March 2023 with a monthly rent
of HK$32,100 for industrial use (the “VVV (Partial Year) Tenancy
Agreement 1”) and (i) a tenancy agreement in respect of the
tenancy of Unit G2 on 2nd Floor of Block 2, Kwun Tong Industrial
Centre, Nos. 460-470 Kwun Tong Road, Kowloon, Hong Kong
for a lease term from 11 March 2023 to 31 March 2023 with a
monthly rent of HK$23,800 for industrial use (the “VVV (Full Year)
Tenancy Agreements 2”, together with the CTP (Full Year) Tenancy
Agreements, the CTP (Partial Year) Tenancy Agreement, the King
Profit Tenancy Agreements, the Profit More Tenancy Agreement,
the Promise Properties Tenancy Agreement, VVV (Full Year) Tenancy
Agreements 1 and VVV (Partial Year) Tenancy Agreement 1,
collectively referred to as the “Tenancy Agreements”).

The rental payment to be made by Lucky Gainer, Promise Network
and e-banner under the Tenancy Agreements will be recognised as
right-of-use assets and will be regarded as an acquisition of assets
by the Group for the purpose of the Rules Governing the Listing
of securities (the "Listing Rules") on The Stock Exchange of Hong
Kong Limited (the "Stock Exchange").

Save as disclosed above, no significant events have taken place
after the year ended 31 March 2022 to the date of this report.
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Management Discussion and Analysis
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Financial Review

Revenue

For the year ended 31 March 2022, the Group generated revenue
from (i) provision of printing services from paper printing business, (i)
provision of printing services from banner printing business and (iii)
provision of property agency services.

Revenue from the provision of printing and other services increased
by approximately HK$33.4 million or approximately 12.5% from
approximately HK$266.9 million to approximately HK$300.3 million.
The overall market demand was slightly recovered from the impact
by the Coronavirus Outbreak.

The following table sets forth a breakdown of the revenue by service
category and their respective percentage of the total revenue for
the years indicated.

Bt %5 O R

Wz

BE_Z_—_F=A=+—HILFEE" &K
SEM IR B ()4 @ EN R E SRR ED
i) Bl 755 ~ (i) M8 22 B ) 3 75 12 £ &9 B Joll AR 75
KRt ERERS -

2 4t B il B L At BR 5 PSR M AR B A
266,900,0007% JT. 3 1 #733,400,0007% 7T
2 #)12.56% = #9300,300,00078 T - = §8
MERKEERFESREBEENRERE
e o

TREFIRZREE RS 2 Y a5 B A K
HEBEMTRFENBREADL -

2022 2021

—E-CF —T-—F

HK$’000 HK$'000

TER TEL
Advertising printing EEER 90,296 29.5% 82,829 31.0%
Bound book printing BEREZHR 54,945 18.0% 53,831 20.2%
Stationery printing XA ER 64,443 21.1% 60,228 22.6%
Banner printing EE R 59,889 19.6% 50,183 18.8%
Other services Hi % 30,738 9.9% 19,831 7.4%

Total revenue from printing and R E ENRI 2 H A AR )

other services Wi 300,311 98.1% 266,902 100.0%
Property agency services MERIERG 5,709+ 1.9%* N/AT i N/AT i ™
Total revenue LhEat k] 306,020 100.0% 266,902 100.0%

*.

Property agency services generated revenue for the period from the date of
acquisition to 31 March 2022 while no revenue was generated for the year
ended 31 March 2021.
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Financial Review continveq)

Revenue (continued)

The advertising printing service category was still the major
contributor of the Group’s revenue, which accounted for
approximately 29.5% and approximately 31.0% of the total revenue
for the years ended 31 March 2022 and 2021 respectively. If
excluding the revenue from property agency services, advertising
printing contributed approximately 30.1% of the total revenue for
the current year. In conclusion, the contribution to the sales mix
remained stable in both the years ended 31 March 2022 and 2021.

Management Discussion and Analysis
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BRVRFFEE

2021

—E-—F

Sales Channels HK$'000

FTHET
Stores Gl 41,766 13.9% 46,094 17.3%
Websites gt 175,107 58.3% 147,606 55.3%
Others (Note) Hit () 83,438 27.8% 73,202 27.4%

Total revenue from printing and TR B ENR e H A AR )

other services Wz 8% 300,311 100.0% 266,902 100.0 %

Note: “Others” refers to revenue derived from orders received over the telephone,
through e-mail, e-print mobile application and “Photobook” program.

Websites remained the major sales channel and it contributed
approximately 58.3% of total revenue from printing and other
services for the year ended 31 March 2022, represented an
increase of approximately 3.0% when compared with same
period of last year. The sales contributed by stores decreased
from approximately 17.3% for the year ended 31 March 2021 to
approximately 13.9% for the year ended 31 March 2022.

Other income

Other income of the Group mainly consisted of sales of scrap
materials. The Group’s other income slightly increased from
approximately HK$2.7 million for the year ended 31 March 2021 to
approximately HK$3.3 million for the year ended 31 March 2022,
representing an increase of approximately HK$0.6 million.

[E|#E@RBER B eprintE e ERRE
=, & [Photobook | 2 = 52 & & 5T 8 AT 15 A9 1K

e
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Financial Review continveq)

Other (losses)/gains — net

For the year ended 31 March 2022, the Group reported a net
loss of approximately HK$4.2 million, representing a decrease
of approximately HK$5.6 million as compared to a net gain of
approximately HK$1.4 million for the year ended 31 March 2021.

The net loss in current year was mainly arising from the fair value
loss of approximately HK$4.1 million from the investments held
by the Group, impairment loss on goodwill of approximately
HK$3.1 milion and netting against the gain on Step Acquisition
of subsidiaries of approximately HK$3.0 million while the net gain
recognized last year was principally attributable to the fair value gain
of approximately HK$1.9 million on the mutual fund investments
held by the Group.

Selling and distribution expenses

Selling and distribution expenses mainly consisted of employee
benefits expenses, handling charges for electronic payments,
and rental charges. Selling and distribution expenses represented
approximately 9.3% and approximately 9.6% of the revenue for the
years ended 31 March 2022 and 2021 respectively. The increase in
expenses by approximately HK$2.9 million was mainly the result of
the increased staff cost of approximately HK$1.9 million.

Administrative expenses

Administrative expenses mainly included employee benefits
expenses and outsourced customer support expenses. For the
years ended 31 March 2022 and 2021, administrative expenses
amounted to approximately HK$77.1 million and approximately
HK$60.8 million, representing approximately 25.2% and
approximately 22.8% of the total revenue respectively.

The material increase in amount by approximately HK$16.3
million was mainly attributable to the increase in employee
benefits expenses and outsourced customer support expenses
of approximately HK$10.7 million and approximately HK$1.2
million respectively. The substantial increment in employee benefits
expenses was mainly because of receipt of subsidies under the
Employment Support Scheme of the Government of the Hong Kong
Special Administrative Region received last year but no subsidies
from such scheme was received during the year ended 31 March
2022.
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Financial Review continveq)

Finance income

Finance income mainly represented the interest income generated
from the loan receivables and bank interest income. The income
slightly decreased by approximately HK$0.2 million or approximately
4.6% as the loan to a third party with the principal amount of
HK$13.0 million was fully repaid during the year and therefore less
interest income was generated during the current year.

Finance costs

Finance costs primarily consisted of interest expenses on bank
borrowings and interest expenses on lease liabilities. The overall
decrease in finance cost by approximately HK$0.5 million or
approximately 30.5% was mainly due to the drop in interest
expenses on lease liabilities in the amount of approximately HK$0.5
million for the year ended 31 March 2022.

Share of (losses)/profits of joint ventures

Share of (losses)/profits of joint ventures represented the share
of results of the Group’s joint ventures. As at 31 March 2022 and
2021, the Group had two joint ventures in Malaysia and Hong Kong,
namely e-print Solutions Sdn. Bhd and Top Success Investment
Group Limited respectively.

During the year ended 31 March 2022, the operation of e-print
Solutions Sdn. Bhd suffered from the Coronavirus Outbreak. The
lockdown measures in Malaysia imposed by the Government heavily
affected the operation and therefore the sales volume and revenue
declined which resulted in the share of losses of joint ventures.

Share of losses of associates

As at 31 March 2021, the amount represented the share of results
of the Group’s associates in Hong Kong, which are Sakura Japan
and E-post Limited.

During the year ended 31 March 2022, the Group acquired
additional 42% interest of Sakura Japan and thus Sakura Japan
became the subsidiary of the Group since the date of acquisition.
In addition, the Group also acquired 15% interest of Step Wise
Limited which was incorporated in Hong Kong.
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Financial Review continveq)

Share of losses of associates (continuea)

As a result, the Group has two associates in Hong Kong which are
E-post Limited and Step Wise Limited as at 31 March 2022.

For the year ended 31 March 2022, the Group recorded the
share of losses of associates of approximately HK$0.7 million
(2021: approximately HK$1.4 million), representing a decrease of
approximately HK$0.7 million.

Profit for the year attributable to equity holders of
the Company

For the year ended 31 March 2022, the Group reported profit
for the year attributable to equity holders of the Company of
approximately HK$2.1 million (2021: approximately HK$19.0
million), representing a decrease of approximately HK$16.9 million.
The material decrease in profit for the year attributable to equity
holders of the Company was mainly due to the (i) fair value loss of
approximately HK$4.1 million arising from the financial assets at fair
value through profit or loss held by the Group during the year ended
31 March 2022; (i) the increase in the employee benefits expenses
of the Group compared with same period of last year; and (i) the
impairment loss made to the printing machineries and the goodwill
of the Group.
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Financial Review continveq)

Liquidity and Financial Information

As at 31 March 2022, the Group’s bank balances and cash
was approximately HK$113.9 million, represented an increase
of approximately HK$7.3 million when compared with that as at
31 March 2021. As at 31 March 2022 and 31 March 2021, the
financial ratios of the Group were as follows:

Current ratio @ TR E H RO

Gearing ratio @ BEARBLERR

Notes:

1) Current ratio is calculated based on total current assets divided by total current
liabilities.

2) Gearing ratio is calculated based on total bank borrowings and leases liabilities
divided by total equity and multiplied by 100%.

Borrowings

As at 31 March 2022 and 2021, the Group’s total bank borrowings
balance amounted to approximately HK$26.2 million and
approximately HK$19.9 million respectively. The increase in bank
borrowings by approximately HK$6.3 million or approximately
31.7% was mainly due to the addition of the mortgage loan in
relation to the new property acquired during the year.

All bank borrowings were made from banks in Hong Kong and
were repayable within one year, except for two mortgage loans. The
mortgage loans with the carrying amount of approximately HK$4.4
million and approximately HK$17.9 million will mature in 2033 and
2036 respectively. No financial instruments were used for hedging
purposes, nor were there any foreign currency net investments
hedged by current borrowings and/or other hedging instruments.
The weighted average interest rates (per annum) were 2.4% and
2.3% for the years ended 31 March 2022 and 2021 respectively.
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Financial Review continveq)

Treasury Policy

The Group has always pursued a prudent financial management
approach towards its treasury policy and thus maintained a healthy
liquidity position throughout the year. The Group closely and actively
manages its liquidity position with sufficient standby banking
facilities to cope with daily operation and any demands for capital
for further development.

Capital Structure

The capital of the Company comprises ordinary shares and other
reserves. The shares of the Company (the “Shares”) have been
listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange since 3 December
2013. As at 31 March 2022, the total number of issued ordinary
Shares was 550,000,000 Shares.

Capital Commitments

As at 31 March 2022, the Group had capital commitments of
approximately HK$6.6 million in relation to the purchase of the
machineries. As at 31 March 2021, the Group did not have any
capital commitments.

Significant Investments Held

In addition to the investments in subsidiaries, joint ventures and
associates, the Group also holds some investments including
equity investment of the companies listed on the Stock Exchange,
mutual fund investments, bonds and etc. These investments were
classified as financial asset at fair value through profit or loss.

Future Plans for Material Investments and Capital
Assets

As at 31 March 2022, the Group has no plans for any material
investments or capital assets.
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Financial Review continveq)

Material Acquisitions

Other than those disclosed in the audited results announcement
dated 19 August 2022 for the year ended 31 March 2022, there
was no material acquisition or disposal of subsidiaries, associates
and joint ventures by the Group during the year ended 31 March
2022.

Exposure to Foreign Exchange Risk

The Group operates principally in Hong Kong and its business is
supported by an information technology support services centre
located in the PRC. The Group is exposed to foreign exchange risk
mainly arising from! the exposure of Renminbi against Hong Kong
dollars. The Group does not hedge its foreign exchange risk as its
exposure to foreign exchange risk is low as the Group’s cash flows
mainly denominated in Hong Kong dollars.

Charges on Assets

At 31 March 2022 and 2021, the Group pledged the plant and
machinery with carrying values of approximately HK$2.6 million
and approximately HK$2.7 million respectively, as collaterals to
secure the Group’s leases liabilities. As at 31 March 2022, the
Group mortgaged three properties with a total carrying values of
approximately HK$65.1 million while the Group mortgaged two
properties with total carrying amount of approximately HK$58.1
million as at 31 March 2021 as collaterals to secure the Group’s
mortgage loans.

Capital Expenditure

During the year ended 31 March 2022, the Group invested
approximately HK$21.5 million (2021: HK$7.3 million) in property,
plant and equipment and right-of-use assets, which represented
an increase of approximately HK$14.2 million in capital expenditure
compared with last year.

Management Discussion and Analysis

BT M AT

B 75 [E] B8 )
N

BREHA-_FT_—_F/A\ATNLBEE
= —E=A=t+-RAILFEMSER
REREMREEIN AEERBE_Z
T =A==+ -HLFEYEEMFMN
BAR BMEARARGLELENERNWE
HHEFR-

3 M E E B

AEBFECEEBEE HEBALURS
Imﬁﬂﬂﬁiﬁﬁﬁ$®§% REE
FTEAZTARELBITEENINER
R °EEE"ZIK%IE’JIE%WEEKLA/’%E@J
B PAAXHINERBRRE WAERL
I Y0 )R SN BEE L B o

EEERHA

RZEZZFRZTE=—F=ZRA=+—
B A% B 5 R LABREE %2,600,000%
7T K #92,700,0007% 7T & & 5 Ko 14 25 ' 17
EAEERR UNERASEBHEEAE -
—E-FZAZ+—H AEBEUE®R
42 {E 4765,100,000 T Z R W £ & #
ERERR MR T —F=A=+—
B - 7K 5 B LA BR T 42 {8 958,100,000 7T
MMEMEEREABERD UEREAE
EriziEER

B A

BEXRX

REE-_E-_—"F=—A=+—HIFE"

N B E 421,500,000 7 (ZF Z—
% :7,300,0008 TT) R E W E R&E
u&ﬁ%%ﬁﬁ'ﬁ$ﬁ§®£$%M%
14,200,000/ 7T ©

2021/22% R eprint EEMER 2T 21



Management Discussion and Analysis
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Employees and Emolument Policies

At 31 March 2022, the Group had 289 (2021: 302) full time
employees. The employee benefits expense of the Group, including
directors’ emoluments, employees’ salaries and allowances,
retirement benefits schemes contributions and other benefits
amounted to approximately HK$87.0 million for the year ended 31
March 2022 (2021: HK$59.7 million). The expenses significantly
increased by approximately HK$27.3 million or approximately
45.6% was mainly because of () the fact that the one-off non-
recurring subsidies of approximately HK$12.5 million under the
Employment Support Scheme of the Government of the Hong Kong
Special Administrative Region was received during the year ended
31 March 2021 while there was no similar subsidy received during
the current year and (i) increase in salaries paid to the employees
for the reward of contribution to the Group.

There was no significant change in the Group’s emolument policies.
On top of basic salaries, bonuses may be paid by reference to
the Group’s performance as well as individual’s performance.
Other staff benefits included contributions to Mandatory Provident
Fund retirement benefits scheme in Hong Kong, provision of
pension funds, medical insurance, unemployment insurance and
other relevant insurance for employees who are employed by
the Group pursuant to the PRC rules and regulations and the
prevailing regulatory requirements of the PRC, and the Employees
Provident Fund and contributions to Social Security Organization
for employees who are employed by the Group pursuant to the
Malaysian rules and regulations and the prevailing regulatory
requirements of Malaysia.

Final Dividend

The Board resolved to recommend to the Shareholders at the
forthcoming annual general meeting of the Company to be held on
Friday, 30 September 2022 (the “2022 AGM”) of a final dividend of
HKO0.9 cents per Share for the year ended 31 March 2022 (2021:
nil) to be paid on Monday, 24 October 2022 to the Shareholders
whose names appear on the register of members of the Company
on Monday, 10 October 2022.

The Board resolved to declare an interim dividend of HKO0.8 cents
per ordinary Share for the six months ended 30 September 2021
amounting to HK$4,400,000, which was paid in December 2021
(2020: nil).
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Corporate Governance Report

The Company is committed to maintaining good corporate
governance standard and procedures to ensure the integrity,
transparency and quality of disclosure in order to enhance the
Shareholders’ value.

Corporate Governance Practice

The Company has adopted the code provisions set out in the
Corporate Governance Code (“CG Code”) in Appendix 14 to the
Listing Rules as its own code of corporate governance.

During the year ended 31 March 2022, the Company was in
compliance with the code provisions set out in the CG Code except
for the deviation as explained below.

Code provision A.2.1 of the CG Code provides that the roles of
the chairman and chief executive officer should be separated and
should not be performed by the same individual. The Company
does not at present separate the roles of the chairman and chief
executive officer. Mr. She Siu Kee William is the chairman and chief
executive officer of the Company. The Board believes that vesting
the roles of both chairman and chief executive officer in the same
person has the benefit of ensuring consistent leadership within the
Group and enables more effective and efficient overall strategic
planning for the Group. The Board further believes that the balance
of power and authority for the present arrangement will not be
impaired and is adequately ensured by the current Board which
comprises experienced and high calibre individuals with sufficient
number thereof being non-executive Director and independent non-
executive Directors.

Save as the aforesaid and in the opinion of the Directors, the
Company had met all code provisions set out in the CG Code
during the year ended 31 March 2022.

The Board will continue to review and further improve the
Company’s corporate governance practices and standards, so as
to ensure its business activities and decision-making processes are
regulated in a proper and prudent manner.
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Model Code For Securities Transactions By
Directors

The Company has adopted the Model Code for Securities
Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers (the “Model Code”)
set out in Appendix 10 to Listing Rules as the code of conduct
regarding securities transactions by the Directors. Having made
specific enquiry of all Directors, the Company confirmed that all
Directors had complied with the required standard set out in the
Model Code throughout the year.

Board of Directors

The Board is responsible for the leadership and control of the
Company, and is responsible for setting up the overall strategy as
well as reviewing the operation and financial performance of the
Group. The Board reserved for its decision or consideration matters
covering overall Group strategy, major acquisitions and disposals,
annual budgets, annual and interim results, recommendations on
Directors’ appointment or re-appointment, approval of major capital
transactions and other significant operational and financial matters.
The management was delegated the authority and responsibility
by the Board for the daily management of the Group. In addition,
the Board had also delegated various responsibilities to the Board
committees. Further details of these committees are set out in this
report.

The Board currently consists of six Directors including two executive

Directors, one non-executive Director and three independent non-
executive Directors:

Executive Directors

Mr. She Siu Kee William (Chairman and Chief Executive Officer)
Mr. Chong Cheuk Ki

Non-executive Director
Mr. Leung Wai Ming
Independent Non-executive Directors

Mr. Poon Chun Wai
Mr. Fu Chung
Mr. Ma Siu Kit
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Board of Directors (continueq)

A deed of confirmation was entered into, among others, Mr. She Siu
Kee William, Mr. Lam Shing Kai (a former Director who retired on 16
August 2019), Mr. Leung Wai Ming and Mr. Chong Cheuk Ki on 2
July 20183 (the “Deed of Confirmation”) confirming the existence of
their acting in concert arrangement to jointly control their respective
interest in the Company held through eprint Limited. Save as
aforesaid, the Board members have no financial, business, family or
other material/relevant relationships with each other. Such balanced
board composition is formed to ensure strong independence
exists across the Board. The composition of the Board reflects
the balanced skills and experience for effective leadership. The
biographical information of the Directors are set out on pages 94 to
95 under the section headed “Biographical Details of Directors and
Senior Management” in this annual report.

The Board decides on corporate strategies, approves overall
business plans and evaluates the Group’s financial performance
and management. Specific tasks that the Board delegates to the
Group’s management include the implementation of strategies
approved by the Board, the monitoring of operating budgets, the
implementation of internal control procedures, and the ensuring of
compliance with relevant statutory requirements and other rules and
regulations.

Board Meetings

During the year ended 31 March 2022 (“FY2021/22"), four Board
meetings were held. All Directors were given an opportunity to
include any matters in the agenda for regular Board meetings, and
were also given sufficient time to review documents and information
relating to matters to be discussed in Board meetings in advance.

Name of Director
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R B

Mr. She Siu Kee William RBEFE
Mr. Chong Cheuk Ki AEEHAEAL
Mr. Leung Wai Ming REREE
Mr. Li Lu (Note) FRREA (FEE)
Mr. Poon Chun Wai & R T A
Mr. Fu Chung HREE
Mr. Ma Siu Kit BRREE
Note: Mr. Li Lu resigned on 22 July 2021, one Board meeting was held before his

resignation.
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Board Meetings (continueq)

Board minutes are kept by the company secretary of the Company
(the “Company Secretary”) and are open for inspection by the
Directors. Every Board member is entitled to have access to Board
papers and related materials, and has unrestricted access to the
advice and services of the Company Secretary, and has the liberty
to seek external professional advice if so required.

General Meeting

During FY2021/22, one general meeting was held, being the 2021
annual general meeting of the Company held on 13 August 2021.

Name of Director
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Number of

attendance

R B

Mr. She Siu Kee William RABESLE
Mr. Chong Cheuk Ki HEHEE
Mr. Leung Wai Ming REREE
Mr. Li Lu (Note) TR E (M)
Mr. Poon Chun Wai EIRE A&
Mr. Fu Chung BREE
Mr. Ma Siu Kit BIRARTEE
Note: Mr. Li Lu resigned on 22 July 2021, no general meeting was held before his

resignation.

The Board is responsible for maintaining an on-going dialogue with
the Shareholders and in particular, uses annual general meeting or
other general meetings to communicate with them and encourage
their participation. The Board notes that the Chairman of the
Board and the chairmen or, in their absence, other members of the
audit committee (the “Audit Committee”), nomination committee
(the “Nomination Committee”) and remuneration committee (the
“Remuneration Committee”) of the Company should attend the
annual general meeting to answer questions and collect views of
Shareholders.
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Directors’ Training

According to code provision A.6.5 of the CG Code, all directors
should participate in continuous professional development to
develop and refresh their knowledge and skills to ensure that their
contribution to the board remains informed and relevant.

All Directors have participated in continuous professional
development by way of reading materials relating to their role as a
Director.

The individual training record of each Director received for
FY2021/22 is set out below:

Name of Director

Mr. She Siu Kee William RIAELE
Mr. Chong Cheuk Ki HEHEE
Mr. Leung Wai Ming RERLE
Mr. Poon Chun Wai o R B 5T A
Mr. Fu Chung BREE

Mr. Ma Siu Kit BREE

Chairman and Chief Executive Officer

Mr. She Siu Kee William, the Chairman of the Company, was also
appointed as the Chief Executive Officer of the Company. The
Board believes that vesting the roles of both chairman and chief
executive officer in the same person has the benefit of ensuring
consistent leadership within the Group and enables more effective
and efficient overall strategic planning for the Group. The Board
further believes that the balance of power and authority for the
present arrangement will not be impaired and is adequately ensured
by current Board which comprises experienced and high calibre
individuals with sufficient number thereof being non-executive
Director and independent non-executive Directors.
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Independent non-executive Directors and
non-executive Director

The three independent non-executive Directors are persons of
high calibre, with working experience, academic and professional
qualifications in the fields of accounting, company secretaryship,
printing or management. With their experience gained from
various sectors, they provide strong support towards the effective
discharge of the duties and responsibilities of the Board. Each
independent non-executive Director gives an annual confirmation
of his independence to the Company, and the Company considers
each of them to be independent under Rule 3.13 of the Listing
Rules.

All non-executive Director and independent non-executive Directors
are appointed for a specific term of three years and are subject to
retirement by rotation in accordance with the articles of association
of the Company (the “Articles”).

Nomination Committee

In considering the nomination of new Directors, the Board will
take into account the qualification, ability, working experience,
leadership and professional ethics of the candidates, especially their
experience in the printing business and/or other professional area.

The Company established the Nomination Committee on 13
November 2013 with written terms of reference which was revised
on 25 February 2019 to conform with the updated provision of the
CG Code. The terms of reference of the Nomination Committee is
currently made available on the Stock Exchange’s website and the
Company’s website.
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Nomination Committee coninueq)

The Nomination Committee consists of two independent non-
executive Directors, namely Mr. Fu Chung (as chairman) and Mr,
Poon Chun Wai, and an executive Director, namely Mr. She Siu
Kee Wiliam. The functions of the Nomination Committee are to
review the structure, size, composition and diversity of the Board
and make recommendations on any proposed changes to the
Board to complement the Group’s strategy; to identify qualified
individuals to become members of the Board; to assess the
independence of independent non-executive Directors; and to
make recommendations to the Board on the appointment or re-
appointment of Directors and succession planning for Directors,
in particular the Chairman and the chief executive officer. The
Company adopted the board diversity policy (the “Policy”) on 13
November 2013 whereby it recognises and embraces the benefits
of a diversity of Board members. The Company endeavour to
ensure that the Board has a balance of skills, experience and
diversity of perspectives appropriate to the requirements of the
Company’s business. The Board delegated certain duties under
the Policy to the Nomination Committee. The Company seeks to
achieve Board diversity through the consideration of a number of
factors, including but not limited to age, cultural and educational
background, ethnicity, professional experience, skills, knowledge
and length of service. The Company will also take into consideration
its own business model and specific needs from time to time in
determining the optimum composition of the Board.

The Nomination Committee will review the necessity for setting
measurable objectives for implementing the Policy from time to
time.

To ensure changes to the Board composition can be managed
without undue disruption, there should be a formal, prudent
and transparent procedure for selection, appointment and re-
appointment of Directors, as well as plans in place for orderly
succession (if considered necessary), including periodical review of
such plans. The appointment of a new Director (to be an additional
Director or fill a casual vacancy as and when it arises) or any re-
appointment of Directors is a matter for decision by the Board upon
the recommendation of the proposed candidate by the Nomination
Committee.
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Nomination Committee continueq)

The criteria to be applied in considering whether a candidate
is qualified shall be his/her ability to devote sufficient time and
attention to the affairs of the Company and contribute to the
diversity of the Board as well as the effective discharge by the
Board of the responsibilities which, in particular, are set out as
follows:

(@) participating in Board meetings to bring an independent
judgment on issues of strategy, policy, performance,
accountability, resources, key appointments and standards of
conducts;

(b) taking the lead where potential conflicts of interests arise;

(c) serving on the Audit Committee, the Remuneration Committee
and the Nomination Committee (in the case of candidate for
non-executive Director) and other relevant Board committees,
if invited;

(d) bringing a range of business and financial experience to
the Board, giving the Board and any committees on which
he/she serves the benefit of his/her skills, expertise, and
varied backgrounds and qualifications and diversity through
attendance and participation in the Board/committee
meetings;

(e) scrutinising the Company’s performance in achieving agreed
corporate goals and objectives, and monitoring the reporting
of performance;

() ensuring the committees on which he/she serves to perform
their powers and functions conferred on them by the Board;
and

(@ conforming to any requirement, direction and regulation
that may from time to time be prescribed by the Board or
contained in the constitutional documents of the Company or
imposed by legislation or the Listing Rules, where appropriate.
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Nomination Committee coninveq)

If the candidate is proposed to be appointed as an independent
non-executive Director, his/her independence shall be assessed
in accordance with, among other things, the factors as set out
in Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules, subject to any amendments as
may be made by the Stock Exchange from time to time. Where
applicable, the totality of the candidate’s education, qualifications
and experience shall also be evaluated to consider whether he/
she has the appropriate professional qualifications or accounting
or related financial management expertise for filing the office of
an independent non-executive Director with such qualifications or
expertise as required under Rule 3.10(2) of the Listing Rules.

During FY2021/22, the Nomination Committee held one meeting
for (1) reviewing the structure, size and diversity of the Board, (2)
assessing the independence of each independent non-executive
Directors, (3) discussing the re-election of directors and (4) reviewing
the effectiveness of the terms of reference of the Nomination
Committee in the discharge of their duties and recommend any
proposed changes to the Board.

Nomination Committee member

Corporate Governance Report
PEERIRE

IMEREBAERREIRBUFNTES H
BUMERR (AR ERE) EmHRAFES13
fie P 1) B A 1T R4l - M PR A B S P A
TEELER -EEANBERT RiE L
MR AEIA0R)EMRENEBIEE
MB MAMEREANBERE BB
MEBRAEBZEEHBIEENEXER
g E.qu%?FE?QE’JHM‘%aﬂ%%%DE% AIE
B IFRTE TR

RIB-— /" "HRFE REEES
RIT—R&#H W)ﬁﬁ%%@%%%‘
MERZ LB R (2)FFE & 8 3 IF A
ﬁ%%%%ﬁﬁ=@ﬁﬁ§$i%$ﬁ:
RompaittZEeRERBEEETR
BERMKY YAEFSHEBTAEZZEN

wh

= °

Number of
attendance

Mr. Fu Chung (chairman) HARLE (EEFE)
Mr. She Siu Kee William RIBELE
Mr. Poon Chun Wai EIRE A&

Remuneration Committee

The Company established the Remuneration Committee on 13
November 2013 with written terms of reference, which was aligned
with the CG Code. The terms of reference of the Remuneration
Committee is currently made available on the Stock Exchange’s
website and the Company’s website.

The Remuneration Committee consists of two independent non-
executive Directors, namely Mr. Poon Chun Wai (as chairman) and
Mr. Fu Chung and one executive Director, namely Mr. She Siu Kee
William.
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Remuneration Committee (continuea)

The functions of the Remuneration Committee are to make
recommendations to the Board on the Company’s policy and
structure on the remuneration packages for all Directors’ and
senior management and on the establishment of a formal and
transparent procedure for developing remuneration policy. The
model of Remuneration Committee described in code provision
B.1.2(c)(ii) of the CG Code has been adopted by the Remuneration
Committee, which is to make recommendations to the Board on
the remuneration packages of individual executive directors and
senior management, including benefits in kind, pension rights and
compensation payments, including any compensation payable for
loss or termination of their office or appointment.

During FY2021/22, the Remuneration Committee held two meetings
for (i) reviewing the policy and structure of the remuneration for
the Directors and senior management, and (i) discussing the
adjustment to the remuneration of Directors.
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Remuneration Committee member

Mr. Poon Chun Wai (chairman) EIRE A (FE)
Mr. She Siu Kee William RBEFKE
Mr. Fu Chung HREE

The Company has adopted a share option scheme on 13
November 2013. The purpose of the share option scheme is
to recognize and acknowledge the contributions of the eligible
participants to motivate them and to optimize their performance
and efficiency for the benefit of the Group and to attract or retain or
otherwise maintain on-going business relationships with the eligible
participants whose contributions are or will be beneficial to the
long-term growth of the Group. Details of the share option scheme
are set out in the Report of the Directors.

The emolument payable to Directors will depend on their respective
contractual terms under employment contracts or service contracts,
if any, and will be fixed by the Board based on the recommendation
of the Remuneration Committee, the performance of the Group
and the prevailing marketing conditions. Details of the Directors’
emoluments for FY2021/22 are set out in Note 37 to the financial
statements.
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Audit Committee

The Company established an Audit Committee on 13 November
2013 with written terms of reference which was revised on 25
February 2019 to comply with the CG Code. The primary duties
of the Audit Committee are to review and supervise the financial
reporting system and to review the risk management and internal
control systems of the Group. The Audit Committee has reviewed
the audited financial statements of the Group for FY2021/22.

The Audit Committee comprises three independent non-executive
Directors, namely Mr. Ma Siu Kit (as chairman), Mr. Poon Chun Wai
and Mr. Fu Chung.

The Audit Committee is mainly responsible for making
recommendations to the Board on the appointment, re-
appointment and removal of the external auditor and to approve
the remuneration and terms of engagement of the external auditor,
and any questions of resignation or dismissal of such auditor;
reviewing the interim and annual reports and accounts of the
Group; and overseeing the Company’s financial reporting system
(including the adequacy of resources, qualifications and experience
of staff in charge of the Company’s financial reporting function and
their training arrangement and budget) and supervising the risk
management and the internal control systems.

The Audit Committee meets the external auditor regularly to discuss
any area of concern during the audit. The Audit Committee reviews
the interim and annual reports before submission to the Board. The
Audit Committee focuses not only on the impact of the changes in
accounting policies and practices but also on the compliance with
accounting standards, the Listing Rules and the legal requirements
in the review of the Company’s interim and annual reports.

During FY2021/22, the Audit Committee held two meetings.
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Mr. Ma Siu Kit (chairman) BIKREE (EE) 2/2

Mr. Poon Chun Wai EIRE A& 2/2
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Audit Committee (Continued)

During FY2021/22, the Audit Committee reviewed, among others,
the annual results of the Group for the year ended 31 March 2021
("FY2020/21") and interim results of the Group for the six months
ended 30 September 2021, which were in the opinion of the Audit
Committee that the preparation of such consolidated financial
statements and results complied with the applicable accounting
standards and the Listing Rules.

The Audit Committee noted the existing risk management and
internal control systems of the Group and also noted that review of
the same shall be carried out annually.

Corporate Governance Functions

The Company’s corporate governance functions are carried out
by the Board pursuant to the code provisions as set out in the CG
Code.

The corporate governance functions currently performed by
the Board are to develop and review the Company’s policies
and practices on corporate governance to comply with the CG
Code and other legal or regulatory requirements; to oversee the
Company’s orientation program for new Directors; to review and
monitor the training and continuous professional development of
Directors and senior management; to develop, review and monitor
the code of conduct and compliance manual (if any) applicable to
employees and Directors; and to review the Company’s disclosure
in the Corporate Governance Report.

During FY2021/22, the Board had reviewed the training and
continuous professional development of Directors and senior
management, reviewed the Company’s compliance with the CG
Code and reviewed the Company’s disclosure in the Corporate
Governance Report.
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Auditors’ Remuneration

For FY2021/22, the remuneration payable or paid to the Company’s
auditor, PricewaterhouseCoopers (‘PwC”), was as follows:
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HK$’000
T

Services rendered TR AR
— Audit services (Note 1) —FF RS (FMIFET) 2,500
— Non-audit services (Note 2) —FEBET R (M5E2) 180

Note 1: the audit fee of HK$2,500,000 was agreed ofter balance sheet date, of
which, HK$1,420,000 was not recognised in financial statements as at 31
March 2022.

Note 2: the non-audit services comprised tax services and other related services
provided by PwC.

Company Secretary

Mr. Mok Chun Wa was appointed as the Company Secretary on 30
September 2016 and resigned as the Company Secretary on 31
December 2021.

Mr. She Kwan Yin Corwin (“Mr. Corwin She”) was appointed as
the Company Secretary on 31 December 2021. The biographical
details of Mr. Corwin She are set out under the section headed
“Biographical Details of Directors and Senior Management”.

According to the requirements of Rule 3.29 of the Listing Rules,
Mr. Corwin She had taken no less than 15 hours of relevant
professional training for FY2021/22.

Dividend Policy

In considering the payment of dividends, there shall be a balance
between retaining adequate reserves for the Group’s future growth
and rewarding the Shareholders.

The Board shall also take into account, among other things, the
following factors when considering the declaration and payment of
dividends:

-  the Group’s overall results of operation, financial condition,
expected working capital requirements and capital expenditure
requirements, liquidity position and future expansions plans;

- the amount of retained profits and distributable reserves of the
Company;

- general economic conditions, business cycle of the Group’s
business and other internal or external factors that may have
an impact on the business or financial performance and
position of the Group; and

- any other factors that the Board deems relevant.
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Dividend POIicy (Continued)

The declaration and payment of dividends by the Company is
subject to any restrictions under the Companies Law of the Cayman
Islands, the Company’s memorandum and Articles, the Listing
Rules and any other applicable laws and regulations.

The Company does not have any pre-determined dividend
distribution ratio. The Company’s dividend distribution record in the
past may not be used as a reference or basis to determine the level
of dividends that may be declared or paid by the Company in the
future.

The Dividend Policy shall in no way constitute a legally binding
commitment by the Group in respect of its future dividend and/or in
no way obligate the Group to declare a dividend at any time or from
time to time.

The Board will continually review the Dividend Policy and reserves
the right in its sole and absolute discretion to update, amend and
modify the Dividend Policy at any time.

Shareholders’ Rights

The general meetings of the Company provide an opportunity
for communication between the shareholders and the Board. An
annual general meeting of the Company shall be held in each year
and at the place as may be determined by the Board. Each general
meeting, other than an annual general meeting, shall be called an
extraordinary general meeting.

Shareholders to convene an extraordinary general
meeting

According to the Articles, extraordinary general meetings shall be
convened on the requisition of one or more Shareholders holding,
at the date of deposit of the requisition, not less than one tenth
of the paid up capital of the Company having the right of voting
at general meetings. Such requisition shall be made in writing to
the Board or the Company Secretary for the purpose of requiring
an extraordinary general meeting to be called by the Board for
the transaction of any business specified in such requisition. Such
meeting shall be held within 2 months after the deposit of such
requisition. If within 21 days of such deposit, the Board fails to
proceed to convene such meeting, the requisitionist(s) himself
(themselves) may do so in the same manner, and all reasonable
expenses incurred by the requisitionist(s) as a result of the failure
of the Board shall be reimbursed to the requisitionist(s) by the
Company.
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Shareholders’ Rights (continueq)

Putting enquiries by shareholders to the Board

Shareholders may send written enquiries to the Company for the
attention of the Company Secretary at the Company’s principal
place of business in Hong Kong. The relevant address is as follows:

Flat A3, 1st Floor, Phase 3
Kwun Tong Industrial Centre
448-458 Kwun Tong Road
Kwun Tong, Kowloon

Hong Kong

Procedures for putting forward proposals by
shareholders at shareholders’ meetings

Shareholders should follow the procedures set out in the sub-
section headed “Shareholders to convene an extraordinary general
meeting” above for putting forward proposals for discussion at
general meetings.

Voting by Poll

Pursuant to Rule 13.39(4) of the Listing Rules, any vote of
shareholders at a general meeting must be taken by poll except
where the chairman, in good faith, decides to allow a resolution
which relates purely to a procedural or administrative matter to be
voted on by a show of hands. As such, all the resolutions to be set
out in the notice of 2022 annual general meeting will be voted by
poll.

Investor Relations

The Company is committed to a policy of open and regular
communication and reasonable disclosure of information to its
Shareholders.

Information of the Company is disseminated to the Shareholders in
the following manner:

° Delivery of annual and interim results and reports to all
Shareholders;

° Publication of announcements on the annual and interim
results on the Stock Exchange’s website, and issue of other
announcements and Shareholders’ circulars in accordance
with the continuing disclosure obligations under the Listing
Rules; and
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Investor Relations continueq)

° General meetings of the Company is also an effective
communication channel between the Board and Shareholders.

Directors’ Responsibilities for the
Consolidated Financial Statements

The Board acknowledges its responsibility to prepare the
Company’s consolidated financial statements for each financial year
which give a true and fair view of financial position of the Group and
the Group’s financial performance and cash flows for that period. In
preparing the consolidated financial statements for FY2021/22, the
Board has selected suitable accounting policies and applied them
consistently; made judgments and estimates that are prudent, fair
and reasonable and prepared the accounts on a going concern
basis.

The Directors are responsible for taking all reasonable and
necessary steps to safeguard the assets of the Group and to
prevent and detect fraud and other irregularities.

The Directors, having made appropriate enquiries, consider that the
Group has adequate resources to continue in operational existence
for the foreseeable future and that, for this reason, it is appropriate
to adopt the going concern basis in preparing the consolidated
financial statements.

Risk Management and Internal Control

The Board acknowledges that it is responsible for monitoring the
risk management and internal control systems of the Group on
an ongoing basis and reviewing their effectiveness. Such systems
are designed to manage rather than eliminate the risk of failure to
achieve business objectives, and can only provide reasonable but
not absolute assurance against material misstatement or loss.

The Board, through the Audit Committee, conducted an annual
review of both design and implementation effectiveness of the
risk management and internal control systems of the Group
for FY2021/22, covering material controls, including financial,
operational and compliance controls, with a view to ensuring that
resources, staff qualifications and experience, training programmes
and budget of the Group’s accounting, internal audit and financial
reporting functions are adequate. In this respect, the Audit
Committee communicates any material issues to the Board.
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Risk Management and Internal Control
(Continued)

The Directors have reviewed the need for an internal audit function
and are of the view that in light of the size, nature and complexity
of the business of the Group, it would be more cost effective to
appoint external independent professionals to perform internal audit
function for the Group in order to meet its needs.

During FY2021/22, the Group appointed BT Corporate Governance
Limited (“‘BTCGL”) to:

o assist in identifying and assessing the risks of the Group
through a series of interviews; and

° independently perform internal control review and assess
effectiveness of the Group’s risk management and internal
control systems.

The results of the independent review and assessment were
reported to the Audit Committee and the Board. Moreover,
improvements in internal control and risk management measures
as recommended by BTCGL to enhance the risk management
and internal control systems of the Group and mitigate risks of
the Group were adopted by the Board. Based on the findings and
recommendations of BTCGL as well as the comments of the Audit
Committee, the Board considered the internal control and risk
management systems effective and adequate.

Enterprise Risk Management Framework

The Group established its enterprise risk management framework.
While the Board has the overall responsibility to ensure that sound
and effective internal controls are maintained, management is
responsible for designing and implementing an internal control
system to manage all kinds of risks faced by the Group.

Through the risk identification and assessment processes, risks
are identified, assessed, prioritized and allocated treatments. The
Group’s risk management framework follows the COSO Enterprise
Risk Management — Integrated Framework, which allows the Board
and management to manage the risks of the Group effectively. The
Board receives regular reports through the Audit Committee that
oversees risk management and internal audit functions.
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Enterprise Risk Management Framework
(Continued)

Principal Risks

For FY2021/22, the following principal risks of the Group were
identified and classified into strategic risks, operational risks,
financial risks and compliance risks.

Risk Areas

B kR

Principal Risks

FERR

Strategic Risks

TERBEEEEZLR @

TERRE

R-IE-— /R FE AEBED#
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[B 5~ B RS R N A AR R o

Risk of changing operational strategy due to adverse changes in the market conditions

R S [ e E TR F B 5| By A8 & RS B E) A
Operational Risks Fluctuations of purchase costs for raw materials
2ER R JRHFHER B8 B AR B

Financial Risks No significant risk identified

A1 7 [ e REREANER

Compliance Risks No significant risk identified

& R E R REREANER

Risk Control Mechanism

The Group adopts a “three-layer” corporate governance structure
with operational management and controls performed by operations
management, coupled with risk management monitoring carried out
by the finance team and independent internal audit outsourced to
and conducted by BTCGL. The Group maintains a risk register to
keep track of all identified major risks of the Group. The risk register
provides the Board, the Audit Committee, and management with a
profile of its major risks and records management’s actions taken to
mitigate the relevant risks. Each risk is evaluated at least annually
based on its likelihood of occurrence and potential impact upon
the Group. The risk register is updated by management as the risk
owners with addition of new risks and/or removal of existing risks,
if applicable, at least annually, after the annual risk evaluation has
been performed. This review process can ensure that the Group
proactively manages the risks faced by it in the sense that all risk
owners have access to the risk register and are aware of and alert
to those risks in their area of responsibility so that they can take
follow up actions in an efficient manner.
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Risk Control Mechanism (continueq)

The Group’s risk management activities are performed by
management on an ongoing process. The Company has adopted
risk management policy and procedures. The effectiveness of the
Group’s risk management framework will be evaluated at least
annually, and periodic management meeting is held to update the
progress of risk monitoring efforts. Management is committed
to ensure that risk management forms part of the daily business
operation processes in order to align risk management with
corporate goals in an effective manner.

The Company will continue to engage external independent
professionals to review the Group’s system of internal controls and
risk management annually to further enhance the Group’s internal
control and risk management systems as appropriate.

Handling and Dissemination of Inside
Information

The Company regulates the handling and dissemination of inside
information according to the “Guidelines on Disclosure of Inside
Information” published by the Securities and Future Commission
in June 2012 to ensure inside information remains confidential
until the disclosure of such information is appropriately approved,
and the dissemination of such information is efficiently and
consistently made. The Company regularly reminds the Directors
and employees about due compliance with all policies regarding
the inside information. Also, the Company keeps Directors, senior
management and employees appraised of the latest regulatory
updates. The Company shall prepare or update appropriate
guidelines or policies to ensure the compliance with regulatory
requirements.

Constitutional Documents

There is no change in the Company’s constitutional documents
during FY2021/22.
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Approach

The Company is committed to promoting transparency of the
Company’s operations and its impact on the environment and
society in which it operates, and also communicating with its
stakeholders. The results of the Environmental, Social and
Governance (“ESG”) review shown in this report demonstrate
the importance of environmental protection we place on top of
our business development target, and explain how we seek to
continually improve our ESG strategy in line with global standards.
This report also illustrates the focus of our resources utilized for our
core operations in order for the Company to become the leading
printing company for creating a highly efficient and balanced
business profile.

With both integrity and determination, we look at issues that may
have a reputational impact on, or that may pose a risk to, the Group
in the short-, medium- or long-term. Issues that are important to
our stakeholders, including but not limited to, our customers and
employees, as well as non-governmental organizations (‘“NGOs”),
are also crucial to us. We are positive in developing opportunities
with a focus on work ethics to ensure that the Group’s success in
business development is sustainable with the benefits to be passed
on to our employees, customers and the environment.

We see the integration of sustainability into our business strategy as
well as daily operations as a must to pursue our business model.
To deal with the ESG issues effectively, understanding of, and
interaction with, our employees, customers and other stakeholders
are of the highest priority. We believe that effective management
of ESG issues is important to our long-term success in a rapidly
changing world. With thorough understanding of the ESG risks
and opportunities, the Group will be better positioned in allocating
its resources to reduce and recycle different kinds of wastes, and
responding to the increasing demand for higher standards of waste
treatment by regulators. Thus, with all the aforementioned factors,
the Group expects itself to face greater challenges. In addition,
we believe that our expertise, capabilities, and ownership model
can form part of the solutions to some of the challenges that
organizations around the world are already facing. We are confident
that as part of the business decision-making process, by involving
all relevant stakeholders in the ESG management process, we
will be able to better monitor the ESG issues, and the long-term
success of the Group will be assured.
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report

Approach continueq)

Finally, our sustainability strategy in the following aspects applies to
all the work streams:

1. To promote environmental sustainability;
2. To attract, retain and support employees;
3. To engage with stakeholders;

4.  To sustain local communities;

5.  To strengthen community relations; and

6. To grow suppliers’ commitment.

About this report

Report Profile

This ESG report (“Report”) focuses on the Group’s main operations
in Hong Kong, the mainland China (“PRC”) and Malaysia, for
the financial year ended 31 March 2022 (“Reporting Period”).
It describes the Group’s progress on its way towards creating
sustainable value for its shareholders and other stakeholders.
During the process of preparing this Report, we have conducted
thorough review and evaluation of the existing ESG practices of the
Group with the aim of achieving better performance results in the
future.

Report Scope and Boundary

This Report contains information that is material to understand the
Group’s ESG practices and performance in its daily operations.
Unless otherwise specified, the environmental disclosure in
the Report covers business in Hong Kong and the PRC. As
the production volume in Malaysia is less than 5% of the total
production volume of the Group, it is regarded as immaterial
and hence the environmental data of the Malaysia office is not
disclosed in the Report. The social disclosure in the Report covers
all locations of the operating entities of the Group, which included
Hong Kong, the PRC and Malaysia.

This Report is prepared in accordance with the Stock Exchange’s
ESG Reporting Guide as set out in Appendix 27 to the Rules
Governing the Listing Securities on The Stock Exchange of Hong
Kong Limited (the “Listing Rules”).
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About this report (Continued)

Report Scope and Boundary (continuea)

The ESG Report complies with all provisions of “mandatory
disclosure” or “comply or explain”, as well as the principles of
materiality, quantitative, balance and consistency. In preparing the
Report, we have adopted the international standards and emission
factors specified in the guidance materials on ESG issued by The
Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited for computing the relevant
Key Performance Indicators (“KPIs”), and there is no change in
the way the Report has been prepared from previous year, unless
otherwise stated. The application of materiality is detailed in the
subsection headed “ESG Management — Materiality Assessment”.

Should you wish to provide comments or recommend
improvements on our ESG reporting, please reach us through our
feedback hotline (telephone no. at (852) 2319 7121). Although
there were no specific programs to engage stakeholders outside
the Group when this Report was being prepared, we have included
the key issues which are of different stakeholder groups’ concerns,
based on our continual communication with them. Alternatively,
you are also welcome to send your comments and suggestions
regarding our ESG performance to our Company Secretary and
Chief Financial Officer, Mr. Corwin She, by mail.

ESG Management

Statement of the board

As a responsible corporate citizen, the Group acknowledges
that prudent environmental and societal management is of
great importance to sustainable economic growth. The Report
summarizes the strategy, practice and vision of the Group in
respect of issues related to ESG, and conveys the Group’s devotion
for sustainability. To address the global concern about climate
change, the Group has also considered the climate-related issues
and incorporated them into the Report. All potential and actual risks
that may have impact on the Group’s businesses will be covered
and evaluated in the annual enterprise risk assessment.
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ESG Management (continveq)

Statement of the board (continvea)

The Group has established a governance structure to enhance its
management of ESG issues. The Board has an overall responsibility
for overseeing the Group’s ESG-related risks and opportunities,
establishing and adopting the ESG-related strategies and targets
of the Group, reviewing the Group’s performance annually against
the targets, and revising the strategies as appropriate if significant
variance from the target is identified. In order to exert governance
over the ESG issues, the Group has set up an ESG Working Group
that comprises of members from middle to senior management
and it serves as a supportive role to the Board in implementing
the ESG-related strategies and targets, conducting materiality
assessments of ESG issues and prioritise them, and promote the
implementation of respective measures. Under the authority of the
Board, the ESG Working Group assists in collecting ESG data from
respective functional department, monitoring the implementation of
the measures, and investigation of deviation from the targets, and
liaises with the respective functional department to take prompt
rectification actions. The ESG Working Group reports to the Board
about the ESG performance of the Group and the effectiveness of
the ESG management system on a semi-annual basis.

The Board will continue to review the progress based on the

set goals and targets, and improve the Group’s sustainable
development.

Governance structure

Board

ESG Working Group

s weREaTre [KELE
ERRE -

Functional Department
BiReErrg

This ESG Report was approved by the Board of the Company on
19 August 2022. For details of the corporate governance of the
Company, please refer to the “Corporate Governance Report” on
pages 23 to 41 of the annual report of the Company for the year
ended 31 March 2022.
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e The Board is responsible for the overall decision-making, oversees the
formulation, administration, and assessment of the ESG system.
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e The ESG Working Group is responsible for assisting the Board in managing
and monitoring the ESG matters on a daily basis.
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Functional department is responsible for the execution of implemented
measures to achieve the set strategies and targets.
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Our Stakeholders

The Group is actively looking for every opportunity to understand
and engage our stakeholders to ensure that improvement of our
products and services can be implemented. We strongly believe
that our stakeholders play a crucial role in sustaining the success of

our business.

HKEXx Compliance with listing rules, timely and
accurate announcements.

BEERFR BF EHRAL REERER A S

Government Compliance with laws and regulations,
preventing tax evasion, and social welfare.

B BEREEER BRBAREEEEN-

Suppliers Payment schedule, stable demand.

ftrERS NHRE - BEF K-

Investors Corporate governance system, business
strategies and performance, investment
returns.

RE#E PEEBRR EBKEBLARR KREMD
ﬁ o

Media & Public Corporate governance, environmental
protection, human rights.

HREEAR hEER RE A

Customers Product quality, service delivery schedule,
reasonable prices, service value, personal
data protection.

BF EmEE RBEXIMNTE 5B ES R
BEE  EAERRE-

Employees Rights and benefits, employee
compensation, training and development,
work hours, working environment, labour
protection and work safety.

== N KRR EE M EA MR T
ER R TIERIE BT RERIEL R -

Community Community environment, employment and
community development, social welfare.

HE HERE EREIIEER @@ -
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Meetings, training, workshops, programs,
website updates and announcements.
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Interaction and visits, government
inspections, tax returns and other
information.

BEFHRER BARE  REREEMER -
Site visits.
BIBLH -

Seminars, interviews, shareholders’ meetings,
financial reports or operation reports for
investors, media and analysts.
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Newsletters on the Company’s web site.
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Site visits, after-sales services.

BR528 E&RE-

Team building activities, training, interviews
with employees, internal memos, employees’
suggestion boxes.

ExgEREE F5J BEER
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Community activities, employee voluntary
activities and community welfare subsidies
and donations.
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Materiality Assessment

The material ESG issues are considered as those which have or

may have a significant impact on:

o the various branches of the Group in Hong Kong, the PRC

and Malaysia;

° current and future environment and/or society;

° our financial and/or operational performance; and
o our stakeholders’ assessments, decisions and actions. o

The Board and management had identified ESG issue that have
potential or actual impact on its sustainable development from
various sources, such as issues identified in previous ESG report,
internal policies, industry trends and the Sustainability Accounting
Standards Board’s Materiality Map. The ESG issues have been
analyzed with reference to an array of factors, including the Group’s
overall strategy, development, and goals and targets. The Group
has conducted a materiality assessment to rate the identified ESG
issues that are pertinent to its business and stakeholders, and their
respective level of impact. The result of materiality assessment on
the identified material ESG issues are summarized as follows:

Environmental, Social and Governance Report
RIE g RERSME

BB

Tﬂ/'\/_\—_l .
o ERRRRBRER/RHE:
o BRMMBMBE/REERR K

FiDENFGE RRRTH-

HEREAEH"
ERmERHAINER W%Mﬁ%
ﬁ_ AROKEBEGFERE

hﬁ,ﬁgﬁﬁ/$ﬂﬂ%%—
ﬁ?ﬁﬁﬁﬁ'@%ﬁ%ﬁ%%
ERUANBERER
’|“}E§”71E’DAE”?TEEEEE@E%%&HT

REEMBZUFGHERYRIT

Environmental, Social and Governance Issues
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Vital

Emissions

Use of Resources
Employment
Labour Standards
Health and Safety
Anti-corruption

Essential

Supply Chain Management
Climate Change
Development and Training

Important

Community Investment
The Environment and Natural Resources
Product Responsibility
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Environmental

Overview

We understand that a healthy environment is the foundation for
economic progress and well-being of the society. Thus, our priority
is to protect the environment and minimize adverse impact on the
environment.

The Group has established a set of management policies and
measures regarding environmental protection to help ensure
sustainable development and efficient operations of the Group. The
Group strives to enhance the efficiency in the use of energy, water
and materials, and also to comply with relevant local environmental
regulations and international general practices, with an aim to
reduce the use of natural resources and protect the environment.

We aim at striking a balance between sustainable corporate
development and environmental protection, and thus, we closely
monitor greenhouse gas emissions and resources consumption
rates to minimize our impact on the environment and natural
resources.

Compliance and Grievance

As far as the Group is concerned, there were no reported non-
compliance incidents or grievances noted by the Group in relation
to environmental aspects during the Reporting Period.

Emissions

The Group has established the “Environmental Protection and Use
of Resources Policy & Procedures” by which we pay full attention
to environmental protection standards and guidelines to help fulffil
our commitment to environmental protection and efficient use of
resources.

The Group has implemented a number of internal environmental
protection measures, with appropriate equipment installed to help
reduce the adverse impact brought to the environment. At the
same time, we are committed to achieving environmental protection
and energy conservation by cooperating with other environmental
protection units and by promoting them to the public. To uphold
the principles of sustainable development, the Group is committed
to reducing or maintaining the greenhouse gas emission intensity
between 90% to 120% of the level of baseline year ended 31
March 2022 in the next reporting year.
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Environmental continueq)

Emissions (continuea)

In order to achieve the above objectives, we have adopted the
following working principles:

° To comply with the regulations.

The Group ensures that internal guidelines and procedures
are in place for all its business operations to follow in order to
comply with the relevant laws and regulations in Hong Kong
and the PRC.

o To prevent pollution.

The Group does its best to avoid, reduce and control
environmental pollution caused by its daily operations.

° To reduce the wastes.

While there is no wastewater discharge from its operations in
the PRC, the Group has installed an automatic wastewater
treatment system to ensure that any effluent discharged to the
drainage complies with the relevant regulatory requirements
in Hong Kong. The Group also engages external agencies to
perform waste discharge testing annually to ensure that the
pH value of the discharge fulfils the environmental protection
standard set by the government.

In addition, the Group closely cooperates with qualified
environmental recyclers to recycle solid wastes produced
during the production process in Hong Kong (including,
but not limited to, waste paper, waste zinc, waste plastic
materials, etc.).

o To reduce consumption of resources.

In an attempt to cut down our GHG emissions, we have
implemented a range of green practices in our daily
operations, aiming to limit the consumption of electricity and
paper at our workplace. Reminders have been posted next to
switches, in order to encourage our employees to switch off
all idle electronic appliances when they are not in use, as well
as before they leave the office.
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Environmental continueq)

Emissions (continued)

° To reduce consumption of resources. (Continued)

The Group aims at implementing convenient and cost-
effective waste management; and upholding sustainable
development by reducing consumption of resources, reducing
manufacturing waste, as well as reusing and recycling of
reusable wastes.

e  To improve the Group’s performance.

Based on the changes in internal and external factors,
management reviews the objectives relating to environmental
protection, use of resources, and sustainable development
and operations of the Group in order to continuously improve
the Group’s performance.

Besides, the Group has obtained a Discharge Licence (Licence
No. WT00032965-2018) which is valid until 31 January 2024
in relation to the Water Pollution Control Ordinance (Cap.
358). The Group has also been granted with the Registration
of Waste Producer (Producer No.: 3422-295-1.2857-02) under
the Waste Disposal (Chemical Waste) (General) Regulation
(Cap. 354C).

For details regarding emissions during the Reporting Period,
please refer to the section of “Key Performance Indicators — A.
Environmental — Emission Indicators KPI A1.1 & KPI A1.2”.

Total Hazardous Wastes and Non-Hazardous Wastes
& Results Achieved by Mitigating Emissions

Hazardous and non-hazardous wastes are generated during the
course of our production and daily operations.

Hazardous wastes include, but are not limited to, chemical
wastewater, cloths stained with chemicals, wasted zinc, photograph
potions, Isopropyl alcohol (IPA) and polyvinyl chloride (PVC). Non-
hazardous wastes include, but are not limited to, paper, foam
board, synthesized paper, lightbox film, canvas and sticker.
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report

Environmental continueq)

Total Hazardous Wastes and Non-Hazardous Wastes
& Results Achieved by Mitigating Emissions (continued)

During the Reporting Period, we complied with all relevant laws and
regulations that have a significant impact on our business, including,
but not limited to, Waste Disposal Ordinance of Hong Kong and
Prevention and Control of Environmental Pollution by Solid Waste of
the PRC.

In order to mitigate the emission of wastes, the Group has
configured the wastewater recycling system and has engaged
qualified recyclers to recycle wastes. Wastes being recycled include
chemical wastewater, wasted zinc, photograph potions and paper.

To advocate waste reduction within our workplace, we have
encouraged our employees to adopt double-sided printing, with
single-side-printed paper being collected for reuse. A paperless
work environment has also been promoted by encouraging
employees to switch from printed documents to electronic
documents.

To uphold the principles of sustainable development, the Group is
committed to reducing or maintaining both the hazardous waste
and non-hazardous waste intensity between 90% to 120% of the
level of baseline year ended 31 March 2022 in the next reporting
year.

For details regarding the production of wastes during the Reporting
Period, please refer to the section of “Key Performance Indicators
— A. Environmental — Hazardous Waste Indicators KPI A1.3 & Non-
hazardous Waste Indicators KPI A1.4”.

Use of Resources

The Group has established the “Environmental Protection and Use
of Resources Policy & Procedures” to ensure that the concept of
environmental sustainability is integrated into every part of our daily
business operations by complying with all environmental protection
policies, practices and initiatives.
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Environmental continueq)

Use of Resources (continued)

The Group complies with the policies in the efficient use of
resources, including energy, water and raw materials. To uphold the
principles of sustainable development, the Group is committed to
reducing or maintaining the electricity and water intensity between
90% to 120% of the level of baseline year ended 31 March 2022
in the next reporting year. The measure that reduces the use of
resources, including electricity and water, displayed in the “Direct/
Indirect Usage of Electricity/Water and Raw Materials” session.

It is very important for the Group to monitor water quality and air
quality, and strengthen the investigation, assessment and reporting
processes and procedures as for the impact of our production on
the ecosystem in order to prevent any environmental accidents from
happening.

The Environment and Natural Resources

The Group has established a comprehensive environment pollution
prevention and control system, adopted measures against solid
waste to prevent environmental pollution and clarify management
responsibility.

As a paper printing and banner printing service provider, there
is no significant consumption of natural resources and therefore
the Group’s activities do not have any significant impact on the
environment. Notwithstanding, the Group strives to enhance
environmental sustainability and environmental awareness among
its employees.

In addition to the measures implemented to reduce the use of
resources and disposal of waste (see sections headed “Total
Hazardous Wastes and Non-Hazardous Wastes & Results Achieved
by Mitigating Emissions” above), the Group has taken actions to
manage its activities and minimise its impact on the environment
and natural resources, such as implementing applicable systems
and policies to monitor use of natural resources and circulating
notices regarding how to save energy and resources.

In addition, we will continue to assess the environmental risks of our
business, review the environmental practices and adopt preventive
measures as necessary to reduce the risks and ensure compliance
with relevant laws and regulations to the Group’s emissions and the
use of resources.
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report

Environmental continueq)

Direct/Indirect Usage of Electricity/Water and Raw
Materials

The practices that reduce the use of resources include:

Electricity:

Support the “Indoor Temperature Savings Charter” program
to maintain the average indoor temperature from 24 to 26
degrees Celsius.

Use compact fluorescent lamps, T5, T8 light tubes or LED
lights.

Turn off the electrical appliances e.g. air conditioners, lights,
and computers, etc., when they are not in use e.g. during
non-office hours, and lunch time.

Turn off lights and air conditioners in the office/production
plant when members of staff are not in the office/production
plant e.g. Saturday afternoon.

Ensure that all lights, air conditioners and electrical appliances
that are not in use are turned off properly when the last
colleague leaves the office/production plant.

Water:

Report matters related to water dripping to the Administration
Department for follow-up.

Turn off the water source after use, even though there is no
difficulty in sourcing water.

Use recycled water instead of running water for rinsing zinc
plates.

Install refilters in printing machines to recycle water.

Configure a wastewater treatment system which helps to
dilute the wastewater produced during the pre-press stage
of production to ensure that the pH value of the wastewater
meets the required standard before the wastewater is
discharged.
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Environmental continueq)

Direct/Indirect Usage of Electricity/Water and Raw
Materials (continueq)

Raw materials:
° Use non-alcoholic printing to reduce air pollution.

° Use environmental-friendly paper during each production
process.

° Provide FSC (Forest Certification) paper as one of the choices
which the customers can choose from.

° Clean regularly the parts of the production machine
contaminated with color ink to reduce cases of reprint.

° If some parts can still be reused after they have been taken
out from the machine, they will be reserved as spare parts.

° Use kraft paper instead of carton packaging for some of the
packaging.

° Encourage customers to bring their own shopping bags
(BYOB).

° Use the printing ink in the production process that is made of
soybeans.

° Hand over most of the wastes produced in the production
process to the qualified recyclers for recycling.

For details regarding the consumption of energy and water
during the Reporting Period, please refer to the section of “Key
Performance Indicators — A. Environment — Energy and Water
Consumption Indicators KPI A2.1 & KPI A2.2”

Packaging materials used for finished products

To reduce the carbon footprint and contribute to saving the planet,
the Group encourages our customers to minimize the use of plastic
bags. We suggest our customers to bring their own shopping bags.
Besides, the majority of the packaging materials used by the Group
are recyclable and biodegradable.

For details regarding the consumption of packaging materials
during the Reporting Period, please refer to the section of “Key
Performance Indicators — A. Environment — Packaging Materials
Indicators KPI A2.5”.
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report

Environmental continueq)

Climate Change

The Group has considered the potential climate-related risks and
opportunities in respect of the recommendations of the Task Force
on Climate-related Financial Disclosures, in which potential physical
risk and transition risk from climate change may pose adverse
financial impacts on the Group’s businesses. Acute physical risk can
arise from extreme weather conditions such as flooding and storms
and chronic physical risk can arise from sustained high temperature,
while transition risk may result from the change in environmental-
related regulations or change in customer preferences, and the
potential climate-related risks are summarized as below:
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Environmental continueq)

Climate Change (continueq)

Risk Type
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report

Social

Workplace

The key to our success depends on the well-organized team of
qualified and experienced talents. We focus on assisting our staff
to achieve their career goals and self-development. We provide
training through seminars and forums, and encourage our staff to
grow with the Group together.

The Group’s Team Profile

As at 31 March 2022, we had 289 employees in total. For the
statistics related to our employment structure and employee
turnover rate as at the year ended 31 March 2022 and 31 March
2021, please refer to the section of “Key Performance Indicators —
B. Social - Employment Indicators — KPI B1.1 & KPI B1.2”.

The Group maintains an Employees’ Handbook which stipulates
the policies of recruitment, dismissal, promotion, remuneration
and benefits of employees. Every employee gets a copy of the
Employees’ Handbook to make sure that they are aware of their
rights and responsibilities. All new employees have an employment
contract signed with the Group, setting out the rights and
responsibilities of both parties in order to safeguard the interests of
both parties.

Besides, “Human Resources Operation Procedures” has been
established by the Human Resources Department as the guidelines
in relation to monitoring of human resources of the Group. The
“Human Resources Operation Procedures” helps management
to comply with labour laws and relevant regulations that have a
significant impact on the Group’s internal procedures relating to
recruitment and promotion, working hours, and holidays, etc. For
example, employees should normally work for 8-9 hours per day
and they can apply for overtime claims or compensation leave,
subject to the approval of department supervisors.
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SOCiaI (Continued)

The Group’s Team Profile continueq)

Moreover, employees are entitled to have annual leave according
to their grades and the departments which they belong to. For
instance, staff at officer grade and managerial grade are entitled
to have 11 days and 14 days of annual leave respectively in their
first year of employment. Furthermore, all our employees are
entitled to 5 days of marriage leave and 2 days of compassionate
leave for their close family members i.e. parents/children/spouse/
grandparents.

In addition, the Group strictly complies with all relevant laws and
regulations that have a significant impact on its business, including
but not limited to the following:

1. The Group is in compliance with the local laws and
regulations, such as enforcing the terms of employment under
the Employment Ordinance (Chapter 57) of Hong Kong as for
recruitment, and provision of reasonable working conditions.

2. The Group provides MPF benefits to our staff in accordance
with the Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes Ordinance.

3. In determining the remuneration of employees, the Group

”

complies with the “Minimum Wage Ordinance” (Chapter 608).

4.  For both recruitment and dismissal, the Group prohibits
practice of discrimination by complying with the Sex
Discrimination Ordinance (Chapter 480), the Disability
Discrimination Ordinance (Chapter 481) and Race
Discrimination Ordinance (Chapter 602).

5. The Group follows the “Employees’ Compensation Ordinance”
(Chapter 282) in regard to the work injury of employees.
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report

SOCiaI (Continued)

Protecting Health and Safety

We focus on providing a safe and enjoyable working environment
for all of our employees.

During the Reporting Period, we complied with all relevant laws
and regulations regarding industrial health and safety, such as
Factories and Industrial Undertaking Ordinance (Chapter 59) and
Occupational Safety and Health Ordinance (Chapter 509) of Hong
Kong. In the case that an employee encounters an industrial
accident, the Group will take all necessary measures to ensure that
adequate compensation is granted to the employee concerned
in accordance with the requirements stipulated in the Employees’
Compensation Ordinance.

We signed a “Health and Safety Policy” statement in 2013 to
emphasize that occupational safety is the first priority of our Group.
In this respect, we encourage our employees to attend relevant
trainings and we provide sufficient guidance and supervision to the
employees.

During the Reporting Period, we organized a first aid training to
our production staff in Hong Kong Office, regarding how to handle
when the patient with heatstroke. In addition, during the Reporting
Period, we arranged a safety training session for our production
staff in Hong Kong, covering safety measures in lifting heavy items.

The Group has also established “Internal Safety Rules” and “Safety
and Health Management Policies and Procedures” to standardize
the occupational safety procedures of various departments of
the Group, with an aim to protect employees from occupational
hazards.

Furthermore, a Safety Committee has been established to
meet regularly and supervise the occupational safety of various
departments, as well as coordinate and implement training on
occupational safety for the employees.

In the midst of the COVID-19, the Group has implemented all
practicable preventive and protective measures to minimize
occupational risk, including but not limited to encouraging the
employees to wear surgical mask and remain social distancing,
when necessary, and provision of sanitizers. The Group will pay
close attention to the latest development and regularly reviews the
measures implemented to ensure the measures are effective.
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SOCiaI (Continued)

Protecting Health and Safety (continueq)

For the number of work-related fatalities and lost days due to
work injury during the Reporting Period, please refer to the section
of “Key Performance Indicators — B. Social — Health and Safety
Indicators — KPI B2.1 & KPI B2.2”.

Development and Training

We believe that our staff members are the valuable assets of the
organization. By investing in our employees, we improve the service
quality of the Group. We also believe that by organizing training
through seminars and forums for our employees, job satisfaction
would be promoted and staff motivation would be increased,
thereby lowering staff turnover rate.

Training is arranged for new employees during the probation with
regard to the skills required for that particular position. For example,
the Customer Service Department conveys the knowledge about
product specifications, technology for production, work flows of
order placement, and customer service technique, etc. to the
responsible staff. Before the end of the probation, management
assesses the performance of the new employees in order to
ensure that the new employees are equipped with the required
job knowledge and skills. The assessment criteria include, but not
limited to, sense of responsibility, interpersonal skills and work
attitude, etc.

We also encourage our employees to enhance their knowledge
and skills through pursuing continual education. Employees who
have been employed for over one year are entitled to “Continuing
Education Assistance” if they enroll on courses which are relevant
to their jobs. In order to increase flexibility, there is no pre-defined
list for restricting the courses to be chosen, and so, our employees
can select the most suitable courses by themselves.

For the percentage of employees trained and average training
hours completed per employee during the Reporting Period, please
refer to the section of “Key Performance Indicators — B. Social —
Development and Training Indicators — KPI B3.1 & KPI B3.2”.
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SOCiaI (Continued)

Zero Tolerance

During the Reporting Period, the Group complied with all relevant
laws and regulations that have a significant impact on the Company
relating to preventing child and forced labour.

The Group has established an “Anti-discrimination Policy” to
ensure that all our employees understand that harassment and
discrimination are not tolerated. The Group is committed to
providing a fair working environment where all employees are
treated equally. All employees are assessed based on their ability,
performance and contribution, irrespective of their nationality, race,
religion, gender, age or family status.

The Group has adopted the following three measures to avoid
recruiting child labour and forced labour during the recruitment
process:

A. During the recruitment process, the recruitment
advertisements set out the job responsibilities for candidates’
reference in order to avoid potential misunderstanding and
disputes arising from the requirements of the job duties. In
addition, the Group generally does not select any persons
aged 16 or below during the stage of shortlisting candidates.

B. Candidates are required to fill in a job application form before
the interview and provide identity documents to ensure that
the candidates can be legally employed in Hong Kong.

C. At the time of appointment, the Group enters into an
employment contract with the new employee, prescribing
the terms of the employment, including basic salary, working
hours, days of annual leave, overtime allowance, meal
allowance, etc., for preventing future disputes over the
employment terms.
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SOCiaI (Continued)

Zero Tolerance (continued)

According to the Employees’ Handbook issued by the Group,
employees who are in breach of rules, or commit serious dereliction
of duty, malpractice or criminal offence would be immediately
dismissed. In addition, according to the “Human Resources
Operations Procedures” issued by the Human Resources
Department, the following steps would be taken against the
employees who are dismissed:

A. The department manager or the Human Resources
Department informs the employee directly of the dismissal,
explains the reasons for the dismissal, and completes the
“Employee Termination Form”;

B. Before an employee leaves the Group, the Human Resources
Department collects the items which are the Group’s assets,
such as mobile phone, laptop, business cards, chops, and
locker key, etc.; and

C. Arrangement of the last salary payment to the employee within
one week after termination of the employment.

Complaints

The “Human Resources Operations Procedures” issued by the
Human Resources Department of the Group stipulates that the
Group provides employees with a number of channels of lodging
complaints. For example, when a staff member encounters any
unreasonable treatment, he/she can report it to the department
head and Human Resources Department of the Group.

Cultural Activities

In order to promote work-life balance for our staff, various kinds
of recreational activities are provided. For example, the Group
has formed a basketball team and a football team. Sports training
sessions are provided to increase the bonding among employees.
However, during the Reporting Period, the Group had organized
fewer activities due to the COVID-19 pandemic and public health
concerns. The Group will explore opportunities and organize
relevant activities in the future after the COVID-19 situation are
improved and restrictions are lifted.
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SOCiaI (Continued)

Cultural Activities (continuea)

Education

We believe that education is the most effective means of
propagating and sustaining community investments. During the
Reporting Period, the Group made printing sponsorship to different
charitable organizations regarding children education, such as
Playright Children’s Play Association, Intergeneration Foundation,
etc.

Labour demand

We deeply understand the importance of giving back to the society.
Internship and full-time employment opportunities are offered to
university students, such that they can gain hands-on experience in
the printing industry.

Aiming for More Suppliers Complying with our Code
of Conduct

We stress the importance of minimizing the environmental
impact caused by our production. For instance, we adopt
green procurement practices by using printing ink that is made
of soybeans in our production. As compared to the traditional
Petroleum-based ink, soy-based ink is more environmentally friendly
and makes paper easier for recycle.

Moreover, we continuously monitor the performance of our supply
chain so as to ensure the quality of products provided to our
customers. We have set criteria for assessing suppliers such as
price, quality, relationship, stability on goods supply, delivery time,
and payment terms, etc. Only suppliers with satisfactory results in
the initial assessment will be added to our list of approved suppliers
and engaged in our business operations. Suppliers who take the
environmental and social concerns into account of their production
would be more favorable to be accepted as approved suppliers.
On top of that, the Group also conducts annual assessment of
the approved suppliers to ensure that the products or services are
of consistent quality and up to the Group’s required standards.
Suppliers with unsatisfactory results in the annual assessment will
be eliminated from our list of approved suppliers. For the number of
our suppliers by geographical region during the Reporting Period,
please refer to the section “Key Performance Indicators — B. Social
— Supply Chain Management Indicators — KPI B5.1”,
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SOCiaI (Continued)

Aiming for More Suppliers Complying with our Code
of Conduct (continuea)

Every year, the Purchasing Department assesses the primary
suppliers of raw materials by filing in an evaluation report. The
assessment criteria include, but not limited to, incidents of goods
return, price fluctuation, delivery time, company background, and
stability of goods supply, etc. Besides, the Group maintains an
approved vendor list to include all qualified suppliers. For each
procurement order, the Group selects the suppliers from the
approved vendor list and requests two to three suppliers for price
quotations.

In addition, the Group requires the suppliers to declare if there
is any close personal or business relationship with the Group’s
directors, employees or agents. If any suppliers and contractors
are found guilty in breaching any legal requirements, the Group has
the right to terminate all outstanding contracts with the relevant
suppliers or contractors immediately, while the relevant supplier
or contractor is not able to recover any compensation or claim for
loss.

Product Responsibility

During the Reporting Period, the Group strictly complied with
laws and regulations in regard to product responsibility in Hong
Kong, Malaysia and the PRC that have a significant impact on
our business, including, but not limited to, Copyright Ordinance
(Chapter 528) of Hong Kong; Trademark Law of the PRC, Copyright
Law of the PRC and Rules of Protection on Information Network
Dissemination Rights of the PRC; and Consumer Protection Act
1999 of Malaysia.

We have established procedures in relation to monitoring and
protection of intellectual property rights.

For the orders placed by the customers at the retail shops or the
self-service platform or through the customer service hotline, the
Customer Service Department is responsible for checking the files
against infringement of intellectual property rights or any other
issues.
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SOCiaI (Continued)

Product Responsibility (continuea)

If the file to be printed is suspected of possible infringement of
intellectual property rights, the Group would not start printing unless
the customer can provide the authorization proof of the intellectual
property for verification. In case the customer fails to provide such
authorization/proof, the Group has the right to reject the order.

Moreover, the Group reserves the rights to any claims or litigation
in respect of infringement of intellectual property rights arising from
printing of documents provided by the customers.

In order to safeguard product safety, the printing ink used in the
production process is made of non-hazardous substance such
as soybean, and vegetable oil, and therefore, is free from toxic
chemicals like lead. Test reports which list out the composition
of the ingredients of printing ink are obtained from the ink
manufacturers for our reference. The test reports show that no
hazardous components are contained in the printing ink.

If customers are not satisfied with the quality of the products
delivered, the staff of the retail shops have to conduct preliminary
assessment, and will pass the products to the Quality Control
Department for further checking, if necessary.

The Group has followed “Complaint Handling Procedures” to handle
complaints from customers. Our Customer Service Department is
responsible for handling complaints from our customers, and that
all complaints received will be recorded in writing and submitted
to senior staff for reviews and follow-up recommendations. All
documents and reports will be properly kept and we aim to resolve
all complaints, including those involving malpractices or alleged
negligence. A follow-up response will also be communicated to the
relevant customer when the complaint is duly handled and resolved.

If reprinting, discount or refund arises due to quality issue, the
retail shops would recall part of the products and send them to
the Quality Control Department for quality checking. A report
will then be prepared with information such as checking results,
the responsible department involved, and recommendations for
rectification, etc. clearly listed.

For the percentage of total products sold subject to recalls and
the number of products and service-related complaints received
during the Reporting Period, please refer to the section of “Key
Performance Indicators — B. Social — Product Responsibility
Indicators — KPI B6.1 & KPI B6.2”.
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SOCiaI (Continued)

Privacy Matters

Due to the business nature, the Group has to collect personal
information from customers such as customers’ names, addresses,
telephone numbers, etc.

Nevertheless, all the personal information collected by the Group
is strictly used in accordance with relevant data privacy laws and
regulations, including the “Personal Data (Privacy) Ordinance” of
Hong Kong and the “Personal Information Protection Law” of the
PRC.

The Group has also implemented several controls and measures
for protecting the personal data collected. For example, access
controls are in place in the workstations like server rooms, in order
to prevent unauthorized access to confidential information. Besides,
when the Group collects personal data via the Group’s website,
e.g. when customers place orders through self-service platform,
encryption technology is adopted to protect the personal data
from potential leakage. Firewall has also been set up in the Group’s
website to prevent unauthorized access and abuse by third parties.
According to the “Employee Handbook”, all employees are required
to protect the sensitive information and clients’ personal information
obtained when performing job duties. Information should not be
disclosed to any third parties unless and to the extent that it is
necessary to make such disclosure. If there is any leakage of the
Group’s confidential information, the Group may impose fines,
administrative penalties or pursue legal liabilities against the parties
concerned to protect the interests of the Group and its clients.

Anti-corruption

During the Reporting Period, the Group complied with all relevant
laws and regulations that have a significant impact on us, relating
to bribery, extortion, fraud and money laundering, including, but not
limited to, Criminal Law of the PRC, Anti-Money Laundering Law of
the PRC, the Prevention of Bribery Ordinance of Hong Kong and
the Malaysian Anti-Corruption Commission Act 2009.

As stated in our “Anti-fraud Policy”, employees should promptly
report any suspected fraud cases, whether they are aware of any
suspected persons or events. Employees may report the suspected
fraud cases to their immediate supervisor or the department
manager. The reports can be made verbally, e.g. telephone, or
formally in written form, e.g. letter/email. Full support from senior
management will be given to the employees reporting fraudulent
cases.
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SOCiaI (Continued)

Anti-corruption (continuea)

After the potential fraudulent cases have been reported,
investigation will be conducted with due care and the investigation
process will be kept confidential. For the proven fraud, management
will take corrective action immediately.

Furthermore, the Group has established a guideline on gift receipt
to make it clear for employees to prevent corruption and bribery.
Upon receipt of gift, an employee has to make declaration to the
Group within 3 working days.

During the Reporting Period, no corruption case was noted and/
or reported. In addition, the Group arranged an anti-corruption
training for the new employees. The Group will closely monitor the
regulatory development and will arrange relevant anti-corruption
trainings for our employees and directors, where necessary.

Whistle-blowing policy

The Group has set up a whistle-blowing policy to provide
guidance for employees to report their concerns of any suspected
misconduct, malpractice or irregularity within the Group.

In our workplace, in order to maintain a high standard of integrity
and impartiality, we encourage our employees to whistle-blow any
suspected corruption incidents and the whistle-blowers will remain
anonymous after the investigation report is issued.

Communication Channel

The Group has established internal staff complaint procedures to
ensure that proper channels are in place for employees to file their
complaints. If an employee would like to lodge a complaint, he/
she can report it directly to his/her department head. If he/she is
dissatisfied with the results, he/she can file complaints further to the
Human Resources Department.

Customer Service Department

The Group has established “Complaint Handling Procedures”
which stipulates the procedures for handling complaints received
from customers. Complaints received must be recorded in the
internal system and passed to senior staff or the Customer Service
Department for follow-up.
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SOCiaI (Continued)

Customer Service Department continued)

Under normal circumstances, the Group should reply to the
complainant within 3 working days. If more than 3 days of
investigation is required, the Group should at least make an interim
reply to the complainant. Furthermore, a final reply should be
made to the complainant within 7 days after the first interim reply.
However, in exceptional cases, if the investigation is still in progress,
the Group, should update the complainant about the investigation
status once a week.

In order to enhance the service quality of various departments, the
Customer Service Department reports the details of the complaint
to relevant departments for follow-up during the business review
meeting with the Marketing and Production Department.

Community Contribution

Our goal is to establish long-term relationships with organizations
that share the same philosophy as ours, and are willing to bring
social development to the community based on their mutual
assistance, respect and integrity.

During the Reporting Period, the Group had organized or
participated in fewer community and charity activities due to the
COVID-19 pandemic and public health concerns. The Group will
explore volunteer opportunities and organize relevant activities in
the future after the COVID-19 situation are improved and restrictions
are lifted.

Through cooperating with different organizations in the community,
employee voluntary services and donation, the Group is committed
to establishing positive impact in the following area:

Assistance to the disadvantaged groups:

We believe that everyone is equal. The spirit of mutual help
and mutual love is to make the society harmonious and help
develop the economy. We collect donations from employees
and business partners through various activities to help meet the
needs of the disadvantaged groups and improve the life quality
of the communities to which they belong. We also provide job
opportunities to the underprivileged groups.
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Community Contribution continuea)

Assistance to the disadvantaged groups: (Continued)

During the Reporting Period, 3 staff joined the BC360 eSport
Campaign (& i e R AM360%FE )& 8)) held by the Intergeneration
Foundation in November and December 2021, to support their
work and provide services for the community in Hong Kong.

Moreover, printing sponsorships were offered to various NGOs,
such as the Playright Children’s Play Association and SPCA Hong
Kong. The sponsorships support the community initiatives in
offering assistance to the disadvantaged group.

For details of the resources we have contributed to the community
during the Reporting Period, please refer to the section of “Key
Performance Indicators — B. Social — Community Investment
Indicators — KPI B8.2”.
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Key Performance Indicators
Part A. Environmental

Emission Indicators

- KPI A1.1 Source

BHiEE
-EREMIEEAL R

Emission Data from Vehicles

BERNHEREE
For the year
ended
31 March 2022
EES
—E-CF
=A=1-H
R
Kilometres travelled 142,654.4 km
[RERL N 142,654 43 8
Units of fuel
consumed

FTRESR B B AL
Petrol 12,625.1 L
b 12,625.17+
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F—MD BER

Emission Type

230 ki

For the year
ended

31 March 2021
EES
—E-—F
=A=1-H
HFE
107,260.0 km

107,260.02 &

Nitrogen Oxides
ala
Particulate Matter
BRmE
Sulphur Oxides
R a=k)

13,9493 L
13,949.37F

(in grams)

)
For the year For the year
ended ended
31 March 2022 31 March 2021
=ED D
—E-—F %
=A=+—H =A=1+—H
EFE EFE
27,7114.7 31,273.6
27,7114.7 31,273.6
2,454.0 2,866.4
2,454.0 2,866.4
185.6 205.1
185.6 205.1



Environmental, Social and Governance Report
R g kEREmE

Key Performance Indicators (continueq BARENER =
Part A. Environmental (continueq) E—BD RE @)

Emission Indicators

- KPI A1.2 Source Emission Type
HHEE
-RRENERAL2 R 235 bl
Total Greenhouse Gas (“GHG”) Emissions (in tonnes)
RERE (TRERBHRLEE (AMERT)
For the year For the year For the year For the year
ended ended ended ended
31 March 2022 31 March 2021 31 March 2022 31 March 2021
—E-CF —E-—F —E-CF —E-—F
—A=+-H —A=+-H —HA=+-H —A=+-H
LFE LEE LFE ILEE

Scope 1: Direct Emissions or Removals from Sources

BE ERHAAESREER

Scope 1b - GHG Units of fuel
Emissions from consumed
Mobile Combustion
Sources
HE-TERY FTFENNE B AL
BHBEHY
BEREHH
Petrol 12,625.1 L 13,949.3 L  Carbon Dioxide 33.58 37.77
i 12,625.1FF 13,949.3% &bk 33.58 37.77

Scope 2 - Energy Indirect Emissions

BE2-HFEREFH

Unit of Electricity
Consumed
P E R EN
Electricity 2,640,380.6 2,512,101.5  Carbon Dioxide 1,052.76 982.90
kWh kWh'
Bk 2,640,380.6 2512,1015 —&1bhx 1,052.76 982.90"
FRE TRE!
Total Amount of Carbon Dioxide Produced during the Reporting Period: 1,086.34 1,020.67"
REEHAEEN _ERAE: 1,086.34 1,020.67"
The intensity of Carbon Dioxide Produced during the Reporting Period (tonnes per employee): 4,012 3.41
REEHREEN_SLHREE (SHEEEH): 4,012 3.41

1 Reasonable assumption was made for incomplete records (i.e. using consumption average of other months).

! BEHT B ZEHELESERR (BEMAN 2 P EREE) -

2 The intensity of Carbon Dioxide Produced during the Reporting Period increased due to the exclusion of environmental disclosure of
Malaysia office from the scope of this Report.

2 RBERREAN —E(BEE L RABRATHEENRESETEMARNREHEDE -
2021/22% % eprint EEARAT 71



Environmental, Social and Governance Report

RIE e RERRE

Key Performance Indicators continueq

Part A. Environmental «continued)

Hazardous Waste Indicators - KPl A1.3

EEREVNES-BEBEARIERALS

BERERER )

F—Ho BRE®

Source

HR

ended ended
31 March 31 March
2022 2021
BH=E BH=
—E- = —E-—%F
EFEF—E ZE[H=ET—E
HFE LLFE
Total hazardous waste produced (in tonnes)
EXENEERERYAE (VAWEZT)
Chemical Wastewater 1,939.000° 1,106.500
£ I57K
Cloths Stained With Chemicals 3.273 2.727
EHEEMIF R
Wasted Zinc 111.195 99.410
& £
Photograph Potions 12.908 11.247
GEDSE- VN
Isopropyl Alcohol (IPA) 10.800 9.810
ERE
Polyvinyl Chloride (PVC) 5.219 3.624
s
s Due to replacement of printing machines in Hong Kong operations, chemical wastewater produced from the printing machines cannot be

recycled, resulting in an increase in chemical wastewater.
8 HREBEETRIRIE  EDRIMEEE ISR TEBEERER BB ISKIE M.
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Part A. Environmental «continueq)

Hazardous Waste Indicators - KPl A1.3

EEREVNES-BEAMERALS

Environmental, Social and Governance Report
RE e kEams

FERENEE»

F—Ho BRE®

Source

HR

Hazardous waste produced per tonne of product produced

LEBMERMELENEERERY

Chemical Wastewater

£ IF7K

Cloths Stained With Chemicals
2R ERRF LM
Wasted Zinc

& £

Photograph Potions
GEDSE- VN

Isopropyl Alcohol (IPA)
2Rl

Polyvinyl Chloride (PVC)
RRLE

For the year

For the year

ended ended
31 March 31 March
2022 2021
H= H=
—_E-— —E-—%F
=A=+—H8B =A=+—H
IEFE IEFE

(in tonnes/tonne produced)

(LAFTEE £ FOMBERGT)

0.612 0.372
0.001 0.001
0.035 0.033
0.004 0.004
0.003 0.003
0.001 0.001

2021/22% 5 eprint EEAR AT
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Key Performance Indicators (coniinueq BRENER =
Part A. Environmental (continued) EF—BD RE @

Non-hazardous Waste Indicators

- KPI A1.4 Source
BREBEVNER
-BERENIEFA14 HIR
For the For the
year ended year ended
31 March 31 March
2022 2021
S Bz
—EF-— —E-—%F
—A=+—8B =ZA=+—H
IEEE IEFE
Total non-hazardous waste produced (in tonnes)
EENEEREYEE (LAWEET)
Paper 529.322 509.822
S
Foam Board 15.986 12.929
FRIR
Synthesized Paper 6.593 6.448
B
Lightbox Film 0.313 0.306
BB IR
Canvas 0.1394 0.055
R
Sticker 15.707 12.886
B4
4 As the production of canvas has been shifted from outsourcing to own production in Hong Kong, the number of wastes generated from

canvas greatly increased.

4 HANTEEERIOEREITREBEE NWAMEENEEYHERBE M-
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Key Performance Indicators (continueq BARENER =
Part A. Environmental (continueq) E—BD RE @)

Non-hazardous Waste Indicators

- KPI A1.4 Source
BEBREVES
-BERENIEFRA14 R
For the For the
year ended year ended
31 March 31 March
2022 2021
B=E HE
— T —E-—F
—A=+—8B =ZA=+—H
IEFE LEFE
Non-hazardous waste produced per tonne of unit produced (in tonnes/tonne produced)
EESWMENMEENEETREY (LAFFEE 4 HOME SR ET)
Paper 0.167 0.172
#RoR
Foam Board 0.203 0.240
YRR
Synthesized Paper 0.2083 0.204
SRR
Lightbox Film 0.010 0.010
R AEE R
Canvas 0.126 0.031
i)
Sticker 0.208 0.217
ALK
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FERENEBE»

F—Ho BRE®

Key Performance Indicators continueq
Part A. Environmental «continued)

Packaging Material Indicators

- KPI A2.5

BEMBER
-B R EAMIERA2,5

Source Total Packaging Material used Packaging material per tonne
for Finished Products of product produced
HRIR HEmTAERMBEE BMERFEENEEME
(in tonnes) (in tonnes/tonne produced)
(LAWERT) (LAPTEE £ RO WA 8RET)
For the year For the year For the year For the year
ended ended ended ended
31 March 2022 31 March 2021 31 March 2022 31 March 2021
—E-= —=E-—F —=E-= —E-—F
=A=+—8H —A=+—H =A=+—H =A=+—8H
IEFE IEFE IEFE IEFE
Carton 1.10 0.82 0.0003 0.0003
HAE
Plastic Box 4.61 3.02 0.0013 0.0010
BRE
Kraft Paper 7.95 7.68 0.0023 0.0026
G AR
Paper Box 43.97 43.50 0.0126 0.0146
=
Transparent Wrap 4.89 4.40 0.0014 0.0015
FHEER
Sealing Tape 0.92 0.70 0.0003 0.0002
ek
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Key Performance Indicators (continueq BARENER =
Part A. Environmental (continueq) E—BD RE @)

Energy and Water Consumption

Indicators
- KPI A2.1 & KPI A2.2 Source
BERRHEEER
-ARENERA21R
HRENIEEA2.2 RIF
For the year ended For the year ended
31 March 2022 31 March 2021
e —— BE_T_—F
ZR=+—-HIEFE ZR=+—HILEE
Total Consumption
HHMEE
Electricity 2,640,381 kWh 2,512,102 kWh?®
B 2,640,381 F FLIF 2,512,102 F RLE®
Water 3,607 cubic metres 3,847 cubic metres®
K 38,6073 77 K 83,8473 77 K°
Consumption per unit produced
BEAMELENERE
Electricity 754.35 kWh per tonne 740.32 kWh per tonne®
-2 754.35F FL 05 i 740.32F I B B S
Water 1.08 cubic metres per tonne  1.13 cubic metres per tonne®
7k 1.033 5 K 1.133 73 KBS
5  Reasonable assumption was made for incomplete records (i.e. using consumption average of other months).

5 BB ZEHELEGERE (WAEMAN 2 FEREE) -
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Key Performance Indicators (coniinueq BRENER =

Part B. Social BoWo e
Employment Indicators - KPI B1.1 As at 31 March 2022 As at 31 March 2021
EREFE-FREENEEBA R-ZB-Z-f=ZA=+—-8 R=B=--=A=+-—H
Employment
&=
Total number of employees 289 299
EEAY
By gender
B 5
Male 182 188
B
Female 107 111
7
By age group
BFERED
Below 18 0 0
188K A T
18 to 25 21 33
18 % 255%
2610 35 92 105
26 %3551
36 to 45 69 64
36E455%
46 to 55 68 64
46ZE 5555
56 to 65 39 33
56 6575%
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Part B. Social (continued)

Employment Indicators — KPI B1.1

{E (B 15 2B B 48 BUI5EB1.1

Environmental, Social and Governance Report
RE e kEams

FAEEWNIEE o
F-Wo HE

As at 31 March 2022 As at 31 March 2021
R—B-—f=A=+-H R-B-—%=A=+-8H

By region

R EBE S

Hong Kong
e

PRC

i

Malaysia

P Nt

By Employment Type
BREREES
Permanent Staff
KA HmHIA B
Contract Staff
BRAE
Part-Time Staff
FBAE

246 255
25 25
18 19

277 287
12 12

0 0
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Key Performance Indicators (coniinueq BRENER =
Part B. Social (continued) EF_Ho g

For the Year Ended For the Year Ended
Employment Indicators - KPI B1.2 31 March 2022°¢ 31 March 2021

BE-Z2_-_C BE-ZE_-—F§
EEisE-FERENIEEB.2 =BA=1+—HIEFE" =B=+—HILEEE

Employee turnover

EBERALR

Total employee turnover rate 35% 20%
AHEEREKLE

By gender

74 B 5

Male 39% 24%
St

Female 29% 13%
gegid

By age group

BEFH S

Below 18 0% 0%
185K A

18 to 25 86% 48%
18%25p%

26 to 35 51% 27%
26ZE355%

36 to 45 23% 13%
36%455%

46 to 55 22% 6%
46 555K

56 to 65 13% 9%
56ZE655%

6 The turnover percentage of employees for the Reporting Year is disclosed in accordance with the “Appendix 3: Reporting Guidance on
Social KPIs” issued by the Stock Exchange, which was different from the method adopted in the previous reporting year.

e REFEOERBAERAD L HIRBE A AIZE (M= (e ARERIERERES | BB SBRTREFEMRMNTGRAERK
W EFEER
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Key Performance Indicators (continueq BARENER =
Part B. Social (continueq) FoWD HE
For the Year Ended For the Year Ended
Employment Indicators — KPI B1.2 31 March 2022¢ 31 March 2021
BE-ZE-_— BE-ZT—-—F
EEES-FARENIEEBI.2 =ZA=+—BLEES ZA=+—-BLHFE
By region
REH S
Hong Kong 37% 16%
BB
PRC 36% 24%
aa
Malaysia 11% 74%
BRA D
Health and Safety Indicators For the Year Ended 31 For the Year Ended 31 For the Year Ended 31
- KPI B2.1& KPI B2.2 March 2022 March 2021 March 2020
RERZE2ER BE-E-C BE-Z--F BE-E-EF
-BARENIEEB21K BRENIEEB2.2 ZA=t—-HLHEE =ZHA=+—-HLFE Z=ZA=+t—-HLEFE
Fatality number 0 0 0
BT AB
Number of reportable injuries 5 5 13
BYHRETIEHE
Number of day lost 352 1563 53
PN
6 The turnover percentage of employees for the Reporting Year is disclosed in accordance with the “Appendix 3: Reporting Guidance on

Social KPIs” issued by the Stock Exchange, which was different from the method adopted in the previous reporting year.
o BREFENEEREBDLLIIRBH AT (M=t @WREMERERES | RE SAREREFEMRANTRAERE
BT ETEER-
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Key Performance Indicators continueq

Part B. Social (continued)

Development and Training Indicators — KPI B3.1

BREREIESE-EREKIEEBI.

FARENIEE »
F-Ho g

For the Year Ended For the Year Ended
31 March 2022 31 March 2021
BE-ZE_-C BE-ZE_-—Ff

=ZA=+—BLEE ZA=+—HLEE

Percentage of employees trained
FIEEE DL

Total

et

By gender

3: 3 b

Male

St

Female

gegid

By employee category
BIESHEF S

Entry level

AFI#R

Middle level

i

Management level
EIRE
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Part B. Social (continued)

Development and Training Indicators — KPI B3.2

BREREIESE-FARERIEFEB3.2

Environmental, Social and Governance Report
RE e kEams

FEEEWNIEE o
F-Wo HE

For the Year Ended
31 March 2022

For the Year Ended
31 March 2021

Total number of hours of internal training
received by employees

EBEFESAIMIFTINNERE
Average hours of training per employee
SEEEF9FINFE

Average hours of training per employee by
gender

BB 5 & e I8 5 F 1545 5| A5 B
Male

St

Female

pegid

Average hours of training per employee by
employment category

BIEEIEF 5 & 1618 5 F 1515 5l b5 2
Entry level

AFI&

Middle level

g

Management level

IR E

BE-Z2-— BE-ZE-—F
=A=+—HILEEE =A=+—HILEE
97.50 103.50

0.43 0.50

0.19 0.50

0.52 0.50

0.22 0.50

0.02 0.50
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Key Performance Indicators continueq

Part B. Social (continued)

Supply Chain Management Indicators
- KPI B5.1

HEREEER
- R ENIEEBS.1

Supplier management
HEBER

Total number of suppliers
1 e 7 A8 2R

By region

HEZS

Hong Kong

E

PRC

Malaysia
Bk

Product Responsibility Indicators
- KPI B6.1& KPI B6.2

EmEEER
-FARENIEEB6.1 R BREAMNIEEB6.2

Total No. of Products sold or shipped
EESCEZERAY

Total number of products subject to recalls for
safety and health reason

AzZ2RkRRERAZAGEHNEREH
Total number of complaints received

ELE T8
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F-Ho g

For the Year Ended
31 March 2022

BE—-ZE—-—

=A=+—HLEEE

152

115

24

10

For the Year Ended
31 March 2022

BE—-ZE——
=Z=A=+—BLEE
387,010
0
0

For the Year Ended
31 March 2021

BE-ZE_-—Ff
=A=+—HLEEE

146

105

25

14

For the Year Ended
31 March 2021

BE-2-_—F
ZA=t+T—HLEE
451,924

0

0
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Key Performance Indicators (continueq BARENER =
Part B. Social (continued) E_EWo g

For the Year Ended For the Year Ended
Community Investment Indicators — KPI B8.2 31 Mar 2022 31 Mar 2021

BE-ZE_-_C BE-Z_-_—F
HEREIEE-FAEBENMISEBS.2 =A=+—HLEEE =A=+—HILEEE

Resources contributed to education, 39,611 36,923
environmental concerns, labour needs,
health, culture, sport (Amount in HK$)

HYBE REME -ZHER RE - -BEER
R EIR (B TEHE)

Corporate charitable activities Hours spent on 6 3
charitable activities

TCEEETHERETHMARE

Employee volunteering Number of employee 8 40
volunteer

BESHEEBHRERESHEE AR
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HKEX ESG REPORTING GUIDE CONTENT ERARZIBE - HERE
INDEX mEESINRESI

ESG Aspects Related Section(s) Remarks

BE -HEREREHR HBEH HdE

Part A: Environmental

- RE

A1. Emissions

Al B

Information on the policies and compliance with relevant laws and regulations Environmental — Overview,
that have a significant impact on the issuer relating to air and greenhouse gas Compliance and
emissions, discharges into water and land, and generation of hazardous and Grievance, Emissions

non-hazardous waste.

ARBERLAZEREHN KRN EEREERZNNELSE RE-HE ARKBHF

MR REFHBETABERAZENEBEZRERNER - i)
KPI A1.1 The types of emissions and respective emission data. Key Performance Indicators
- Part A. Environmental
BB AE BUEIRAT AR T S8 AR BE O BR - ARENER-F 9
BIE
KPI A1.2 Direct (Scope 1) and energy indirect (Scope 2) greenhouse gas Key Performance Indicators
emission in total (in tonnes) and, where appropriate, intensity (e.g. per unit of - Part A. Environmental

production volume, per facility).

B AERUEIRA1 2B &K (BEN) REKAER (BE) RERBANENE (U BREWEZ-F—H2

AE)R(MER)BE (NNBEBEN BHERMH) RE

KPI A1.3 Total hazardous waste produced (in tonnes) and, where appropriate, Key Performance Indicators
intensity (e.g. per unit of production volume, per facility). - Part A. Environmental

BREMIEIRA SIEA R EER WA E (LR R ) & (EA) 8F (WL BREMER-S—#5
BEEBM BERBITHE) - RE

KPI A1.4 Total non-hazardous waste produced (in tonnes) and, where Key Performance Indicators
appropriate, intensity (e.g. per unit of production volume, per facility). - Part A. Environmental

Eﬁﬁi%iﬂaﬁm AMELRERERYAE (UBHE) R (MER)EE (A BREMER-F 55
BEBEM BEREAE) - RE

KPI A1.5 Description of emissions target set and steps taken to achieved them.  Environmental — Overview,

Emissions

Bt MIERA SHPTET VBN E B R R AR GL R EMEBN SR R —8E BB Y

KPI A1.6 Description of how hazardous and non-hazardous wastes are handled,  Environmental — Total
and a description of reduction target set and steps taken to achieved them. Hazardous Wastes and
Non-Hazardous Wastes
& Results Achieved by
Mitigating Emissions

BRENESAMHLREAENEZREREMN A LRI LNEE RE-AEZEENREIE
BERREDELBERIRA LR - EMEE RR LA
BRI
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HKEX ESG REPORTING GUIDE CONTENT
INDEX (Continued)

ESG Aspects

R HERELRER

A2. Use of Resources
A2. ERE A

Policies on the efficient use of resources, including energy, water and other raw
materials.

ERARERER (BREER KREMERMH)OBEK-

KPI'A2.1 Direct and/or indirect energy consumption by type (e.g. electricity, gas
or oil) in total (kWh in '000s) and intensity (e.g. per unit of production volume,
per facility).

BREBUERAIRER S DMER R/ REZER (NS Rakm)
(AFETREAE) REE (WABEEEML  BRRETE) -

KPI A2.2 Water consumption in total and intensity (e.g. per unit of production
volume, per facility).

FREMERAERKERTE (WABEEEN BRRETE) -

BrE

KPI A2.3 Description of energy use efficiency target set and steps taken to
achieve them.

B AR A SR PR L AR E A B IR R RiERIE L B
oo

KPI A2.4 Description of whether there is any issue in sourcing water that is fit
for purpose, water efficiency target set and steps taken to achieve them.

TR P EREX

B 32 4B U AR A2 A i SRBUE FRKIR £ R B (R AT 8 - AT SZ RO A7k et B
BRREIELRRATRMAOLRE -

KPI A2.5 Total packaging material used for finished products (in tonnes) and, if
applicable, with reference to per unit produced.

Fé%i BHIERACOR M TR BEMKNEE
BRIEE-

(VAmEEH) & (WER) B A E

ERARZER
WREESIARES =

Related Section(s)

HHEEL

Environmental - Use of

Resources
RIBE-BRFER

Key Performance Indicators
- Part A. Environmental

BARENIEE -8
123

—35

Key Performance Indicators
— Part A. Environmental

BREMIER-F—#7:
B

Environmental — Direct/
Indirect Usage of
Electricity/Water and Raw
Materials

RE-EE/HERE K
B EM#

Environmental — Direct/
Indirect Usage of
Electricity/Water and Raw
Materials

—E&/THERE/ K
KR
Environmental - Packaging

materials used for
finished products, Key
Performance Indicators —
Part A. Environmental

—El A \Lﬁﬁ
?rJr A MR —

Bo R
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HKEX ESG REPORTING GUIDE CONTENT EBRSRE - HERE
INDEX (Continued) ﬁ%j:a '_5',| W @? ‘_E;l (#)

ESG Aspects Related Section(s) Remarks

R odHERERER HBREH i

A3. The Environmental and Natural Resources

BRERXARER
Policies on minimizing the issuer’s significant impact on the environment and Environmental - Direct/
natural resources. Indirect Usage of
Electricity/Water and Raw
Materials
FRAREREETAHREIRAEREREATENHEE - RE-EE/HERE,/K
R SR
KPI' A3.1 Description of the significant impacts of activities on the environment Environmental — Direct/
and natural resources and the actions taken to manage them. Indirect Usage of
Electricity/Water and Raw
Materials
FREMEBABIENEREDHBRRRRAAERNEAZERCENERE RE-EZ /HERE,/ K
EBYENTH- BEH
A4. Climate Change
Ad. RIRE{E
Policies on identification and mitigation of significant climate-related issues Environmental — Climate
which have impacted, and those which may impact, the issuer. Change
ARBANBEERRAREHETAELVENEARFEAZTENRER . RE-RREL
KPI' A4.1 Description of the significant climate-related issues which have Environmental — Climate
impacted, and those which may impact, the issuer, and the actions taken to Change

manage them.

FREMESMAERCERAREHETAELFENEARREREE RE-REE(L
&E%Waﬁﬁ%%ﬂ%ﬂﬁ
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HKEX ESG REPORTING GUIDE CONTENT
INDEX (Continued)

ESG Aspects

R HERELRER

EBRZIR
mEES Wﬁ?ﬁl (%)

BRI e keEalms

BoHERE

Remarks

i

Related Section(s)

HEEH

Part B. Social
et
B1. Employment
B1. Ef%

Information on the policies and compliance with laws and regulations that have
a significant impact on the issuer relating to compensation and dismissal,
recruitment and promotion, working hours, rest periods, equal opportunity,
diversity, anti-discrimination, and other benefits and welfare.

BRFMN @R BEREN TERYE RY FERE Sl REGMN

BE A RRTIRR RATY BT ANEAY SRR LS
Ehto

KPI B1.1 Total workforce by gender, employment type, age group and
geographical region.
AREDIEEBI RS BREL FRARN RIS ES RS-

KPI B1.2 Employment turnover rate by gender, age group and geographical
region.

FARERIERBI 2L 1R Fic R ki BB A EBMKLE -

Social - Workplace, The
Group’s Team Profile

HE-TEEM AKEE
B 7

Key Performance Indicators
- Part B. Social

RS RUEIE — 7
fonk

Key Performance Indicators
- Part B. Social

AREMER-F 80
He
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HKEX ESG REPORTING GUIDE CONTENT EBRSRE - HERE
INDEX (Continued) ﬁ%j:a §| W ﬁ? '_5',| (#%&)

ESG Aspects Related Section(s) Remarks

S HEREREHE HBREH i

B2. Health and Safety

B2. @EEZ2
Information on the policies and compliance with laws and regulations that Social - Protecting Health
have a significant impact on the issuer relating to providing a safe working and Safety

environment and protecting employees from occupational hazards.

FRARRLZE2THERELREESRABEMBENRRLETHRETAE HE-RERERZE
BEAFENHEBERRARNER -

KPI B2.1 Number and rate of work-related fatalities. Key Performance Indicators
- Part B. Social

AREMIEEB2ARTIEREMATHAB R X BAREVER-F -85
e

KPI B2.2 Lost days due to work injury. Key Performance Indicators
- Part B. Social

AREMIEEB2 2R TEEATERE AREVIER-F 85 :
te

KPI B2.3 Description of occupational health and safety measures adopted, how  Social — Protecting Health

they are implemented and monitored. and Safety

FREREEB MM AR M B R 20 BERTRERTEZ. HE-RERELLE
B3. Development and Training
B3. & KA

Policies on improving employees’ knowledge and skills for discharging duties at ~ Social - Development and

work. Description of training activities. Training

BRRAEE BT IERE MM RBRAENEBER - EI BRI - He-%RERE

KPI B3.1 The percentage of employees trained by gender and employee Key Performance Indicators
category (e.g. senior management, middle management). — Part B. Social

Gk ;K?EI)HBS1&&%&1@%@%”(QH%@%@E‘*%&%@@)%%E@& HRERIEE-F -85 :
JEERS He

KPI B3.2 The average training hours completed per employee by gender and Key Performance Indicators
employee category. - Part B. Social

BB RIEEBI2IRIEPIREERMNE D BREETKX IO FHRE- BREVIEZ-F 85

e
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HKEX ESG REPORTING GUIDE CONTENT
INDEX (Continued)

ESG Aspects

R HERELRER

ERARZER
WREESIARES =

BRI e keEalms

RE - HERE

Remarks

i

Related Section(s)

HHEEL

B4. Labour Standards
B4. 5 T%#A|

Information on the policies and compliance with laws and regulations that have
a significant impact on the issuer relating to preventing child and forced
labour.

AR L T3 I T B R
SR -

KPI B4.1 Description of measures to review employment practices to avoid
child and forced labour.

WS RUEEBA R R B R DI DB AR S E T RAHST -

KPI B4.2 Description of steps taken to eliminate such practices when
discovered.

AREVIEIBAH M E R R B RBEARRRE BELERRN LR -
B5. Supply Chain Management
B5. fitEHEEE

Policies on managing environmental and social risks of the supply chain.

STHETABERZENHREIE A

AREEREENRERMLSRAROEE-

KPI B5.1 Number of suppliers by geographical region.

PR AR R R E D EREE

KPI B5.2 Description of practices relating to engaging suppliers, number
of suppliers where the practices are being implemented, how they are
implemented and monitored.

FRAE R EBs 2R A RIS Mt R B MERTERIENHHRER
HE FREMNNRTRERA-

Social — Zero Tolerance
Heg-TRRA

Social — Zero Tolerance
Heg-TRRA

Social — Zero Tolerance
He-ET82

Social - Aiming for More

Suppliers Complying with
Our Code of Conduct

e-EHEREESHER
BT HMTTRT A

Key Performance Indicators
- Part B. Social

BREMIER—F 8k
te

Social — Aiming for More
Suppliers Complying with
Our Code of Conduct

He-EEREESHER
BT RMTTRT A
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HKEX ESG REPORTING GUIDE CONTENT ERARZMERER ?ié&

INDEX (continued) WmEESIRNRES|

ESG Aspects

R odHERERER

(#&)

Related Section(s) Remarks
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KPI B5.3 Description of practices used to identify environmental and social risks
along the supply chain, and how they are implemented and monitored.
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KPI B5.4 Description of practices used to promote environmentally preferable
products and services when selecting suppliers, and how they are
implemented and monitored.
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B6. Product Responsibility
B6. EmE(E

Information on the policies and compliance with laws and regulations that have
a significant impact on the issuer relating to health and safety, advertising,
labelling and privacy matters relating to products and services provided and
method of redress.
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KPI B6.1 Percentage of total products sold or shipped subject to recalls for
safety and health reasons.
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KPI B6.2 Number of products and service-related complaints received and how
they are dealt with.
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KPI B6.3 Description of practices relating to observing and protecting
intellectual property rights.
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KPI B6.4 Description of quality assurance process and recall procedures.
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KPI B6.5 Description of consumer data protection and privacy policies, how
they are implemented and monitored.
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B7. Anti-corruption
B7. RES
Information on the policies and compliance with relevant laws and regulations

that have a significant impact on the issuer relating to bribery, extortion, fraud
and money laundering.
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KPI B7.1 Number of concluded legal cases regarding corrupt practices brought
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outcomes of the cases.
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KPI B7.2 Description of preventive measures and whistle-blowing procedures,
how they are implemented and monitored.
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KPI B7.3 Description of anti-corruption training provided to directors and staff.
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B8. Community investment
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Policies on community engagement to understand the needs of the
communities where the issuer operates and to ensure that its activities take
into consideration the communities’ interests.
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KPI B8.1 Focus areas of contribution (e.g. education, environmental concerns,
labour needs, health, culture, sport).
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Biographical Details of Directors and Senior Management

EEREREEE 2BRE

Executive Directors

Mr. She Siu Kee William (R&ZEE) (“Mr. She”), aged 59, is the
Chairman, executive Director and chief executive officer. He is the
founder of the Group and has participated in the management
of the Group since October 2001. Mr. She is a director of
certain subsidiaries of the Group and a member of each of the
Remuneration Committee and Nomination Committee. Mr. She is
primarily responsible for the overall management, development and
planning of the Group and has over 23 years of experience in the
printing industry.

Mr. Chong Cheuk Ki (=) (“Mr. Chong”), aged 57, was
appointed as a non-executive Director in November 2013 and
was redesignated as an executive Director on 16 August 2019.
He joined the Group in 2005. Mr. Chong has approximately 13
years of experience in corporate management. He was awarded
a diploma in marketing from the Chartered Institute of Marketing
for fulfiling the requirements of the institute’s examiners at the
diploma examination held in June 1991. Mr. Chong also obtained
a certificate in marketing from Vocational Training Council in June
1989 and a higher certificate in electronic engineering from Hong
Kong Polytechnic (currently known as the Hong Kong Polytechnic
University) in November 1987.

Non-executive Director

Mr. Leung Wai Ming (R#&H®H) (“Mr. WM Leung”), aged 50, is
a non-executive Director. He joined the Group in 2008. Mr. WM
Leung has over 13 years of experience in the marketing field.

Independent Non-executive Directors

Mr. Poon Chun Wai (GBiRE ) (“Mr. Poon”), aged 64, was
appointed as an independent non-executive Director on 15 August
2016. He is also the chairman of the Remuneration Committee
and a member of each of the Audit Committee and the Nomination
Committee. Mr. Poon has over 33 years of experience in printing.
He has served several large-scale companies in printing solutions
industry.
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Biographical Details of Directors and Senior Management

Mr. Fu Chung ({82&) (“Mr. Fu”), aged 53, was appointed as an
independent non-executive Director on 8 March 2017. He is also
the chairman of the Nomination Committee and a member of each
of the Audit Committee and the Remuneration Committee. Mr. Fu
has over 28 years of experience in the printing industry. He was an
executive committee member of the Chamber of Commerce for The
Hong Kong Printers Association from 2009 to 2016. Mr. Fu was a
sales manager of Kodak (China) Limited from 2000 to 2003, and in
which he was also a sales director from 2003 to 2016.

Mr. Ma Siu Kit ( EJE7A) (“Mr. Ma”), aged 52, was appointed as
an independent non-executive Director on 30 December 2016. He
is also the chairman of the Audit Committee. Mr. Ma had obtained
a bachelor’s degree in business (accountancy) from Queensland
University of Technology, Australia in 1993. He is a member of the
Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants. Mr. Ma is
currently the company secretary of China Boton Group Company
Limited (formerly known as China Flavours and Fragrances
Company Limited; stock code: 3318), a company listed on the main
board of the Stock Exchange. Mr. Ma had worked in accounting
firms and different enterprises. He is a seasoned professional in
accounting with over 22 years of relevant experience.

Senior Management

Mr. She Kwan Yin Corwin (5 ##) (“Mr. Corwin She”),
aged 34, is the Company Secretary and Chief Financial Officer of
the Group. He is a member of the Certified Public Accountants
Australia since August 2017 and also a member of the Hong Kong
Institute of Certified Public Accountants starting from May 2021. Mr.
Corwin She obtained a bachelor degree of Commerce (Accounting)
in August 2011 from Swinburne University of Technology.

Mr. Chan Wai Keung (FR{£3&) (“Mr. Chan”), aged 54, is the
general manager. Mr. Chan joined the Group in December 2011.
He is primarily responsible for formulating the corporate strategies
and planning the business development of the Group. Mr. Chan has
over 13 years of experience in the printing industry. He served as
a sales manager in Wilson Printing Equipment Limited from August
2001 to July 20089.

Mr. Cheang Ngai Wang (E% %) (“Mr. Cheang”), aged 59, is
the information technology director. Mr. Cheang joined the Group in
December 2004. He has over 13 years of experience in the printing
industry.
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Report of the Directors

ESEHG

The Board is pleased to submit their report together with the
audited financial statements of the Group for FY2021/22.

Principal Activities

The Company is an investment company and its subsidiaries
are principally engaged in the provision of printing services and
solutions on advertisement, bound books and stationeries, to a
diversified customer base in Hong Kong.

Business Review

The business review, analysis using financial key performance
indicators and future development in the Company’s business
of the Group for FY2021/22 are discussed under the sections
headed “Chairman’s Statement” and “Management Discussion and
Analysis”. Such discussion forms an integrate part of this report.

Environmental Policy and Performance

The environmental policies and performance of the Group for
FY2021/22 is set out in the section headed “Environmental, Social
and Governance Report” on pages 42 to 93 of this annual report.
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Business Review (Continued)

Principal Risks and Uncertainties

Potential non-compliance with the Occupational Safety &
Health Ordinance (Chapter 509 of the Laws of Hong Kong)
(the “OSHO”) and the Employees’ Compensation Ordinance
(Chapter 282 of the Laws of Hong Kong) (the “ECO”)

Due to the nature of the business operations, production workers
are involved in the use of manufacturing facilities and may get
injured at work easily. However, the Group may be penalized or
asked for claims in any of the following cases:

(1)

If the Group fails to provide and maintain a safe working
environment and the employee suffers from a workplace
accident, the Group will be liable on conviction to a fine of
HK$200,000 and to imprisonment for 6 months. (s6 of the
OSHO)

If the Group purchases a policy of insurance less than the
applicable amount, the Group will be liable on conviction
upon indictment to a fine at level 6 (HK$100,000) and to
imprisonment for 2 years; and on summary conviction to a
fine at level 6 (HK$100,000) and to imprisonment for 1 vyear,
according to the ECO. (s40 of the ECO)

In the case of a workplace accident, the Group would be
subject to, but not limited to, the employees’ compensation
claims, the common law personal injury claims and the
lawsuit brought by the employees.
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Business Review (continued)

Principal Risks and Uncertainties (continued)

Risk Response
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TERRETEERE »)
2 B e

The Group has established an internal health and safety policy
which provides guidelines on work safety for the employees (e.g.
workplace environment and machine operations).

The Group has also set up a safety committee which conducts
a quarterly review on the existing controls on the occupational
safety of workplace and makes recommendations, if applicable.
In general, the improvement actions will be taken shortly. We also
analyse the reported incidents of employee’s work injury and
provides training sessions to the respective workers regarding the
occupation safety and health.

In addition, the safety protection materials (e.g. ear plugs for ear
protection) have been provided by us for the production workers,
according to the advice from the Labour Department of Hong
Kong.
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Risk Description

Foreign Exchange Rate Risk

Currently, even though the Group operates principally in Hong
Kong which its business transactions are primarily denominated in
Hong Kong Dollars (“HKD”), the Group is expanding its business
to overseas markets (e.g. Malaysia) and China at the same time.
As such, the Group’s business transactions (e.g. receipts for
provision of services, operating fund transfer) are denominated
in foreign currencies e.g. the United States Dollars (“USD”),
Malaysian Ringgit (“MYR”) and Renminbi (“RMB”).

In addition, the IT and Accounting support services centre is
located in the PRC. Therefore, the Group is exposed to foreign
exchange risk arising from the exposure of RMB against HKD.

In this respect, the volatility of the exchange rates between
foreign currencies and HKD (the Group’s functional currency) may
create substantial foreign exchange risk due to the fluctuations of
exchange rates of foreign currencies.
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Business Review (continued)

Principal Risks and Uncertainties (continueq)

Risk Response

Report of the Directors
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The financial department keeps close monitoring of the fluctuations
of foreign currencies.

Under the accounting matching principle, the Group adopted
natural hedge to mitigate the foreign exchange risk, for example,
settling payments denominated in MYR by the revenue earned in
MYR, while settling payments denominated in RMB through RMB
bank accounts and cash maintained by the Group.
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Risk Description

Increase in labour cost

According to the statistics reported by the National Bureau of
Statistics of China, the average wage of an employee in the
manufacturing sector in China had increased from RMB77,649
p.a. in 2017 to RMB78,142 p.a. in 2018. Therefore, the increase
in labour cost may indirectly upsurge the subcontracting cost of
the Group since the call centre service and over 50% printing
production have been outsourced to the enterprises in China.

At Hong Kong side, labour cost increases when more headcount
is needed for the expanding business and giving high pay to
attract competent youngsters who are generally less willing to
enter into the manufacturing/production/printing industries.

As a result, the potential risk of an increase in labour cost in both
China and Hong Kong regions cannot be minimized.
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Business Review (continued)

Principal Risks and Uncertainties (continued)

Risk Response
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Management monitors the labour cost of the Group regularly and
also forecasts that the rise in labour cost can be compensated by
the depreciation of RMB and the automated production in both
Hong Kong production base and the subcontracted factory.

With the inception of the advanced printing technologies, the
Group’s manufacturing process has already highly automated.

Therefore, the Group considers the risk of labour shortage and
rising costs do not have a significant impact on the normal
operations.

Risk Description
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Reduction of market demand

Other than traditional media used by businesses, for example
newspapers advertising, radio advertising, television advertising
and telemarketing, the Web becomes a must-use daily medium
today.

Various inexpensive advertising media have grown rapidly,
including pay-per-click advertising; online banner advertising
that entails the display of a graphical advertising unit, etc., and
social media advertising such as Youtube, Twitter, Facebook,
LinkedIn that are the other kind of media to promote customer
relationships.

There is also a trend of having paperless offices and online
paperless portals.

In this regard, the output of printing industry in Hong Kong and
overseas market (e.g. Malaysia) has been declining in recent
years and the Group might face the risk of unfavorable sales
performance.
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Business Review (continued)

Principal Risks and Uncertainties (continueq)

Risk Response

Report of the Directors
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Although the market demand on traditional printing has been
declining to a certain extent, the breakthrough of printing
technology flourishes the printing business and the market
demand for business communication materials such as brochures,
rack cards and catalogs for exhibition or other promotional
functions is still dominant.

Currently, the Group keeps monitoring the change of consumer
behaviour and builds up a customer relationship management
(CRM) by way of such as customer loyalty program and advocacy
marketing, including VIP membership, one-stop shop, etc. The
Group also provides various kinds of service in and outside Hong
Kong such as the offset printing products, digital printing products
and e-banner to meet the requirements of customers, in addition
to traditional printing services.

In addition, the Marketing Department had started to explore other
possible product lines to diversify the types of services offered.
Examples include variables printing, promotion gifts market, leaflet
distribution services, etc.
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Business Review (Continued)

Compliance with the Relevant Laws and Regulations

During the year under review, as far as the Board and management
are aware, there was no material breach of or non-compliance
with the applicable laws and regulations by the Group that have a
significant impact on the businesses and operation of the Group.

Key Relationships with Employees and Customers

The key relationships with the Group’s employees and customers
are discussed under section headed “Environmental, Social and
Governance Report” on pages 42 to 93 of this annual report.

Key Relationships with Suppliers

The Group understands sustainable supply of quality products is
indispensable for long-term business development. In view of this,
the Group has adopted a supplier management policy to ensure
quality and sustainability of product supply. The Group selects its
suppliers prudently. The suppliers need to fulfill certain assessment
criteria of the Group, including meeting the Group’s standards for
the quality of raw materials, reputation, environmental friendliness,
production capacity, financial capability and experience. We view
our suppliers as partners who make important contribution to our
business success.

Results and Appropriations

The results of the Group for the year are set out in the consolidated
statement of comprehensive income on pages 142 to 263.

An interim dividend in respect of the six months ended 30
September 2021 amounting to HK$4,400,000 was paid in
December 2021 (Six months ended 30 September 2020: nil).

A dividend in respect of the year ended 31 March 2022 of HKO0.9
cents per share, amounting to a total dividend of HK$4,950,000,
was proposed by the Board on 19 August 2022 and to be
recommended to the Shareholders at the forthcoming annual
general meeting of the Company (FY2020/21: nil).

Donations

During FY2021/22, the Group made HK$39,611 charitable and
other donations (FY2020/21: HK$36,923).
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Annual General Meeting

The 2022 annual general meeting of the Company (the “2022
AGM”) will be held on Friday, 30 September 2022.

Closure of Register of Members

For the purpose of determining the identity of the Shareholders
entitled to attend and vote at the 2022 AGM, the register of
members of the Company will be closed from Monday, 26
September 2022 to Friday, 30 September 2022, both days
inclusive, during which period no transfer of Shares will be
registered. All transfer of Shares accompanied by the relevant
certificates must be lodged with the Company’s branch share
registrar and transfer office in Hong Kong, Tricor Investor Services
Limited at 17/F, Far East Finance Centre, 16 Harcourt Road,
Hong Kong for registration not later than 4:30 p.m. on Friday, 23
September 2022.

For determining the entitlement of the Shareholders to the proposed
final dividend, the register of members of the Company will be
closed from Friday, 7 October 2022 to Monday, 10 October 2022,
both days inclusive, during which period no transfer of Shares will
be registered. In order to qualify for the proposed final dividend, all
transfer of Shares accompanied by the relevant share certificates
must be lodged with the Company’s branch share registrar and
transfer office in Hong Kong, Tricor Investor Services Limited for
registration not later than 4:30 p.m. on Thursday, 6 October 2022.

Share Capital

Details of movements in the Company’s share capital for FY2021/22
are set out in Note 26 to the financial statements.

Pre-emptive Rights

There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights under the Articles or
the laws of the Cayman Islands, being the jurisdiction in which the
Company was incorporated, which would oblige the Company to
offer new shares on a pro rata basis to existing Shareholders.
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Purchase, Redemption or Sale of Listed
Securities of the Company

Neither the Company nor its subsidiaries purchased, redeemed or
sold any of the Company’s listed securities during FY2021/22.

Distributable Reserves

As at 31 March 2022, the Company’s reserves available for
distribution, calculated in accordance with the provisions of the
Companies Law, Chapter 22 (Law 3 of 1961, as consolidated and
revised) (the “Companies Law”) of the Cayman Islands, amounted
to approximately HK$159,468,000. Under the Companies Law,
the share premium account of the Company of approximately
HK$132,921,000 as of 31 March 2022 is distributable to the
Shareholders provided that immediately following the date on which
the dividend, if any, is proposed to be distributed, the Company will
be in a position to pay off its debts as they fall due in the ordinary
course of business.

Permitted Indemnity Provision

The Company has arranged for appropriate insurance cover
for Directors’ and officers’ liabilities in respect of legal actions
against its Directors and senior management arising out of
corporate activities. The permitted indemnity provision is in force
for the benefit of the Directors as required by section 470 of the
Companies Ordinance (Chapter 622 of the Laws of Hong Kong) (the
“Companies Ordinance”) when the Report of the Directors prepared
by the Directors is approved in accordance with section 391(1)(a) of
the Companies Ordinance.

Five-year Financial Summary

A summary of the results, assets and liabilities of the Group for the
last five financial years is set out on page 264.
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Directors

The Directors during the year and up to the date of this report were
as follows:

Executive Directors

Mr. She Siu Kee William
Mr. Chong Cheuk Ki

Non-executive Directors

Mr. Leung Wai Ming
Mr. Li Lu (resigned on 22 July 2021)

Independent Non-executive Directors

Mr. Poon Chun Wai
Mr. Fu Chung
Mr. Ma Siu Kit

Pursuant to article 108(a) of the Articles, Mr. Leung Wai Ming and
Mr. Poon Chun Wai shall retire by rotation at the 2022 AGM and,
being eligible, offer themselves for re-election.

Independence Confirmation

The Company has received from each of the independent non-
executive Directors an annual confirmation of independence
pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules. The Company considers
all of the independent non-executive Directors are independent.
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Directors’ and Chief Executives’ Interestsin EERFTETHRAENRKR G E
Shares =

As at 31 March 2022, the interests or short positions of the R-_Z - —"HF=A=+—H AQRFE=
Directors and chief executives of the Company in the Shares, K Z71TH A B KA RQ 7 sk (] 48 Bt A
underlying shares and debentures of the Company or any E (E&EBBEAGFETMEFZTLHMBPE
associated corporation (within the meaning of Part XV of the &l ([ &5 RHIEIEH] ) BEXVER) B H

Securities and Futures Ordinance (Chapter 571, Laws of Hong  #H [ HXT% kESEFPHERA 7FE B &5 & H
Kong) (“SFO”), which were notified to the Company and the & & U%XV*B%?&@\* BAARRE R
Stock Exchange pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the B ZFTRIEZE AR ( &?ﬁ*ﬁf%%&ﬁﬂ
SFO (including interests or short positions which they are taken or & {5 {5l 48 1'7@( ﬁﬁ WRIESEEHRAERN
deemed to have under such provisions of the SFO), or which were AR ) B EEFES LA EEH E

required, pursuant to section 352 of the SFO, to be entered in the
register referred to therein, or which were required, pursuant to the
Model Code, are set out below:

PR7B B RCME a% 16 P AL B0 B RE A - SRAR
2 J2E1E%H$“T&H§‘*“ﬁﬁﬁ’]7f§

Bk & &
wma\
i

M}

Interests and short positions in Shares, underlying RAERQ
Shares and debentures of the Company or its B0 &
associated corporation

() The Company (i) =27

Approximate
Number  percentage of

Long position/ of ordinary shareholding in
Name of Directors Capacity short position Shares held the Company
2] RAERQFHFR
EEpnE 220 ¥E/ KR ERERHA BABD
Mr She Siu Kee William  Beneficial owner Long position 1,684,000 0.29%
RNBRFEE EnEAA A
Interest of controlled corporation (Note 1)  Long position 313,125,000 56.93%
2 EE R (PE1) HE
Mr. Chong Cheuk Ki Interest of controlled corporation (Note 1)  Long position 313,125,000 56.93%
HEHEESE EHEE R (MiEE) e
Interest of spouse (Note 2) Long position 712,000 0.13%
friB s (fizt2) HE
Mr. Leung Wai Ming Interest of controlled corporation (Note 1)  Long position 313,125,000 56.93%
REREE Ry EE RS (M) e
Notes: B3
1. 313,125,000 Shares are held by eprint Limited. eprint Limited is held as 1. eprint Limited A313,125,0008% i% {5 °
to 21.62%, 21.62%, 21.62%, 21.62% and 13.52% by Mr. She Siu Kee eprint Limited AR AR 4 ([REAE]) -
William (“Mr. She”), Mr. Chong Cheuk Ki (“Mr. Chong”), Mr. Lam Shing HEHEEAE ([FHEE]) MEELEE
Kai (“Mr. Lam”), Mr. Leung Wai Ming (“Mr. WM Leung”) and Mr. Leung (IEE]) REALEE ([REHE
Yat Pang (“Mr. YP Leung”) (collectively, the “Concerted Shareholders”) ENDRRE-IBEE(TR—MxE]) (5
respectively. Pursuant to the Deed of Confirmation, each of Mr. She, Mr. BWI—8TERE]) D AIFE21.62%"
Chong, Mr. Lam, Mr. WM Leung and Mr. YP Leung has agreed to jointly 21.62% ~21.62% *21.62% [ 13.52%1&
control their respective interests in the Company. Accordingly, eprint HoRBEREE RELE HEE WK
Limited shall be accustomed to act in accordance with joint instructions Sk REREERRE-BAEEZA
of the Concerted Shareholders. Hence, each of the Concerted AEAREH®RESE E@Z—"/Rﬁjﬂ’\]ﬁéf\é o
Shareholders is deemed to be interested in all the Shares held by eprint A it - eprint Limited|& 1R & — BT # &
Limited by virtue of the SFO. RARERTE B RIEZHFRH

BIEG) & — BITE R AR B Reprint
LimitedFTFS B AT AR P HEA % o
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Directors’ and Chief Executives’ Interests in
Shares (Continued)

Interests and short positions in Shares, underlying
Shares and debentures of the Company or its
associated corporation (continueq)

() The Company (Continued)

Notes: (Continued)

2. Mr. Chong is deemed to be interested in 712,000 Shares held by his
spouse, Ms. Yip Fei.

(ii) Associated corporation - eprint Limited

Report of the Directors
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EERIEARARNRAE

(i) =27 @)
MisE: (42)

2. HEEWRARERBERZLIFEN
712,000 A% 10 R 4 B HE %5 o

(i) #BE%5%E- eprint Limited

Number of Approximate
ordinary Shares percentage of
held in the shareholding in
associated the associated

Name of Directors Nature of interest
ESpnE EEME

Mr. She Beneficial owner
REHE EnREBA

Mr. Chong Beneficial owner
HohAE EnEBA

Mr. WM Leung Beneficial owner
RERLEE EnEBA

Note: The disclosed interest represents the interests in eprint Limited, the
controlling Shareholder of the Company, which is owned by Mr. She,
Mr. Chong, Mr. Lam, Mr. WM Leung and Mr. YP Leung in the respective
proportions of 21.62%, 21.62%, 21.62%, 21.62% and 13.52%.

Save as disclosed above, none of the Directors, chief executives
of the Company and/or their associates had any interests or short
positions in any Shares, underlying Shares and debentures of the
Company or any of its associated corporations as recorded in the
register to be kept under section 352 of the SFO or as otherwise
notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to the
Model Code as at 31 March 2022.

corporation corporation
BHEMEBEE REBEEER
EZERHAE BRBEDL
2,162 21.62%

2,162 21.62%

2,162 21.62%

Misk: EREESERTE HAE kL
REREERR—BAEERARRAZER
f% Eeprint LimitedZ # - & B TG
B9 Bl 521.62% - 21.62% ~ 21.62% *
21.62%%.13.52% °

BEXHBREEN R-T-—F=§
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Interests in Share Options

Share Option Scheme

The Company adopted a share option scheme (the “Scheme”)
on 13 November 2013 pursuant to the written resolutions of the
then Shareholders passed on 13 November 2013. The Scheme
is a share incentive scheme and is established to recognise and
acknowledge the contributions of the Eligible Participants (as
defined in the prospectus of the Company dated 20 November
2013 (the “Prospectus”)) have had or may have made to the Group.
Pursuant to the Scheme, the Board may, at its discretion, offer
to grant an option to subscribe of new Shares in aggregate not
exceeding 30% of the Shares in issue from time to time.

The principal terms of the Scheme are summarised as follows:

(1

The limit on the total number of Shares which may be issued
upon exercise of all outstanding options granted and yet to
be exercised under the Scheme and any other scheme(s) of
any member of the Group must not exceed 10% of the issued
Share as at the listing date of the Company (i.e. 3 December
2013) (the “Listing Date”) (which was 50,000,000 Shares)
unless approval of the Shareholders has been obtained, and
which must not in aggregate exceed 30% of the Shares in
issue from time to time. As at the date of this report, the total
number of Shares available for issue under the Scheme is
50,000,000 Shares, which represents 9.09% of the issued
Shares as at the date of this report.

The total number of Shares issued and which may be issued
upon exercise of all options (whether exercised, cancelled or
outstanding) granted to any Eligible Participant (as defined
in the Prospectus) in any 12-month period up to the date of
grant shall not exceed 1% of the issued Shares as at the date
of grant.

The subscription price for the Shares under the options to
be granted under the Scheme will be a price determined by
the Board at the time of grant of the options, and will be not
less than the highest of (i) the closing price of the Shares as
stated in the Stock Exchange’s daily quotation sheets on the
date of grant which must be a business day; (ii) the average
closing price of the Shares as stated in the Stock Exchange’s
daily quotation sheets for the five business days immediately
preceding the date of grant; and (iii) the nominal value of a
Share.
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Interests in Share Options (continueq)

Share Option Scheme (continuead)

(4)  An option may be exercised in accordance with the terms
of the Scheme at any time during a period to be notified
by the Board to each Eligible Participant (as defined in the
Prospectus) who accepts the grant of any options, which
must not be more than 10 years from the date of the grant
(subject to acceptance) of the option.

(6) HK$1.00 is payable by the Eligible Participant (as defined
in the Prospectus) who accepts the grant of an option in
accordance with the terms of the Scheme on acceptance of
the grant of an option.

(6) The Scheme shall be valid and effective for a period of ten
years commencing on the Listing Date.

Other details of the Scheme are set out in the Prospectus.

No share option under the Scheme has been granted by the
Company since its adoption and up to the date of this report.

Equity-Linked Agreements

Save as disclosed above in the section headed “Share Option
Scheme”, no equity-linked agreements were entered into by the
Group, or existed during FY2021/22.

Substantial Shareholders and Other
Persons’ Interests in Shares

As at 31 March 2022, so far as is known to the Directors, the
following persons (other than the Directors and the chief executives
of the Company) had interests or short positions in the Shares
and underlying Shares which were required to be notified to the
Company under Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO or which
were recorded in the register required to be kept under section 336
of the SFO.
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Substantial Shareholders and Other FERRREMA LT ZRGDE
Persons’ Interests in Shares (continueq) 5 @)

Interests or short positions in Shares and underlying RO RHEBERONWEZI AR
Shares

Number of

ordinary Approximate

Shares/  percentage of

Long position/ underlying shareholding in

Nature of interest short position Shares held the Company

s BEREE ;NGBS

ERMtE R /HBERGEE BAE D

eprint Limited (Note 1) Beneficial owner Long position 313,125,000 56.93%
eprint Limited ( B5E1) EanlEEA HE

Mr. Lam (Note 2) Beneficial owner Long position 313,125,000 56.93%
A (i EE2) ExBEAA A

Ms. Lo Suet Yee (Note 3) Interest of spouse Long position 314,709,000 57.22%
EE 7zt (M) [ L 2 A

Ms. Yip Fei (Note 4) Beneficial owner Long position 712,000 0.13%
Rzt (HzE4) ExBEAA A

Interest of spouse Long position 313,125,000 56.93%
B e Sy

Ms. Yu Siu Ping (Note 5) Interest of spouse Long position 313,125,000 56.93%
A E L (HEs5) [T L 2 Sy

Ms. Chau Fung Kiu (Note 6) Interest of spouse Long position 313,125,000 56.93%
BB Az L (HE6) [T L 2 Sy

Mr. YP Leung (Note 7) Interest of controlled corporation Long position 313,125,000 56.93%
Rl (M&7) R EE RS Sy
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Substantial Shareholders and Other
Persons’ Interests in Shares (continued)

Interests or short positions in Shares and underlying
Shares (Continued)

Notes:

1.

Save

eprint Limited is directly interested in 313,125,000 Shares, representing
approximately 56.93% of the issued Shares. eprint Limited is held as to
21.62%, 21.62%, 21.62%, 21.62% and 13.52% by Mr. She, Mr. Chong, Mr.
Lam, Mr. WM Leung and Mr. YP Leung respectively. Pursuant to the Deed of
Confirmation, each of Mr. She, Mr. Chong, Mr. Lam, Mr. WM Leung and Mr. YP
Leung has agreed to jointly control their respective interests in the Company.
Accordingly, eprint Limited shall be accustomed to act in accordance with joint
instructions of the Concerted Shareholders.

Pursuant to the Deed of Confirmation, Mr. Lam, a former executive Director
who retired on 16 August 2019, is deemed to be interested in all the Shares
held by eprint Limited by virtue of the SFO.

Ms. Lo Suet Yee is the spouse of Mr. She. Under the SFO, Ms. Lo Suet Yee
is taken to be interested in the same number of Shares in which Mr. She is
interested.

Ms. Yip Fei is the spouse of Mr. Chong. Under the SFO, Ms. Yip Fei is taken to
be interested in the same number of Shares in which Mr. Chong is interested.

Ms. Yu Siu Ping is the spouse of Mr. Lam. Under the SFO, Ms. Yu Siu Ping
is taken to be interested in the same number of Shares in which Mr. Lam is
interested.

Ms. Chau Fung Kiu is the spouse of Mr. WM Leung. Under the SFO, Ms. Chau
Fung Kiu is taken to be interested in the same number of Shares in which Mr.
WM Leung is interested.

Pursuant to the Deed of Confirmation, Mr. YP Leung is deemed to be
interested in all the Shares held by eprint Limited by virtue of the SFO.

as disclosed above, the Directors are not aware of any

other persons who have interests or short positions in the Shares,
underlying Shares or debentures of the Company or any associated
corporations (within the meaning of the SFO) as recorded in the
register of the Company required to be kept under section 336 of
the SFO as at 31 March 2022.

Report of the Directors
EEgNE

TERRREMALZROE

BHORHEBROHERIARE 2

M&E

1. eprint Limited#313,125,000/% f% 17 & ¥ 5 & &
e b B 1T AR 4956.93% © eprint Limited
BAREAE HEE WAL RERAEERRE—
g% £ Rl HE21.62%21.62%  21.62% *
21.62% % 13.52% 1 i o IRIEMER 2% » R &~
WA CMEE RERHAEERR-BLEES
BERERXRZEFIRESERARANERZ -H
It » eprint Limitedi$ 18 & 1R & — SITEIAR B A
EHETRITE-

2. REERREBUALESRBEERE - MEE (B
ERTERE RZT-AFN\A+RBERE)K
1 ieprint Limited§ A B9 BT A Bk ) o 6 12

3. ESZRXEIAKEENRE -REZEFIHE
G EERRETHRRRNREEMESES
Z AR E Bl P A

4. ERZEIBHEAENEG -REZHFLDBER
Ol EREZLTWE SRR EMERER 2H
& E R ln o A s o

5. AIAHELETAMEENTLEB-REZBFLHAE
Bl s DR LR BN E LS R
ZHEREE Bt A

6. FARBLIARERALELENEB-REZFSZR
HEEN BRBLLHE RN RER K EMR
AR ZARBBROPHEEES -

7. BIEERZEUREFLZRBAEGN R—BBE
£ WAR B Reprint Limited$ B &9 1 8 I 10 &

Bl -
BREXHBEEENN R_TE__F=H

=t—H EFYXIAEFBEEMEMAL
EARARBIREMHEBEIE(ERLEFR
BB B  HEROKESFTEE
BIRIEFE 77 L B 1R ) 3361 R E R IF
A RBIERRMAREHERIORE

2021/226E 4R eprint EEHRAT 111



Report of the Directors
EEemE

Directors’ Rights to Acquire Shares or
Debentures

Save as disclosed above, at no time during the year was the
Company or any of its subsidiaries a party to any arrangements to
enable the Directors to acquire benefits by means of acquisition
of shares in or debentures of the Company or in any other body
corporate.

Directors’ Service Contracts

Mr. She, an executive Director, has entered into a renewed service
agreement with the Company on 24 June 2020 for a term of three
years with retrospective from 13 November 2019. Mr. Chong,
an executive Director, has entered into a service agreement
with the Company dated 16 August 2019 for a term of three
years commencing from 16 August 2019. Each of Mr. She and
Mr. Chong may receive a discretionary bonus, the amount of which
will be determined by reference to the recommendations of the
Remuneration Committee.

Mr. WM Leung has signed a renewed letter of appointment issued
by the Company on 24 June 2020 for a term of three years
commencing with retrospective from 13 November 2019.

Mr. Poon has signed a renewed letter of appointment issued by
the Company on 15 August 2019 for a further term of three years
commencing from 15 August 2019.

Mr. Fu has signed a renewed letter of appointment issued by
the Company on 24 June 2020 for a further term of three years
commencing with retrospective from 8 March 2020.

Mr. Ma has signed a renewed letter of appointment issued by
the Company on 24 June 2020 for a further term of three years
commencing with retrospective from 30 December 2019.

None of the Directors who are proposed for re-election at the
2022 AGM has a service contract with the Company which is not
determinable within one year without payment of compensation,
other than statutory compensation.
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Directors’ Interests in Transactions,
Arrangements or Contracts

Other than those disclosed in the sections headed “Connected
Transactions” below and “Related Party Transactions” in note 35 to
the financial statements for FY2021/22, no significant transaction,
arrangements and contracts of significance in relation to the
Group’s business to which the Company or any of its subsidiaries
was a party, and in which a Director had a material interest, whether
directly or indirectly subsisted at the year-end or at any time during
the year.

Model Code for Securities Transactions by
Directors

The Company has adopted the Model Code as the code of
conduct regarding securities transactions by the Directors. Having
made specific enquiry of all Directors, the Company confirmed that
all Directors had complied with the required standard set out in the
Model Code throughout the year.

Connected Transactions

The Group has connected transactions with the following connected
persons during FY2021/22.

Connected Persons

1. CTP Limited (“CTP”)

CTP is principally engaged in the business of property

investment, and is beneficially owned as to 25% by Mr. She,

25% by Mr. Chong, 25% by Mr. WM Leung and 25% by an

independent third party, respectively.
2. Promise Properties Limited (R EWEBRAT)
(“Promise Properties”)

Promise Properties is principally engaged in the business
of property investment, and is beneficially owned as to
approximately 21.62% by Mr. She, 21.62% by Mr. Chong,
21.62% by Mr. WM Leung, 13.52% by Mr. YP Leung, and
21.62% by an independent third party.
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Connected Transactions (continueq)

Connected Persons (continued)

3.

114

VVV Limited (“VVV”)

VVV is principally engaged in the business of property
investment, and is beneficially owned as to approximately
21.62% by Mr. She, 21.62% by Mr. Chong, 21.62% by Mr.
WM Leung, 13.52% by Mr. YP Leung and 21.62% by an
independent third party, respectively.

Profit More Rich Limited (2 E Z &G R 2 8) (“Profit
More”)

Profit More is principally engaged in the business of property
investment, and is wholly-owned by CTP.

King Profit International Limited (ZRIE K ER A F)
(“King Profit”)

King Profit is principally engaged in the business of property
investment, and is beneficially owned as to approximately
70% by VWV and 30% by Mr. Yip Chi Man.

Wilson Printing Equipment Limited ( & 1= El /il 3% #8 & fR
A7) (“Wilson Printing”)

Wilson Printing is principally engaged in the business of
trading of printing equipment and printing materials, and is
beneficially owned as to 100% by Mr. Lam Shing Tai (“Mr.
Lam ST”), the brother of Mr. Lam, one of the Controlling
Shareholders and a former executive Director who retired on
16 August 2019.

Wilson (Hong Kong) Limited (B2 (£8) B8R A7)
(“Wilson HK”)

Wilson (HK) is principally engaged in the business of trading
of printing machineries and spare parts, and is beneficially
owned as to 65% by Mr. Lam ST.

(1) Mr. She, Mr. Chong and Mr. WM Leung are the Directors
and (2) Mr. YP Leung are substantial Shareholders, and they
are Controlling Shareholders. The above companies are
associates of Mr. She, Mr. Chong, Mr. WM Leung and Mr. YP
Leung, and hence they are considered as connected persons
of the Company under Rule 14A.12 of the Listing Rules.
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Connected Transactions continveq)

Tenancy agreements

Background

(@)

Tenancy agreements relating to CTP

On 25 February 2019, fifteen tenancy agreements were
entered into between CTP, as landlord, and Lucky Gainer
and e-banner as tenants, under which CTP agreed to lease
a number of properties located in Kwun Tong Industrial
Centre to Lucky Gainer and e-banner, with a total saleable
area of 22,635 square feet for use as offices, workshops,
stores and car parks. The monthly rentals payable to CTP
for the three years ended 31 March 2022 are approximately
HK$438,604, HK$465,000 and HK$493,000 respectively
(exclusive of government rent, management fees and other
utilities outgoings which are payable by the relevant tenant).
The aggregate rentals paid to CTP for FY2021/22 was
approximately HK$5,916,000.

Tenancy agreements relating to Promise Properties

On 25 February 2019, four tenancy agreements were entered
into between Promise Properties, as landlord, and Lucky
Gainer, as tenant, under which Promise Properties agreed to
lease a number of properties located in Kwun Tong Industrial
Centre to Lucky Gainer with a total saleable area of 7,005
square feet for use as workshops. The monthly rentals
payable to Promise Properties for the three years ended 31
March 2022 are approximately HK$140,900, HK$149,300
and HK$158,200 respectively (exclusive of government rent,
management fees and other utilities outgoings which are
payable by the tenant). The aggregate rentals paid to Promise
Properties for FY2021/22 was approximately HK$1,898,400.

zpcd
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Connected Transactions (continueq)

Tenancy agreements (Continued)

Background (Continued)

(©

Tenancy agreements relating to VWV

On 25 February 2019, three tenancy agreements were
entered into between VVV, as landlord, Lucky Gainer and
Promise Network, as tenants, under which VVV agreed to
lease a number of properties located in Kwun Tong Industrial
Centre to Lucky Gainer for use as workshops and a car park
and one property in Chai Wan to Promise Network for use as
a store, with a total saleable area of 6,995 square feet. The
monthly rentals payable to VWV for the three years ended 31
March 2022 are approximately HK$185,000, HK$196,100
and HK$207,900 respectively (exclusive of government rent,
management fees and other utilities outgoings which are
payable by the relevant tenant). The aggregate rentals paid to
VVV for FY2021/22 was approximately HK$2,494,000.

Tenancy agreement relating to Profit More

On 25 February 2019, a tenancy agreement was entered into
between Profit More, as landlord, and Lucky Gainer, as tenant,
under which Profit More agreed to lease a property located in
Kwun Tong Industrial Centre to Lucky Gainer with a saleable
area of 2,895 square feet for use as a workshop. The monthly
rentals payable to Profit More for the three years ended 31
March 2022 are approximately HK$60,000, HK$63,600
and HK$67,400 respectively (exclusive of government rent,
management fees and other utilities outgoings which are
payable by the tenant). The aggregate rentals paid to Profit
More for FY2021/22 was approximately HK$808,800.

Tenancy agreement relating to King Profit

On 25 February 2019, two tenancy agreements entered
into between King Profit, as landlord, and Lucky Gainer
and Promise Network, as tenants, under which King Profit
agreed to lease a property and a car park located in Kwun
Tong Industrial Centre to the tenants with a total saleable
area of 1,820 square feet for use as an office and car park.
The monthly rentals payable to King Profit for the three
years ended 31 March 2022 are approximately HK$40,500,
HK$42,900 and HK$45,500 respectively (exclusive of
government rent, management fees and other utilities
outgoings which are payable by the tenant). The aggregate
rentals paid to King Profit for FY2021/22 was approximately
HK$546,000.

(collectively, the “2019 Tenancy Agreements”).
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Connected Transactions continveq)

Tenancy agreements (continued)
Background (Continued)

Based on the monthly rental, the aggregate rental under the 2019
Tenancy Agreements would be approximately HK$33,047,000. The
estimated value of right-of-use assets recognised by the Company
was approximately HK$31,778,000. The transactions contemplated
under the 2019 Tenancy Agreements constituted connected
transaction for the Company under Chapter 14A of the Listing
Rules and are subject to reporting, announcement and independent
shareholders’ approval requirements (which was approved by the
independent Shareholders on 6 April 2019).

Non-exempt continuing connected transactions

The following connected transactions constitute non-exempt
continuing connected transactions for the Company under Chapter
14A of the Listing Rules.

Master Supply Agreement
Background

On 25 February 2019, Wilson Printing and Wilson HK (collectively,
the “Sellers”) and the Company entered into a master supply
agreement (the “2019 Master Supply Agreement”) for a term of
three years commenced from 1 April 2019 and ended on 31 March
2022, pursuant to which Wilson Printing and Wilson HK agreed
to supply the ink products, zinc printing plates, printing solutions,
consumables of printing machines and printing machine spare
parts (the “Products”) and provide the provision of printing machine
maintenance services (the “Services”) to the Group for production
and operation of the printing business of the Group. Pursuant to
the 2019 Master Supply Agreement, the price of the Products and
the Services shall be based on the latest selling price of similar
products from an independent third party or service fees as quoted
by other independent service providers; or the prices agreed
between the Group and the Sellers from time to time after arm’s
length negotiation and are comparable to market prices of similar
products and services.

Report of the Directors
EEgNE

BERS =
HEWH=Z 2
BEE#)

HAMSHE —E—-NEHRERSEE
THME S @54 533,047,000/ T ° &
NEIERNEAREEGTEEL A
31,778,000/ JT » iR & £ T #8 B B 14A
T -NFHEWBRENRETZR

SBRARRBERS BAETHRE
NRERBIYREHAERE (ERZZE—N
ﬁ@ﬂ/\ﬁﬁﬁiﬂxi}tb/ﬁ)
HRETERERS

BB ETRBIE14AE - T3 &
RARAER LN EBER S

EX 1

o

AL R
HR
RZFB-AF_A-—+THAB BEHRR

BERE(MWIENT])BARAE LA
HEGZE ([T FRHERHE])
ARB=F BT NFEA-BEEZ
T —@E=A=+—Ai B REED
J BEEER B AEE R XK
BE AL A N S B B U 2R A 5 ERI
Wi E il 2 20 ~ B ) 44 A R 44 Ko END Il 446
T (TEmM]) A RIR M ED R # 4 1R & IR
BR®B)) BE_ZT—-NEFEMHER
O EMMRBERERES —RBUFR
ZTRBRUERN RN EERHEME
VRBREHEMRRGE  AEAKE R
ENATERRIEHENERETEL
AR EE fn e RIS T B AR -

2021/22% R  eprint EEMER AT 117



Report of the Directors
EEemE

Connected Transactions (continueq)

Non-exempt continuing connected transactions
(Continued)

Master Supply Agreement (Continuead)
Background (Continued)

The annual cap amounts of the fees to be paid by the Group for
the supply of the Products and the Services under the 2019 Master
Supply Agreement for FY2021/22 is HK$14,147,000. The actual
fees paid/payable by the Group under the 2019 Master Supply
Agreement for FY2021/22 was HK$345,100.

The independent non-executive Directors have reviewed the
above continuing connected transactions and confirmed that the
transactions have been entered into:

1. in the ordinary and usual course of the Group’s business;

2. on normal commercial terms or better; and

3. have been carried out in accordance with the terms of the
agreements governing such transactions that are fair and
reasonable and in the interests of the Shareholders as a
whole.

The Company’s auditor was engaged to report on the Group’s
continuing connected transactions in accordance with Hong Kong
Standard on Assurance Engagements 3000 (Revised) “Assurance
Engagements Other Than Audits or Reviews of Historical Financial
Information” and with reference to Practice Note 740 “Auditor’s
Letter on Continuing Connected Transactions under the Hong
Kong Listing Rules” issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified
Public Accountants. The auditor has issued an unmodified letter
containing the findings and conclusions in respect of the continuing
connected transactions disclosed by the Group in accordance with
Rule 14A.56 of the Listing Rules. A copy of the auditor’s letter has
been provided by the Company to the Stock Exchange.
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Connected Transactions continveq)

Non-exempt continuing connected transactions
(Continued)

Master Supply Agreement (Continuead)
Background (Continued)

The Company confirmed that it had complied with the disclosure
requirements in accordance with Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules
in relation to the continuing connected transactions.

Details of the Group’s related party transactions for FY2021/22
are set out in Note 35 to the consolidated financial statements.
Some of those transactions constituted connected transactions
or continuing connected transactions and have complied with the
relevant disclosure requirements under Chapter 14A of the Listing
Rules.

Non-Compete Undertakings

eprint Limited, Mr. She, Mr. Chong, Mr. Lam, Mr. WM Leung and
Mr. YP Leung (together, the “Covenantors”) entered into the deed of
non-competition in favour of the Company on 13 November 2013
(the “NCU”), pursuant to which the Covenantors have undertaken
to the Company (for itself and for the benefit of each of the
members of the Group) that, with effect from the Listing Date and
for as long as the Shares remain so listed on the Stock Exchange
and the controlling Shareholders are individually or collectively with
any of his/its associates interested directly or indirectly in not less
than 30% of the issued ordinary share capital of the Company (the
“Restricted Period”), the Covenantors or their respective associates
shall not, (i) directly or indirectly engage in, participate or hold any
right or interest in or render any services to or otherwise be involved
in any business (whether as owner, director, operator, licensor,
licensee, partner, shareholder, joint venturer, employee, consultant
or otherwise) in competition with or likely to be in competition with
the existing business carried on by the Group (the “Restricted
Business”); and (i) directly or indirectly take any action which
constitutes an interference with or a disruption of the Restricted
Business including, but not limited to, solicitation of the Group’s
customers, suppliers or personnel of any member of the Group.
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Non-Compete Undertakings (continueo)

The Covenantors have confirmed to the Company the compliance
with the NCU during FY2021/22. The independent non-executive
Directors have reviewed the NCU and confirmed the compliance
with the NCU by the Covenantors during FY2021/22.

As of the date of this report, the Company is not aware of any other
matters regarding the compliance of the undertakings in the NCU
and there has not been any change in the terms of the NCU during
FY2021/22.

Tax Relief and Exemption

The Directors are not aware of any tax relief and exemption
available to the Shareholders by reason of their holding of the
Company’s securities.

Major Customers and Suppliers

During the year, the percentage of sales attributable to the largest
customer and the five largest customers of the Group is 0.9% and
2.3% respectively.

During the year, the largest supplier and the five largest suppliers
of the Group accounted for approximately 38.2% and 71.7% of the
total purchases of the Group respectively.

None of the Directors, their associates or any Shareholder (which
to the knowledge of the Directors owns more than 5% of the
Company’s share capital) had an interest in the major suppliers or
customers noted above.

Subsidiaries, Associates and Joint Ventures

Details of the principal subsidiaries, associates and joint ventures of
the Company are set out in Note 16, Note 17 and Note 18 to the
financial statements.
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Public Float

Based on the information that is publicly available to the Company
and within the knowledge of the Directors, the Company has
maintained a sufficient public float as required under the Listing
Rules during the year and up to the date of this report.

Audit Committee

The Company established the Audit Committee on 13 November
2013 with written terms of reference which was revised on 25
February 2019 to comply with the CG Code. The primary duties
of the Audit Committee are to review and supervise the financial
reporting system and to review the risk management and internal
control systems of the Group. The Audit Committee comprises
three independent non-executive Directors, namely, Mr. Ma Siu
Kit (chairman), Mr. Poon Chun Wai and Mr. Fu Chung. The Audit
Committee has reviewed the audited financial statements of the
Group for FY2021/22.

Competition and Conflict of Interests

During the year, save as disclosed in this annual report, none of
the Directors or substantial Shareholders or any of their respective
associates has engaged in any business that competes or may
compete with the business of the Group.

Corporate Governance

A report on the principal corporate governance practices adopted
by the Company is set out on pages 23 to 41 of this annual report.

Continuing Disclosure Requirements under
Rule 13.22 of the Listing Rules in Relation to
Financial Assistance to Affiliated Companies

The Group has included a consolidated statement of financial
position of the relevant affiliated companies as required therein
under Rule 13.22 of the Listing Rules. Affiliated companies include
jointly controlled entities.
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Continuing Disclosure Requirements under 1§ £ R Al 513.22(% @R [
Rule 13.22 of the Listing Rules in Relationto HEBAGRHB K E <&
Financial Assistance to Affiliated Companies EHRE «

(Continued)

The consolidated statement of financial position of Top Success KR -_ZE - —_F=ZA=Z+—HIH B BEXK
Investment Group Limited and its subsidiaries (“Top Success &R AR AR RHEMBE AT ([bH %
Group”) and the Group’s attributable interest in Top Success Group HEEE | )M AHTBEMRIRUE AN EEH

as at 31 March 2022 are presented as follows: R REREENERSIRAT
Consolidated statement of financial position ZEMBMRRE

Consolidated Group’s
statement attributable
of financial interest
position 50%
rEE
&0t ik FEAL fE
AR T 50%
HK$’000 HK$’000
THET FET
Non-current assets FERBEE 20,576 10,288
Current assets MBNEE 21,401 10,701
Current liabilities mEAE 2,957 1,479
Non-current liabilities EmBAE 34,885 17,442
Net assets EEFE 4,135 2,068

122  eprint Group Limited Annual Report 2021/22



Auditor

There has been no change in auditor of the Company during the
past three years.

The term of appointment of PwC as auditor of the Company shall
expire at the conclusion of the 2022 AGM. A resolution will be
proposed at the 2022 AGM to re-appoint PwC as auditor of the
Company.

On behalf of the Board
eprint Group Limited
She Siu Kee, William
Chairman

Hong Kong, 19 August 2022

Report of the Directors
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Independent Auditor’s Report
B M A% B A ¥R

To the Shareholders of eprint Group Limited

(Incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)
Opinion
What we have audited

The consolidated financial statements of eprint Group Limited (the
“Company”) and its subsidiaries (“the Group”), which are set out on
pages 142 to 263, comprise:

° the consolidated statement of financial position as at 31
March 2022;

° the consolidated statement of comprehensive income for the
year then ended,;

° the consolidated statement of changes in equity for the year
then ended;

° the consolidated statement of cash flows for the year then
ended; and

° the notes to the consolidated financial statements, which
include significant accounting policies and other explanatory
information

Our opinion

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and
fair view of the consolidated financial position of the Group as at 31
March 2022, and of its consolidated financial performance and its
consolidated cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with
Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards (‘HKFRSs”) issued by
the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants (‘HKICPA”)
and have been properly prepared in compliance with the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.
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Basis for Opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards
on Auditing (“HKSAs”) issued by the HKICPA. Our responsibilities
under those standards are further described in the Auditor’s
Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial
Statements section of our report.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient
and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

Independence

We are independent of the Group in accordance with the HKICPA's
Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants (“the Code”), and we
have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the
Code.

Key Audit Matters

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional
judgment, were of most significance in our audit of the consolidated
financial statements of the current period. These matters were
addressed in the context of our audit of the consolidated financial
statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and we
do not provide a separate opinion on these matters.

Key audit matters identified in our audit are summarised as follows:

o Impairment assessment of property, plant and equipment held
by a sub-contractor

° Business combination and goodwill impairment

° Impairment assessment of goodwill, property, plant and
equipment and right-of-use assets of banner printing segment

° Impairment assessment of other financial assets at amortised
cost

Independent Auditor’s Report
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Independent Auditor’s Report
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Key Audit Matters

How our audit addressed the Key Audit Matters

Impairment assessment of property, plant and equipment (“PPE”) held by a sub-contractor

Refer to Note 2.8, Note 4(a) and Note 13 “Property,
plant and equipment” to the consolidated financial
statements.

Promise Network Printing Limited, a wholly owned
subsidiary of the Company (“‘Promise”) has engaged a
printing subcontractor (“subcontactor”) since 2015.

Certain printing machineries owned by Promise,
with a net book value of approximately HK$7 million
as at 31 March 2022, were physically transferred
to the production plant of the subcontactor in
Dongguan in 2016 to facilitate it to handle the Group’s
subcontracting orders.

Since the beginning of 2022, the outbreak of the
COVID-19 Epidemic (the “Epidemic”) has recurred in
cities, including Dongguan in the People’s Republic
of China (“China”) from time to time, and the
government of Dongguan have taken public health
emergency measures and various actions (including
the implementation of traffic control in many cities
in China) in a timely manner, to prevent the further
spread of the Epidemic. These measures have caused
temporary disruptions to the normal operations of
the subcontactor, which caused delay in delivering
final products to customers. As a result, the Group
decided to end the subcontracting agreement with
the subcontactor, and the machineries became idle
since 31 March 2022.
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In assessing the appropriateness of the management’s
impairment assessment of property, plant and equipment
held by the sub-contractor, the following audit procedures
have been performed by us:

° We obtained an understanding of the management’s
internal control and assessment process of
impairment of PPE and assessed the inherent risk
of material misstatement;

° We enquired management on their basis of
identifying PPE with impairment indicators
and challenged the appropriateness of these
judgements;

° We performed physical observation of the Group’s
machineries and equipment to identify idle or
obsolete machineries;

° We performed roll backwards testing on the
machineries if there is any reallocation of
machineries;

° We enquired management about their basis of
estimation of fair value less costs of disposal for the
idle PPE and inspected the price quotes obtained
from valuers;

° We assessed the competency and objectivity of the
external valuer by considering their qualifications,
relevant experience and relationship with the Group;
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Key Audit Matters

How our audit addressed the Key Audit Matters

Impairment assessment of property, plant and equipment (“PPE”) held by a sub-contractor

Management performed an assessment on
impairment of PPE. The recoverable amounts
were determined based on the higher of fair value
less cost of disposal and value-in-use calculation.
These calculation involved significant management
judgement with respect to the assumptions used
including the long-term growth rate and discount
rate. Based on the impairment tests performed,
an aggregate of impairment of PPE amounted to
approximately HK$3.4 million was recognised for the
year ended 31 March 2022.

We focused on the evaluation of management’s
assessment on impairment of PPE held by a
subcontractor due to the size of the Group’s PPE
and the significant judgement and estimates used to
perform the impairment review.
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° We have obtained management’s assessment and
the budget adopted in the cashflow forecast. We
evaluated the budget and the reasonableness of
key assumptions (such as percentage changes
in revenue and gross profit as well as pre-tax
discount rate) applied in value-in-use calculations
by comparing them to historical information and
our understanding of latest market information and
conditions;

° We compared the actual results in current year
with the budget used in the prior year impairment
assessment and evaluated the sensitivity analysis
to consider the impact on the impairment loss with
reasonably possible changes of key assumptions
and considered whether the judgements made in
determining the budget and key assumptions are
subject to possible management bias.

Based on the procedures described, we found that the
key assumptions, judgements and estimates made by the
management in respect of the impairment assessment
were supported by available evidence.
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Key Audit Matters

How our audit addressed the Key Audit Matters

Business combination and goodwill impairment

Refer to Note 2.8, 2.9, 2.10, 4(a), 4(f), 13, 14, 15 and
33 to the consolidated financial statements.

During the year ended 31 March 2022, the Group
completed the acquisition of Sakura Japan Property
(Hong Kong) Limited at cash consideration of
approximately HK$6.3 million (the “Step Acquisition”).
Management assessed the nature of the acquisition
by assessing if there are economic resource and
business process associated with it. Management
determined whether the assets acquired and liabilities
assumed under the acquisition constituted a business
and therefore the transaction was accounted for as
business combination.

Accounting for business combination requires the
Group to allocate the purchase price to the assets
acquired, liabilities assumed, and intangible assets
identified based on their estimated fair values at the
date of acquisition.

Independent external valuation has been obtained
by the Group to support the fair values of the assets
acquired, liabilities assumed and intangible assets
identified. In connection with the Step Acquisition,
identified intangible assets and goodwill recognised in
the consolidated financial statements as at completion
data of Step Acquisition amounted to approximately
HK$1.4 million and approximately HK$9.0 million
respectively.

The accounting of the above business combination
involved various significant judgement and estimates
in determining the recognition of identifiable net assets
and intangible assets at fair value at the acquisition
date, which included the determination of valuation
methodology and estimation of revenue growth rate
and discount rate.
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In assessing the appropriateness of the management’s
assessment of business combination and goodwill
impairment, the following audit procedures have been
performed by us:

For business combination:

° We discussed and inquired management on their
basis in determining the nature of the transactions
to assess the economic resource or business
process associated with the acquisition and thus
management’s assessment of the acquisition being
accounted for as business combination;

° We evaluated the external valuers’ competence,
capabilities and objectivity;

o We involved our in-house valuation experts to
assess the appropriateness of key assumptions
including revenue growth rate, discount rate and
methodologies used in valuation by referencing to
the applicable industry/business data external to the
Group; and

° We assessed the appropriateness of the disclosures
in the financial statements.

For goodwill impairment:

° We evaluated the composition of the Group’s future
cash flow forecasts in developing the value in use
calculation (“VIU") of the cash-generating units
(“CGU”), and the process by which they were drawn
up, including testing the underlying calculations
and comparing the forecasts to the latest budgets
approved by the board of directors;



BAEET SR

Independent Auditor’s Report
PRV S S\ Fareen

BRNESTNMEEBEREETFH

REEHREERE

FHREAHIBRRMTE2.82.92.10 4(a)~ 4(f)
1314 158433 o

RBE_TE__F#=A=+—H1LEE &Z£H
ERKRBRADE(RB)ERAG - BHEaREA
6,300,000 7T ([FEmAUEEIE]) - EREDFE
ERELSHREEERREGAR UFHKES
EHEMME - EEEETCRBRBESTEMBEBEONEE
KATAENEBBERESERER YALBRZAR
PIVEETEE B o

EARIEEBAHNBERT BEKEARERN
WEEHONEFAFE SBEESEZMKEN
BE FAENBBELAEAINETLEE-

EEEC ISR N EEEA AU EE B & - &
FEEBERATENEFLEENRFE 3 U E
FEME REBEXNWBEETK A BEE 0B
WMRERNE#HPEFLEEREED R A4%1,400,000
7 7T & #99,000,00078 7T °

tREHEHz e REEETENEERBARF
ERAANBNEEMBILEEFERSINZEERKN
Al R BREETENEE A LR EE R X
SELER iR

ATHEERHEBAMRBBRENT G AR
BB T TR LR

EBAHME

HZfMNwmEAEEEEAARRERNEER ST
BERzERE UHERESFETAREKESHEARM
ZREBERIEBRE WREEBYHARIIER
e orR I SR 2 FE G

o WMIFHEIMNEBEERMBEE D  SEEIREE
:|\$;

e RMERAMBEEZERBELZ2E ESEINEN
BB/ EBEE SMAREMANEIZERK (2
RS REER BRER)RTEAEREE

o HMFEMBBRINKERTHEE -

AEBREMS :

e HMFFMTREACELBM([BReELEM])

MmEREEAE(EREEFE 2 E5EX
RIReMEBTANMES - R RGN BIE
BREASABEAERRE UREEHRERERS
AT A 2 TREETTLL &

2021/22% 3  eprint EEMAER AT 131



Independent Auditor’s Report
BN B AR

Key Audit Matters

How our audit addressed the Key Audit Matters

Business combination and goodwill impairment

The Group is required to, at least annually, test
goodwill for impairment. In carrying out the goodwill
impairment assessments, management determines
the recoverable amount of each CGU by using VIU.
These assessments involved significant management
judgments and estimates in the determination of
valuation model and the application of assumptions
in the model, including forecast revenue growth rate,
operating cost, terminal growth rate, and discount
rate used in the projection period. Based on the
management’s assessment, impairment provision for
goodwill of approximately HK$3.1 million recognised
for the year ended 31 March 2022. Such impairment
charge arose as a result of the less than satisfactory
past and expected performance of the property
agency business under the outbreak of the COVID-19
Epidemic.

We focused on this area because the carrying values
of the identifiable intangible assets and the goodwill
amount are significant to the consolidated financial
statements and the valuation methodology and key
assumptions require the use of significant judgements
and estimates. These estimations are also subject to
uncertainties.
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° We assessed the key assumptions including the
forecast revenue growth rate, operating cost,
terminal growth rate, and discount rate in the
forecasts, by making reference to the historical
performance and future business plans of the CGU
and by benchmarking those assumptions to our
independent market analysis; and

o We challenged management’s sensitivity calculations
over the CGU. We determined that the calculations
were most sensitive to the assumptions for revenue
growth rates and discount rates. We calculated the
degree to which these assumptions would need
to change before an impairment conclusion was
triggered.

Based on the procedures described, we found that the
key assumptions, judgements and estimates made by the
management in respect of the impairment assessment
were supported by available evidence.
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Key Audit Matters

How our audit addressed the Key Audit Matters

Impairment assessment of goodwiill, property, plant and equipment and right-of-use assets of banner

printing segment

Refer to Notes 2.8, 2.9, 2.10, 2.25, 4(a), 5, 13, 14
and 15 to the consolidated financial statements.

The Group’s banner printing segment has goodwill,
property, plant and equipment and right-of-use assets
amounting to approximately HK$35.8 million as of 31
March 2022, representing approximately 10.5% of the
Group’s total assets.

The deteriorated economic environment and uncertain
outlook of the banner printing segment following the
outbreak of the COVID-19 pandemic for the year
ended 31 March 2022 represented an impairment
indicator of goodwill, property, plant and equipment
and right-of-use assets within the banner printing
segment.

In this regard, management performed an assessment
on impairment of goodwill, property, plant and
equipment and right-of-use assets of the banner
printing segment by using value-in-use calculation
to determine the recoverable amount and concluded
that there was no impairment of goodwill, property,
plant and equipment and right-of-use assets. This
judgement is based on the recoverable amount, being
the higher of the fair value less costs of disposal and
value in use, exceeding the book carrying amount
of the banner printing segment, including goodwill,
property, plant and equipment and right-of-use assets.

In carrying out the impairment assessment, significant
judgements are required to estimate the recoverable
amount, taking into consideration the future cash
flows of banner printing segment based on the latest
approved financial budget for the next five years and
a number of other assumptions, including growth rate,
gross margin and the discount rate, applied to the
future cash flows.
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In assessing the appropriateness of the management’s
impairment assessment of goodwill, property, plant and
equipment and right-of-use assets of banner printing
segment, the following audit procedures have been
performed by us:

° We assessed the inherent risk of material
misstatement by considering the degree of
estimation uncertainty and level of other inherent
risk factors involved in the value-in-use estimation
such as subjectivity;

° We evaluated management’s financial budget
and future cash flow forecast by understanding
the process by which they were drawn up, and
testing the mathematical accuracy of the underlying
calculation;

° We assessed the reasonableness of the key
assumptions used in the cash flow forecast
by (i) comparing the projected revenue growth
and gross profit margin growth to the historical
sales performance and historical profit margin of
the banner printing segment, (i) benchmarking
these key assumptions against other comparable
companies in the industry and (iiij checking these
key assumptions against actual results in the period
subsequent to the year end;

° We evaluated the discount rate by assessing the
cost of capital of the Group and referencing the cost
of capital of other comparable companies in the
industry and with the involvement of our valuation
specialists; and

o We obtained and evaluated management’s
sensitivity analysis of the cash flow forecast by
considering downside scenarios against reasonable
possible changes to the key assumptions.

Based on the procedures described, we found that the
key assumptions, judgements and estimates made by the
management in respect of the impairment assessment
were supported by available evidence.
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Key Audit Matters

How our audit addressed the Key Audit Matters

Impairment assessment of other financial assets at amortised cost

Refer to Notes 2.11, 3.1(b)(ii) and 23 to the
consolidated financial statements.

The Group had other financial assets at amortised
cost of approximately HK$36.6 million as at 31 March
2022.

Management assessed the provision of expected
credit loss of approximately HK$2.3 million against the
other financial assets at amortised costs. Management
determined the default rate by engaging an external
valuer to perform valuation. Management estimated
the level of expected loss, with reference to historical
observed default rates, loss given default rates of
comparable companies and industry, and forward-
looking economic factors.

We focused on this area due to the magnitude of the
other financial assets at amortised costs. Moreover,
significant judgements and estimates were involved
in estimating the provision of expected credit loss for
other financial assets at amortised cost.
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In assessing the appropriateness of the management’s
impairment assessment of other financial assets at
amortised costs, the following audit procedures have
been performed by us:

° We assessed the inherent risk of material
misstatement by considering the degree of
estimation uncertainty and level of other inherent
risk factors involved in the loss allowance estimation
such as subijectivity;

. We assessed the competency and objectivity of the
external valuer by considering their qualifications,
relevant experience and relationship with the Group;

o We discussed with the management regarding
the credit control procedures, in particular
credit assessment and the judgement related to
management’s identification of events that triggered
the significant increase in credit risk of other financial
assets at amortised costs and events of default;

° We evaluated the appropriateness of the expected
credit loss provisioning methodology;

° We assessed the reasonableness of key
assumptions, including default rate and loss given
default rate determined by external valuer with
involvement of our valuation specialists;

° We assessed the default loss rate and loss given
default with reference to the borrower’s past
repayment pattern records and the settlement after
the reporting period; and

° We challenged the appropriateness of forward-
looking economic factors applied by management
for the adjustment of the level of expected loss with
involvement of our valuation specialists.

Based on the procedures described, we found the key
judgements and assumptions made by management in
respect of the impairment assessment of other financial
assets at amortised cost were supported by the available
evidence.
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Independent Auditor’s Report
BN B AR

Other Information

The directors of the Company are responsible for the other
information. The other information comprises all of the information
included in the annual report other than the consolidated financial
statements and our auditor’s report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not
cover the other information and we do not express any form of
assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial
statements, our responsibility is to read the other information and,
in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially
inconsistent with the consolidated financial statements or our
knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to be
materially misstated.

If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that there
is a material misstatement of this other information, we are required
to report that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.

Responsibilities of Directors and Audit
Committee for the Consolidated Financial
Statements

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation
of the consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair
view in accordance with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA and the
disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance,
and for such internal control as the directors determine is necessary
to enable the preparation of consolidated financial statements that
are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors are
responsible for assessing the Group’s ability to continue as a going
concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern
and using the going concern basis of accounting unless the
directors either intend to liquidate the Group or to cease operations,
or have no realistic alternative but to do so.

The Audit Committee is responsible for overseeing the Group’s
financial reporting process.
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Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of
the Consolidated Financial Statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether
the consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue
an auditor’s report that includes our opinion. We report our opinion
solely to you, as a body, and for no other purpose. We do not
assume responsibility towards or accept liability to any other person
for the contents of this report. Reasonable assurance is a high level
of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in
accordance with HKSAs will always detect a material misstatement
when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are
considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could
reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of
users taken on the basis of these consolidated financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise
professional judgement and maintain professional skepticism
throughout the audit. We also:

° Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the
consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or
error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to
those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of
not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is
higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve
collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or
the override of internal control.

° Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the
audit in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate
in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an
opinion on the effectiveness of the Group’s internal control.

° Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used
and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and related
disclosures made by the directors.

Independent Auditor’s Report
B A AR
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Independent Auditor’s Report
BN B AR

Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of
the Consolidated Financial Statements
(Continued)

Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the
going concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit
evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists
related to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt
on the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern. If we
conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to
draw attention in our auditor’s report to the related disclosures
in the consolidated financial statements or, if such disclosures
are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are
based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our
auditor’s report. However, future events or conditions may
cause the Group to cease to continue as a going concern.

Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the
consolidated financial statements, including the disclosures,
and whether the consolidated financial statements represent
the underlying transactions and events in a manner that
achieves fair presentation.

Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the
financial information of the entities or business activities within
the Group to express an opinion on the consolidated financial
statements. We are responsible for the direction, supervision
and performance of the group audit. We remain solely
responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with the Audit Committee regarding, among other
matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and significant
audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal
control that we identify during our audit.

We also provide the Audit Committee with a statement that
we have complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding
independence, and to communicate with them all relationships
and other matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on our
independence, and where applicable, actions taken to eliminate
threats or safeguard applied.
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Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of
the Consolidated Financial Statements
(Continued)

From the matters communicated with the Audit Committee,
we determine those matters that were of most significance in
the audit of the consolidated financial statements of the current
period and are therefore the key audit matters. We describe
these matters in our auditor’s report unless law or regulation
precludes public disclosure about the matter or when, in extremely
rare circumstances, we determine that a matter should not be
communicated in our report because the adverse consequences
of doing so would reasonably be expected to outweigh the public
interest benefits of such communication.

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this independent
auditor’s report is Wilson Chan.

PricewaterhouseCoopers
Certified Public Accountants

Hong Kong, 19 August 2022

Independent Auditor’s Report
PRV S S\ Fareen
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Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income

BOtEERER

For the year ended 31 March 2022
HE_ZT-_—_F=-A=Z+—HLHFE

2022 2021
—=-= T —F
HK$’000 HK$’000
FTHEx FHET
Revenue I 38 5 306,020 266,902
Cost of sales S P AR 8 (194,198) (163,649)
Gross profit EH 111,822 103,253
Other income = AL ON 6 3,301 2,665
Other (losses)/gains — net HAh (F518) e —F5 7 (4,151) 1,414
Selling and distribution expenses HE RN HAX 8 (28,484) (25,570)
Administrative expenses THHEX 8 (77,121) (60,802)
Impairment losses on financial assets TREEREEE (185) (685)
Operating profit _ _ ________E&«N 5182 20275
Finance income EE WA 10 3,180 3,333
Finance costs & B A 10 (1,080) (1,553)
Financeincome -net  EAMATFE 0 2100 1,780
Share of losses of associates FEAG B & A R E 1R 17 (660) (1,441)
Share of (losses)/profits of joint ventures fE(E A& (E5E) %F 18 (708) 375
e (1368) (1,066)
Profit before income tax B BT 1S B B g A1 5,914 20,989
Income tax expense Frisif 11 (2,178) (1,650)
Profit for the year F R 3,736 19,339
Other comprehensive (loss)/income: Hipgr e (BR) s
Item that may be reclassified to AREERT R BB A -
profit or loss:
Release of exchange reserve to profit or B8 E3 — R B & A 7)1 2 pUE &
loss upon closure of an associate HEEER - 171
Currency translation differences PE X ZE%R (50) 1,140
Total other comprehensive Hibtrd (BB g
(loss)/income, net of tax MR IA (50) 1,311
Total comprehensive income FAGER=RTE
for the year 3,686 20,650
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Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income
aftEE e &

For the year ended 31 March 2022
HE_Z-_—_F-A=+—HIEE

2022 2021
—=-= - —F
Note HK$’000 HK$’000
Bt &E THEx FET
Profit for the year attributable to: AT EIBREFAREN:
— Equity holders of the Company —ARAERFEA 2,097 19,009
— Non-controlling interests — JE PR i 2 1,639 330
3,736 19,339
Earnings per share for profit attributable FRARQ AIEZEFHH A
to equity holders of the Company JE 15 % A B & % & 7
during the year
— Basic and diluted (expressed —HEAREE (IRER
in HK cents per share) AILET) 12 0.38 3.46
Total comprehensive income for T EIBERIEFA
the year attributable to: NN G CECR
— Equity holders of the Company —AREIERFEA 2,050 20,297
— Non-controlling interests —FEIE R 2 1,636 353
3,686 20,650

The above consolidated statement of comprehensive income b it & B 4x & UK 25 2% FE B2 55 B Bt 58 — 6F
should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes. B -
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

SO BRI &

As at 31 March 2022
RZE-—HF=HA=+—H

2022 2021
—8s=-=
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FET
Assets BE
Non-current assets FERBEE
Property, plant and equipment %1% - B K& 15 13 98,815 101,106
Right-of-use assets ERAERE 14 11,910 20,206
Intangible assets B EE 15 7,904 725
Other financial assets RSN BR 2
at amortised cost EtemEE 23 34,570 33,643
Investments in associates REE AR E 17 1,421 681
Investments in joint ventures REELENKEE 18 12,303 13,078
Deferred income tax assets RIEFTSTE E 30 2,379 3,059
Deposits and prepayments e RIERMRIE 22 1,780 770
171,082 173,268
Current assets MEEE
Inventories e 20 9,562 6,614
Trade receivables H 5 e W IE 21 4,297 4,982
Deposits, prepayments and e FBRFIARE MR IR
other receivables 22 15,459 8,335
Other financial assets RE AT ER 2
at amortised cost HEtemEE 23 2,075 11,953
Financial assets at fair value FRBmEARBEYEZ
through profit or loss EREE 24 18,106 19,185
Amounts due from related JE UK B3 2 B 3B
companies 35 1,076 250
Cash and cash equivalents BehBELEEEE 25 113,911 106,565
... 164,486 157,884
Total assets BEMLTE 335,568 331,152
Equity e a
Capital and reserves attributable N2 Bl #5158 AR E A &
to the equity holders of G
the Company
Share capital & 7 26 5,500 5,500
Share premium B 15 % B 26 132,921 132,921
Other reserves Eith 27 103,377 105,727
241,798 244,148
Non-controlling interests IR 8,470 6,507
Total equity M AA%E 250,268 250,655
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

BB E

As at 31 March

2022

RZE-_—_#=A=+—H

2022 2021
—==-=
HK$’000 HK$'000
FTHExT FET
Liabilities af
Non-current liabilities FERBEE
Lease liabilities HEAE 14 3,493 2,053
Other payables H b T 3R 28 173 470
Deferred income tax liabilities — EIEFTSTH B & 30 5,349 6,009
I 9,015 .1 8,532
Current liabilities nREBE
Trade payables 2 5 RIE 28 11,951 7,186
Accruals and other payables — FE&TFRIE & H 4th FE - 5KIB 28 31,072 26,005
Borrowings BE 29 26,216 19,904
Lease liabilities HEARE 14 6,221 17,513
Amounts due to related parties &1 818 5 A 35 200 201
Amounts due to directors B EEFIA 35 195 165
Current income tax payable JERTE BIRTE 430 991
e 76285 71,965
Totallabiities  EEm® 85300 80497 _
Total equity and liabilities BmkBEBE 335,568 331,152

The above consolidated statement of financial position should be
read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.

The consolidated financial statements on pages 142 to 263 were
approved by the Board of Directors on 19 August 2022 and were

signed on its behalf.

Mr. She Siu Kee William
RBEXE

Director

EF

bt A BF B 75 IR R 3R FE HEBE B B R — fF

F142E263E FIE A HY BEHRRER =
T _FNATHhBESESeHE
THEERERESR-

Mr. Chong Cheuk Ki
HEHEE

Director

EF
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity
EOEREER

For the year ended 31 March 2022
 E_T - —F=A=1+—HIFE

Attributable to equity holders of the Company
ARARERE AR
Non-
Share Share Capital Other  Exchange  Retained controlling

capital  premium reserve reserve reserve  earnings  Sub-total interests Total
RE&  ROEE EARE ARG HERE  REEA Nt FBRRESR ag
HK$000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HKS'000  HK$000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HKS$'000
TER TER TER TER TER TER TER TER TER

Balanceat1Apil 2020 R-B-RFMA-AEH 5600 1e9n 658 @) (6N 8255 | 223851 614 280005
Comprehensive income GakE
Profit for the year FREH - - - - - 19,009 19,009 330 19,339
Other comprehensive income HthialE
Release of exchange reserve to profit or BB — B A R B HIE S

loss upon closure of an associate  EEZEH - - - - il - 171 - il
Currency translation differences ELER
- Group s - - - - 206 - 206 23 229
- Joint ventures and associates -REEREEAT - - - - ot - o1 - ot
Total comprehensive income GERRAE - - - - 1,088 19,009 20,297 353 20,650
Balance at 31 March 2021 W-B--§Zf=+-B&H 550 162920 6,503 P 319 10153 244148 6507 250,655

146 eprint Group Limited Annual Report 2021/22



Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity
A GH i B8 %

For the year ended 31 March 2022

E T —F-_A=t+—HIEE

Attributable to equity holders of the Company

RRRAEEEEARE
Non-
Share Share Capital Other  Exchange  Retained controlling
capital  premium reserve reserve reserve  earnings  Sub-total interests
kA ROEE AAEE  EtEE  NERE  REEAN NGt FEERER et
HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000 HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000
TERT TART TEn TAn TEn TEn Thn AR
Balance at 1 April 2021 R-B--ENA-REH 5,500 132,921 6,593 (21) (2,379) 101,534 244,148 6,507 250,655
Comprehensive income FakE
Profit for the year FREF - - - - - 2,097 2,097 1,639 3,736
Other comprehensive income EtGahE
Currency translation differences EXZE
- Group ~-5%0E - - - - 20 - 20 &) 17
- Joint ventures and associates ~RELERBENT - - - - (67) - (67) - (67)
Tot comprehensive income _ AEWiAE S o S SO L . S T ..
Transactions with owners, EERNERRRNRRBANR S
recognised directly in equity
Non-controling interests arisngon £ BAHELRIERRER
business combination - - - - - - - 209 209
Capital inection from non-controling ~ 3E{E k€3 &
interests - - - - - - - 118 118
Divicends (Note 31) TRE (HzE31) - - - - - (4,400) (4,400 - (4,400)
Total transactions with owners, ~ ERWNERBRANREEAN
recognised directly in equity B35 - - - - - (4,400) (4,400) 327 (4,073)
Balance at 31 March 2022 WZB-ZZE=-fA=1-HEH 5,500 132,921 6,593 (21) (2,426) 99,231 241,798 8,470 250,268
The above consolidated statement of changes in equity should be it & Bf 4% 25 % B 3K & B2 55 B Fft 58 — 6F
read in conjunction with the accompanying notes. (e 3E °
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows

BHRERER

For the year ended 31 March 2022
(E- R CF=A=1T—HIFE

2022 2021
-

Note HK$’000 HK$'000
HY TERT TATT

KEEHEENIRESRE

Cash flows from operating activities

Cash generated from operations BEBELEMNRSE 32(a) 40,082 55,019
Interest paid EARHE (435) (450)
Income tax paid =N %R (2,861) (3,085)
Net cash generated from operating LB ELEMIR e TR

activities 36,786 51,484
Cash flows from investing activities KRERHEENBRERE
Purchase of property, plant and equipment B E W% - ME L& (11,882) (3,977)
Prepayment for purchase of property, BEY % Jﬁﬁ% &L

plant and equipment SCANES (317) -
Proceeds from disposals of property, HEM % Jﬁﬁ & D)

plant and equipment FriS 38 32(b) 1 191
Proceeds on redemption of other financial & [a] 1% # SRR ARBIBE 7 Efth

assets at amortised cost EREEZERIE 13,238 3,200
Proceeds on disposal of financial assets at & & @BERIE AR fEE3)

fair value through profit or loss R e RMEEMEHRIE - 13,247
Investment in other financial assets at PR B A B BE 2 E e

amortised cost BEE E’J wE (4,090) (34,991)
Investment in financial assets at fair value R FEBERIZ AL BEYE

through profit or loss JERMEEMNRE (3,009) (5,025)
Investment in associates RELE QRN E 17 (1,400) (500)
Interest received B U F B 2,910 3,101
Acquisition of subsidiaries W BB R B A A 33 (5,791) -
Dividend received from an associate REBE AT 2B WKRE 17 - 785
Net cash used in investing activities KEREFMARS FE (10,340) (23,969)
Cash flows from financing activities MERHELEANBERE
Proceeds from borrowings BEMEHIE 32(c) 28,065 2,873
Repayments of borrowings EEEE 32(0) (21,936) (4,126)
Principal element of lease payments HMENRAE S 32(0) (20,258) (20,193)
Interest paid EAFE 32(c) (645) (1,103)
Dividends paid BATRR & 31 (4,400) -
Net cash used in financing activities REREBAMAMNBSFE (19,174) (22,549)
Net increase in cash and cash equivalents IR& &IR&HEBH

BNFEEE 7,272 4,966

Cash and cash equivalents FYReRREEMEIEHE

at beginning of year 106,565 101,525
Effect of change in exchange rates REFFH T E 74 74
Cash and cash equivalents at end of year FHRIBE MBS HEIEH 25 113,911 106,565
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2.1

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

General information

eprint Group Limited (the “Company”) was incorporated in
the Cayman Islands on 10 January 2013 as an exempted
company with limited liability under the Companies Law
(Revised) of the Cayman Islands. The Company’s address of
its registered office is 4th Floor, Harbour Place, 103 South
Church Street, George Town, P.O. Box 10240, Grand Cayman
KY1-1002, Cayman Islands.

The Company is an investment holding company. The
activities of its principal subsidiaries, associates and joint
ventures are set out in Notes 16, 17 and 18, respectively.

The consolidated financial statements of the Company and
its subsidiaries (together, the “Group”) are presented in Hong
Kong dollars, unless otherwise stated.

Summary of significant accounting
policies

This note provides a list of the significant accounting policies
adopted in the preparation of these consolidated financial
statements to the extent they have not already been disclosed
in the other notes. These policies have been consistently
applied to all the years presented, unless otherwise stated.

Basis of preparation

The consolidated financial statements of the Company have
been prepared in accordance with Hong Kong Financial
Reporting Standards (“HKFRS”) issued by Hong Kong Institute
of Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA”) and disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance (Cap.
622).

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared
under the historical cost convention, as modified by the
revaluation of financial assets at fair value through profit or
loss, which are carried at fair value.

2.1

RO BRI EE

—REHR

eprintS B AR QA ([AAAE]) R
—E-=F-ATHERERSHS
REAE(KEFT)RHASHSEM
R BERRBER QA ANRQAEGF
fift #% == B2 M 4iE A 4th Floor, Harbour
Place, 103 South Church Street,
George Town, P.O. Box 10240,
Grand Cayman KY1-1002, Cayman
Islands °

KARBREER AR -EF EH
BAn BMEAARAELEZE
o RIS FE16 ~ 1718 °

BRAHRAN ARRREKEB R
A (% [AEE ] GBI RE
BB TE®

TEEHBERRBE

AHFEINE R BEZEF S G5 H
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BN EBRRRAEZIH
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ARAIMEHEBHRERDBIERR
GEE g ([BRSFMAE])R
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HEER ) RBEEDF622EF
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

=)

R Ml et

2 Summary of significant accounting
pOliCieS (Continued)

2 FEESHBERBEw

2.1 Basis of preparation (continueq) 21 REEE (@)
The preparation of financial statements in conformity with KBREBMBRE LR R
HKFRS requires the use of certain critical accounting WMRABAFRHETERNSFEE N
estimates. It also requires management to exercise its EREEBEENREARNER S EGE
judgement in the process of applying the Group’s accounting s 1 H It o
policies.
2.2 Changes in accounting policy and disclosures SRR RFEETE
(a)  Amended standards and revised conceptual framework (@) A EEEEERANEIAASET R R
adopted by the Group AEIEET B HESE
The Group has applied the following amendments and AEECDRBANULTERTRERS
revised conceptual framework for the financial year R SIER  ZEBINR_T

beginning 1 April 2021 and are relevant to its operations:

Amendments to HKFRS 16

BAMBWELERIE165 2 EFTA

Amendments to HKAS 39, HKFRS 7, HKFRS 9,
HKFRS 4 and HKFRS 16

ARG EAEIN - FEMBREEAETHR
BAMBWEERNEN BAEYBWMEERSE
457 R BB M B RS E R 165 2 BR] A

The amendments and conceptual framework listed
above did not have any impact on the amounts
recognised in prior periods and are not expected to

significantly affect the current or future periods.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

2 Summary of significant accounting
pOliCieS (Continued)

2.2 Changes in accounting policy and disclosures
(Continued)

(b)  New standard, amendments, annual improvement,
interpretation and revised guideline which are not yet
effective for this financial period and have not been early
adopted by the Group

Certain new accounting standards, amendments to
existing standards and annual improvements have been
published that are not mandatory for 31 March 2022
reporting periods and have not been early adopted by
the Group. These standards are not expected to have
a material impact on the entity in the current or future
reporting periods and on foreseeable future transactions:

Amendments to annual improvements project
FEHEER ZEBFIA
Amendments to HKAS 1

BB RSB IR 2B AR

Amendments to HKAS 1 and Practice
Statement 2

BEREHERE IR REBREE2R2EAR

Amendments to HKAS 8

—T-N\FE_Z

S HERIKE

B H I ERRK

2 FESTHHERBFEw

22 S BKRESHRIFESTE o)

©)

Annual Improvements 2018-2020 cycle
“TERABFESE
Presentation of Financial Statements on
Classification of Liabilities
BEIBEZMBRERET

Disclosure of Accounting Policies

=

SNV ST BN WS S
B AELE R IR Z 35T ER - &
AT FRIE R RERAEER
755/

BT HaIgsr &R 8 A EE]
METTAREEREZBEHBE
BER-_ZE-_—_F=ZA=+—
HREMMEASER  mAS%
ENEREEM -ZEERTE
HA 8 & 3 N 3R 25 BB R sk ok 2K
HEPENEREERE TR
KRR GBERERTE

Effective for
annual periods
beginning

on or after
RUTHEH
R BARMN
FEHBEX

1 January 2022
—_E__¥—H—H
1 January 2023

—2-=%—A—H
1 January 2023

—E-=%—H—H

R LERESR ZEFA
Amendments to HKAS 16

AT ERBI6R 2 BETA
Amendments to HKAS 37

AT EBBITHR ZBETA
Amendments to HKFRS 3
BAM B REERFEIR BT

Definition of Accounting Estimates

B 2ER

Property, Plant and Equipment: Proceeds
before Intended Use

M B KR - BT RE R PTE R
b

Onerous contracts: Costs of
Fulfilling a Contract

ERUESH: BITEHZKAR

Reference to the Conceptual Framework

BSERE S

1 January 2023
—TZ=F—A—H
1 January 2022
—_E__¥—H—H

1 January 2022

“E--#—HA—H
1 January 2022
“E--#—HA—H
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B G R R M L

2 Summary of significant accounting

po licies (Continued)

2.2 Changes in accounting policy and disclosures

(Continued)

2 TEEHREME

22 EHREEHRBESTE o)

(b)  New standard, amendments, annual improvement,

interpretation and revised guideline which are not yet
effective for this financial period and have not been early
adopted by the Group (Continued)

Amendments to HKFRS 10 and HKAS 28

Sale or Contribution of Assets between

(b)  FAET B[] i K A2 A A5
B AELE R IR #TE]ER - (&
G FREEE R FERAEEA
155 (&)

Effective for
annual periods
beginning

on or after
RULT B H#
2 BEARN
FEREEX

Note

an Investor and its Associate or Joint

Venture
BN BREENF10K REB G ER REHEHEBEN
285k ZEFT AR HEITE
HKFRS 3, HKAS 16 and HKAS 37
(Amendments)

S
S
N
palll’
_‘

BN BREERNEIR BB G L
165 R BB G ERIFEI7H 2 BT

HKFRS 17

BRMBHREERETHR

Hong Kong Interpretation 5 (2020)

BERREESR (ZT-Z4)

Revised Accounting Guideline 5

REA L
MBERERLT

Combination
KIEET 2T 15| E55%

Note: To be announced by HKICPA

The Group will adopt the new standards, amendments,
annual improvement, interpretation and revised guideline
when they become effective. The Group is in the
process of assessing the adoption of the new standards,
amendments, annual improvements, interpretation and
revised guideline and it is not expected to have any
significant impact on the results and the financial position
of the Group.
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Narrow-scope Amendments

Insurance Contracts
Presentation of Financial Statements
Merger Accounting for Common Control

HREH A HOAMEEA

Bl

1 January 2022
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2.3

2.3.1

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

Summary of significant accounting
pOIiCieS (Continued)

Subsidiaries

Consolidation

Subsidiaries are all entities (including structured entities) over
which the Group has control. The Group controls an entity
when the Group is exposed to, or has rights to, variable
returns from its involvement with the entity and has the ability
to affect those returns through its power over the entity.
Subsidiaries are consolidated from the date on which control
is transferred to the Group. They are deconsolidated from the
date that control ceases.

Intra-group transactions, balances and unrealised gains
on transactions between Group companies are eliminated.
Unrealised losses are also eliminated. When necessary
amounts reported by subsidiaries have been adjusted to
conform with the Group’s accounting policies.

@

Business combinations

The Group applies the acquisition method to account for
business combinations. The consideration transferred
for the acquisition of a subsidiary is the fair values of the
assets transferred, the liabilities incurred to the former
owners of the acquiree and the equity interests issued
by the Group. The consideration transferred includes
the fair value of any asset or liability resulting from a
contingent consideration arrangement. Identifiable assets
acquired and liabilities and contingent liabilities assumed
in a business combination are measured initially at their
fair values at the acquisition date.

The Group recognises any non-controlling interests in
the acquiree on an acquisition-by-acquisition basis.
Non-controlling interests in the acquiree that are
present ownership interests and entitle their holders to
a proportionate share of the entity’s net assets in the
event of liquidation are measured at either fair value or
the present ownership interests’ proportionate share in
the recognised amounts of the acquiree’s identifiable net
assets. All other components of non-controlling interests
are measured at their acquisition date fair value, unless
another measurement basis is required by HKFRS.

Acquisition-related costs are expensed as incurred.

2.3
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

=)

R Ml et

2 Summary of significant accounting
pOliCieS (Continued)

2.3 Subsidiaries (Continued)

2.3.1 Consolidation (continuea)

(@)

®)

Business combinations (Continued)

If the business combination is achieved in stages, the
acquisition date carrying value of the acquirer’s previously
held equity interest in the acquiree is re-measured to fair
value at the acquisition date; any gains or losses arising
from such re-measurement are recognised in profit and
loss.

Any contingent consideration to be transferred by the
Group is recognised at fair value at the acquisition date.
Subsequent changes to the fair value of the contingent
consideration that is deemed to be an asset or liability
is recognised in accordance with HKAS 39 either in
profit and loss or as a change to other comprehensive
income. Contingent consideration that is classified as
equity is not re-measured, and its subsequent settlement
is accounted for within equity.

The excess of the consideration transferred, the amount
of any non-controlling interest in the acquiree and the
acquisition-date fair value of any previous equity interest
in the acquiree over the fair value of the identifiable net
assets acquired is recorded as goodwill. If the total
of consideration transferred, non-controlling interest
recognised and previously held interest measured is less
than the fair value of the net assets of the subsidiary
acquired in the case of a bargain purchase, the
difference is recognised directly in the profit and loss.

Changes in ownership interests in subsidiaries without
change of control

Transactions with non-controlling interests that do not
result in a loss of control are accounted for as equity
transactions — that is, as transactions with the owners of
the subsidiary in their capacity as owners. The difference
between fair value of any consideration paid and the
relevant share acquired of the carrying value of net
assets of the subsidiary is recorded in equity. Gains or
losses on disposals to non-controlling interests are also
recorded in equity.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
B I TR M T

2 Summary of significant accounting
pOliCieS (Continued)

2.3 Subsidiaries (Continued)

2.3.1 Consolidation (continued)

2 FERHBERE

2.3 B F &)

231 §6f @)

(c)  Closure of subsidiaries

When the Group ceases to consolidate or equity account
for an investment because of a loss of control, any
retained interest in the entity is re-measured to its fair
value at the date when control is lost, with the change
in carrying amount recognised in profit and loss. The
fair value becomes the initial carrying amount for the
purposes of subsequently accounting for the retained
interest as an associate, joint venture or financial asset.
In addition, any amounts previously recognised in other
comprehensive income in respect of that entity are
accounted for as if the Group had directly disposed of
the related assets or liabilities. It means that amounts
previously recognised in other comprehensive income
are reclassified to retained earnings as permitted by
applicable HKFRSs.

2.3.2 Separate financial statements

Investments in subsidiaries are accounted for at cost less
impairment. Cost includes direct attributable costs of
investment. The results of subsidiaries are accounted for
by the Company on the basis of dividend received and
receivable.

Impairment testing of the investments in subsidiaries is
required upon receiving dividends from these investments
if the dividend exceeds the total comprehensive income of
the subsidiary in the period the dividend is declared or if the
carrying amount of the investment in the separate financial
statements exceeds the carrying amount in the consolidated
financial statements of the investee’s net assets including
goodwill.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
B I RER M T

2.4

156

Summary of significant accounting
pOliCieS (Continued)

Associates

Associates are entities over which the Group has significant
influence but not control, generally accompanying a
shareholding of between 20% and 50% of the voting
rights. Investments in associate are accounted for using the
equity method of accounting. Under the equity method, the
investment is initially recognised at cost, and the carrying
amount is increased or decreased to recognise the investor’s
share of the profit and loss of the investee after the date of
acquisition. The Group’s investments in associate include
goodwill identified on acquisition. Upon the acquisition of
the ownership interest in associate, any difference between
the cost of the associate and the Group’s share of the net
fair value of the associate’ identifiable assets and liabilities is
accounted for as goodwill.

If the ownership interest in associate is reduced but significant
influence is retained, only a proportionate share of the
amounts previously recognised in other comprehensive
income is reclassified to profit and loss where appropriate.

The Group’s share of post-acquisition profit or loss is
recognised in the profit and loss, and its share of post-
acquisition movements in other comprehensive income
is recognised in other comprehensive income with a
corresponding adjustment to the carrying amount of the
investment. When the Group’s share of losses in associate
equals or exceeds its interest in the associate, including any
other unsecured receivables, the Group does not recognise
further losses, unless it has incurred legal or constructive
obligations or made payments on behalf of the associate.

The Group determines at each reporting date whether there is
any objective evidence that the investments in the associate
are impaired. If this is the case, the Group calculates
the amount of impairment as the difference between the
recoverable amount of the associate and its carrying value
and recognises the amount adjacent to ‘share of losses of
associates’ in the profit and loss.
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2.4

25

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

Summary of significant accounting
pOliCieS (Continued)

Associates (continued)

Profits and losses resulting from upstream and downstream
transactions between the Group and its associates are
recognised in the Group’s financial statements only to the
extent of unrelated investor’s interests in the associates.
Unrealised losses are eliminated unless the transaction
provides evidence of an impairment of the asset transferred.
Accounting policies of associates have been changed where
necessary to ensure consistency with the policies adopted by
the Group.

Joint arrangement

The Group has applied HKFRS 11 to all joint arrangement.
Under HKFRS 11 investments in joint arrangements are
classified as either joint operations or joint ventures depending
on the contractual rights and obligations of each investor.
The Group has assessed the nature of its joint arrangement
and determined them to be joint venture. Joint venture is
accounted for using the equity method.

Under the equity method of accounting, interest in a joint
venture is initially recognised at cost and adjusted thereafter
to recognise the Group’s share of the post-acquisition profits
or losses and movements in other comprehensive income.
The Group’s investment in a joint venture includes goodwill
identified on acquisition. Upon the acquisition of the ownership
interest in a joint venture, any difference between the cost of
the joint venture and the Group’s share of the net fair value of
the joint venture’s identifiable assets and liabilities is accounted
for as goodwill. When the Group’s share of loss in a joint
venture equals or exceeds its interest in a joint venture (which
includes any long-term interests that, in substance, form part
of the Group’s net investment in the joint ventures), the Group
does not recognise further losses, unless it has incurred
obligations or made payments on behalf of a joint venture.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

Bt BRI 5T
2 Summary of significant accounting

2.5

2.6

2.7

(a)

(b)

158

po licies (Continued)

Joint arrangement (continueq)

Unrealised gains on transactions between the Group and its
joint venture is eliminated to the extent of the Group’s interest
in a joint venture. Unrealised losses are also eliminated unless
the transaction provides evidence of an impairment of the
asset transferred. Accounting policy of a joint venture has
been changed where necessary to ensure consistency with
the policies adopted by the Group.

Segment reporting

Operating segments are reported in a manner consistent with
the internal reporting provided to the chief operating decision-
maker. The chief operating decision-maker, who is responsible
for allocating resources and assessing performance of the
operating segments, has been identified as the chairman and
executive directors of the Group that make strategic decisions.

Foreign currency translation

Functional and presentation currency

ltems included in the financial statements of each of the
Group’s entities are measured using the currency of the
primary economic environment in which the Group operates
(the “functional currency”). The consolidated financial
statements are presented in Hong Kong dollars (‘HK$”), which
is the Group’s functional and presentation currency.

Transactions and balances

Foreign currency transactions are translated into the functional
currency using the exchange rates prevailing at the dates of
the transactions or valuation where items are re-measured.
Foreign exchange gains and losses resulting from the
settlement of such transactions and from the translation at
year-end exchange rates of monetary assets and liabilities
denominated in foreign currencies are recognised in the profit
and loss.

Foreign exchange gains and losses that relate to borrowings
and cash and cash equivalents are presented in the profit
and loss. All other foreign exchange gains and losses are
presented in profit and loss within ‘Other (losses)/gains — net’.
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2.7

(c)

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

Summary of significant accounting
pOliCieS (Continued)

Foreign currency translation (continued)

Group companies

The results and financial position of all the Group entities (none
of which has the currency of a hyper-inflationary economy)
that have a functional currency different from the presentation
currency are translated into the presentation currency as
follows:

()  assets and liabilities for each consolidated statement of
financial position presented are translated at the closing
rate at the reporting date;

(i) income and expenses for each profit and loss are
translated at average exchange rates (unless this average
is not a reasonable approximation of the cumulative
effect of the rates prevailing on the transaction dates, in
which case income and expenses are translated at the
rate on the dates of the transactions); and

(i) all resulting exchange differences are recognised in other
comprehensive income.

On consolidation, exchange differences arising from the
translation of any net investment in foreign entities are
recognised in other comprehensive income. When a foreign
operation is sold or any borrowings forming part of the net
investment are repaid, the associated exchange differences
are reclassified to profit and loss, as part of the gain or loss on
sale.

Goodwill and fair value adjustments arising on the acquisition
of a foreign entity are treated as assets and liabilities of the
foreign entity and translated at the closing rate. Current
translation differences arising are recognised in other
comprehensive income.

2.7

(c)

B H I ERRK

TEETHRBE ™

IIEBE &)
EELQF

D EBRZINEE TR ZMEBER
SEER (ZSEEHMEAARA
REER2EY) 2 XE MM BIOR
BRIAT I EBRERZNEE

() SAHMBERREZIEE
BB AR B8 W E
EHRH

(i) BERZZBARAZIRFHE
g E (RETFHEXY IR
ERARZAHRTERRER
ENAENE RZBERT W
ARRXERR S B HEE X
BE) Rk

P A 5| ZUE0 [ 5 = B2 H A 4R
B W an B RERR o

(i)

ReEdR TEHREBIIEERZRE
FREBREELNEN ZENEAMER
B W A RE R o fiW B IR E T
EETMEKREREFBEHEKI D
EE HAELEZREFTOHBARRE
@O ERFERAN—Bn-

WEBIEBMELENBRERAA
BEABRORREBIERBNEEK
BE YRR HEXRKRE - ELAH
PE X RN E AR A Ut R

2021/22% R eprint EEMAER AT 159



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
B I RER M T

2.7

(d)

2.8

Summary of significant accounting
pOliCieS (Continued)

Foreign currency translation (continued)

Closure of foreign operation

On the closure of a foreign operation that involving loss
of significant influence over an associate that includes a
foreign operation, all of the currency translation differences
accumulated in equity in respect of that operation attributable
to the owners of the Company are reclassified to profit and
loss.

Property, plant and equipment

Buildings comprise mainly offices. All property, plant and
equipment are stated at historical cost less depreciation.
Historical cost includes expenditure that is directly attributable
to the acquisition of the items.

Subsequent costs are included in the asset’s carrying amount
or recognised as a separate asset, as appropriate, only when
it is probable that future economic benefits associated with
the item will flow to the Group and the cost of the item can be
measured reliably. The carrying amount of the replaced part is
derecognised. All other repairs and maintenance are charged
to in the profit and loss during the period in which they are
incurred.
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2.8

2.9

(a)

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

Summary of significant accounting
pOliCieS (Continued)

Property, plant and equipment (continued)

Depreciation is calculated using the straight-line method to
allocate their cost to their residual values over their estimated
useful lives as follows:

Buildings
Plant and machinery

30 to 50 years
51to 15 years

Leasehold improvements 5 years
Computer, furniture and equipment 5 years
Motor vehicles 5 years

The assets’ residual values and useful lives are reviewed, and
adjusted if appropriate, at the end of each reporting period.

An asset’s carrying amount is written down immediately to its
recoverable amount if the asset’s carrying amount is greater
than its estimated recoverable amount (Note 2.10).

Gains and losses on disposals are determined by comparing
proceeds with the carrying amount and are recognised in the
profit and loss.

Intangible assets

Goodwill

Goodwill arises on the acquisition of subsidiaries represents
the excess of the consideration transferred, the amount of any
non-controlling interest in the acquiree and the acquisition-
date fair value of any previous equity interest in the acquiree
over the fair value of the identified net assets acquired.
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B I RER M T

2.9

(a)

(b)

Summary of significant accounting
pOliCieS (Continued)

Intangible assets (continuea)

Goodwill (continued)

For the purpose of impairment testing, goodwill acquired
in a business combination is allocated to each of the cash-
generating units (“CGUSs”), or groups of CGUs, that is
expected to benefit from the synergies of the combination.
Each unit or group of units to which the goodwill is allocated
represents the lowest level within the entity at which the
goodwill is monitored for internal management purposes.
Goodwill is monitored at the operating segment level.

Goodwill impairment reviews are undertaken annually or more
frequently if events or changes in circumstances indicate a
potential impairment. The carrying value of the CGU containing
the goodwill is compared to the recoverable amount, which
is the higher of value in use and the fair value less costs of
disposal. Any impairment is recognised immediately as an
expense and is not subsequently reversed.

Brand name
Brand name acquired in a business combination is recognised

at fair value at the acquisition date. It has a finite useful life of
5 years.

2.10 Impairment of non-financial assets

Intangible assets that have an indefinite useful life or intangible
assets not ready to use are not subject to amortisation and
are tested annually for impairment. Assets that are subject to
amortisation are reviewed for impairment whenever events or
changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount
may not be recoverable. An impairment loss is recognised for
the amount by which the asset’s carrying amount exceeds its
recoverable amount. The recoverable amount is the higher of
an asset’s fair value less costs to sell and value in use. For the
purposes of assessing impairment, assets are grouped at the
lowest levels for which there are separately identifiable cash
flows (cash-generating units). Non-financial assets other than
goodwill that suffered an impairment are reviewed for possible
reversal of the impairment at each reporting date.
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2.1

(a)

(b)

(c)

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

Summary of significant accounting
pOliCieS (Continued)

Investments and other financial assets

Classification

The Group classifies its financial assets and liabilities in the
following categories:

° those to be measured subsequently at fair through profit
or loss, and

° those to be measured at amortised cost.

The classification depends on the entity’s business model for
managing the financial assets and the contractual terms of the
cash flows.

For assets measured at fair value, gains and losses will be
recorded in profit and loss.

The Group reclassifies debt investments when and only when
its business model for managing those assets changes.

Recognition and derecognition

Regular way purchases and sales of financial assets are
recognised on the trade-date — the date on which the Group
commits to purchase or sell the asset. Financial assets are
derecognised when the rights to receive cash flows from the
investments have expired or have been transferred and the
Group has transferred substantially all risks and rewards of
ownership.

Measurement

At initial recognition, the Group measures a financial asset at
its fair value plus, in the case of a financial asset not at fair
value through profit or loss, transaction costs that are directly
attributable to the acquisition of the financial asset. Transaction
costs of financial assets carried at fair value through profit or
loss are expensed in profit and loss.

Financial assets with embedded derivatives are considered in
their entirety when determining whether their cash flows are
solely payment of principal and interest.
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B I RER M T

2

2.11

(c)

164

Summary of significant accounting
pOliCieS (Continued)

Investments and other financial assets (continueq)

Measurement (Continuead)
Debt instruments

Subsequent measurement of debt instruments depends on
the Group’s business model for managing the asset and
the cash flow characteristics of the asset. There are two
measurement categories into which the Group classifies its
debt instruments:

° Amortised cost: Assets that are held for collection of
contractual cash flows where those cash flows represent
solely payments of principal and interest are measured
at amortised cost. Interest income from these financial
assets is included in finance income using the effective
interest rate method. Any gain or loss arising on
derecognition is recognised directly in profit and loss and
presented in “other (losses)/gains — net” together with
foreign exchange gains and losses. Impairment losses
are presented as separate line item in profit and loss.

° Fair value through profit or loss: Assets that do not
meet the criteria for amortised cost or fair value through
other comprehensive income are measured at fair
value through profit or loss. A gain or loss on a debt
investment that is subsequently measured at fair value
through profit or loss is recognised in profit and loss and
presented net within other (losses)/gains — net in the
period in which it arises.

Equity instruments

The Group subsequently measures all equity investments
at fair value. Where the Group’s management has elected
to present fair value gains and losses on equity investments
in other comprehensive income, there is no subsequent
reclassification of fair value gains and losses to profit or loss
following the derecognition of the investment. Dividends from
such investments continue to be recognised in profit or loss
as other income when the Group’s right to receive payments
is established.

Changes in the fair value of financial assets at fair value

through profit or loss are recognised in other (losses)/gains —
net in the profit and loss.
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2.1

(d)

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

Summary of significant accounting
pOliCieS (Continued)

Investments and other financial assets (continueq)

Impairment

The Group assesses on a forward looking basis the expected
credit losses associated with its debt instruments carried
at amortised cost. The impairment methodology applied
depends on whether there has been a significant increase in
credit risk.

For trade receivables, the Group applies the simplified
approach permitted by HKFRS 9, which requires expected
lifetime losses to be recognised from initial recognition of the
receivables, see Note 3.1(b) for further details.

For other financial assets at amortised cost, including cash
and cash equivalents, deposits and other receivables, other
financial assets at amortised cost, and amounts due from
related companies, the Group applies general approach
permitted by HKFRS 9, which uses 3-stage expected credit
loss model to recognise the loss allowance from initial
recognition. See Note 3.1(b) for details.

For financial assets at fair value through profit or loss, are not
subject to review for impairment as the impairment losses
would include in the fair value changes and recognised in
other (losses)/gains — net in the profit and loss.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
B I RER M T

2 FESHHERBFEw

2 Summary of significant accounting
pOliCieS (Continued)

212EEmM T A

2.12 Offsetting financial instruments

Financial assets and liabilities are offset and the net amount BA AL bR DK fﬁ' Eﬁ%ﬁm
reported in the statement of financial position when there is R VTEEBRFBELELEES

a legally enforceable right to offset the recognised amounts AREHREEMMGEAGER &/
and there is an intention to settle on a net basis or realise
the asset and settle the liability simultaneously. The legally
enforceable right must not be contingent on future events and
must be enforceable in the normal course of business and in
the event of default, insolvency or bankruptcy of the company
or the counterparty.

2.13 Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable
value. Cost is determined using the first-in, first-out (FIFO)
method. The cost of inventories comprises materials to be
consumed in the rendering of services. It excludes borrowing
costs. Net realisable value is the estimated selling price in the
ordinary course of business, less applicable variable selling
expenses.

2.14 Trade and other receivables

Trade receivables are amounts due from customers for good
sold or services performed in the ordinary course of business.
If collection of trade and other receivables is expected in one
year or less (or in the normal operating cycle of the business
if longer), they are classified as current assets. If not, they are
presented as non-current assets.

Trade and other receivables are recognised initially at fair
value and subsequently measured at amortised cost using
the effective interest method, less provision for impairment.
See Note 2.11 for further information about the Group’s
accounting for trade receivables and description of the
Group’s impairment policies.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

2 Summary of significant accounting
pOliCieS (Continued)

2.15 Cash and cash equivalents

In the consolidated statement of cash flows, cash and cash
equivalents include cash in hand, deposits held at call with
banks.

2.16 Share capital

Ordinary shares are classified as equity. Incremental costs
directly attributable to the issue of new shares or options are
shown in equity as a deduction, net of tax, from the proceeds.

2.17 Trade and other payables

Trade payables are obligation to pay for goods or services that
have been acquired in the ordinary course of business from
suppliers. Trade and other payables are classified as current
liabilities if payment is due within one year or less (or in the
normal operating cycle of the business if longer). If not, they
are presented as non-current liabilities.

Trade and other payables are recognised initially at fair value
and subsequently measured at amortised cost using the
effective interest method.

2.18 Borrowings

Borrowings are recognised initially at fair value, net of
transaction costs incurred. Borrowings are subsequently
carried at amortised cost; any difference between the
proceeds (net of transaction costs) and the redemption value
is recognised in the profit and loss over the period of the
borrowings using the effective interest method.

Borrowings are classified as current liabilities unless the Group
has an unconditional right to defer settlement of the liability for
at least 12 months after the end of the reporting period.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
B I RER M T

2

Summary of significant accounting
pOliCieS (Continued)

2.19 Borrowings costs

General and specific borrowing costs directly attributable to
the acquisition, construction or production of qualifying assets,
which are assets that necessarily take a substantial period
of time to get ready for their intended use or sale, are added
to the cost of those assets, until such time as the assets are
substantially ready for their intended use or sale.

Investment income earned on the temporary investment of
specific borrowings pending their expenditure on qualifying
assets is deducted from the borrowing costs eligible for
capitalisation.

All other borrowing costs are recognised in profit and loss in
the period in which they are incurred.

2.20 Current and deferred income tax

(a)

The income tax expense or credit for the period is the tax
payable on the current period’s taxable income based on the
applicable income tax rate for each jurisdiction adjusted by
changes in deferred tax assets and liabilities attributable to
temporary differences and to unused tax losses.

Current income tax

The current income tax charge is calculated on the basis of
the tax laws enacted or substantively enacted at the year
end date in the countries where the Company’s subsidiaries,
associates and a joint venture operate and generate taxable
income. Management periodically evaluates positions taken in
tax returns with respect to situations in which applicable tax
regulation is subject to interpretation. It establishes provisions
where appropriate on the basis of amounts expected to be
paid to the tax authorities.
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2

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

Summary of significant accounting
pOliCieS (Continued)

2.20 Current and deferred income tax (continued)

(b)

Deferred income tax

Deferred income tax is provided in full, using the liability
method, on temporary differences arising between the tax
bases of assets and liabilities and their carrying amounts in
the consolidated financial statements. However, deferred
tax liabilities are not recognised if they arise from the initial
recognition of goodwill. Deferred income tax is also not
accounted for if it arises from initial recognition of an asset or
liability in a transaction other than a business combination that
at the time of the transaction affects neither accounting nor
taxable profit or loss. Deferred income tax is determined using
tax rates (and laws) that have been enacted or substantially
enacted by the end of the reporting period and are expected
to apply when the related deferred income tax asset is realised
or the deferred income tax liability is settled.

Deferred tax assets are recognised only if it is probable
that future taxable amounts will be available to utilise those
temporary differences and losses.

Deferred tax liabilities and assets are not recognised for
temporary differences between the carrying amount and tax
bases of investments in foreign operations where the company
is able to control the timing of the reversal of the temporary
differences and it is probable that the differences will not
reverse in the foreseeable future.

Deferred income tax assets and liabilities are offset when
there is a legally enforceable right to offset current tax assets
against current tax liabilities and when the deferred income
taxes assets and liabilities relate to income taxes levied by
the same taxation authority on either the taxable entity or
different taxable entities where there is an intention to settle
the balances on a net basis or to realise the asset and settle
the liability simultaneously.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
B I RER M T

2

Summary of significant accounting
pOliCieS (Continued)

2.20 Current and deferred income tax (continued)

(b)

2.21

Deferred income tax (Continued)

Current and deferred tax is recognised in profit and loss,
except to the extent that it relates to items recognised in
other comprehensive income or directly in equity. In this case,
the tax is also recognised in other comprehensive income or
directly in equity, respectively.

Provisions

Provisions for legal claims are recognised when: the Group
has a present legal or constructive obligation as a result of
past events; it is probable that an outflow of resources will
be required to settle the obligation; and the amount has been
reliably estimated. Provisions are not recognised for future
operating losses.

Where there are a number of similar obligations, the likelihood
that an outflow will be required in settlement is determined by
considering the class of obligations as a whole. A provision is
recognised even if the likelihood of an outflow with respect to
any one item included in the same class of obligations may be
small.

Provisions are measured at the present value of the
expenditures expected to be required to settle the obligation
using a pre-tax rate that reflects current market assessments
of the time value of money and the risks specific to the
obligation. The increase in the provision due to passage of
time is recognised as interest expense.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

2 Summary of significant accounting

po licies (Continued)

2.22 Financial guarantee contracts

Financial guarantee contracts are recognised as a financial
liability at the time the guarantee is issued. The liability is
initially measured at fair value and subsequently at the higher
of

° the amount determined in accordance with the expected
credit loss model under HKFRS 9 Financial Instruments
and

° the amount initially recognised less, where appropriate,
the cumulative amount of income recognised in
accordance with the principles of HKFRS 15 Revenue
from Contracts with Customers.

The fair value of financial guarantees is determined based on
the present value of the difference in cash flows between the
contractual payments required under the debt instrument and
the payments that would be required without the guarantee,
or the estimated amount that would be payable to a third
party for assuming the obligations.

Where guarantees in relation to loans or other payables of
associates are provided for no compensation, the fair values
are accounted for as contributions and recognised as part of
the cost of the investment.

2.23 Revenue recognition

Revenue is measured at the fair value of the consideration
received or receivable and represents amounts receivable for
goods supplied, stated net of discounts, returns and value
added taxes.

Revenue is recognised when, or as, the control of the goods
or services is transferred to the customer. Depending on the
terms of the contract and the laws applicable, control of the
goods and services may be transferred over time or at a point
in time.

The Company bases its estimate of return on historical results,
taking into consideration the type of customer, the type of
transaction and the specifics of each arrangement.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

Bt BRI 5T
2 Summary of significant accounting

po licies (Continued)

2.23 Revenue recognition (continued)

(a)

(b)

(c)

Sales of goods

Sales are recognised when control of the products has
transferred, being when the products are delivered to the
customers, and there is no unfulfilled obligation that could
affect the customer’s acceptance of the products. Delivery
occurs when the products have been shipped to the specified
location and the risks of obsolescence and loss have been
transferred to the customer. As receivable is recognised
when the goods are delivered as this is the point that the
consideration is unconditional because only the passage of
time is required before the payment is due.

Services income

Revenue from providing services is recognised in the
accounting period in which the services are rendered. For
fixed-price contracts, revenue is recognised based on the
actual service provided to the end of the reporting period as
a proportion of the total services to be provided because the
customer receives and uses the benefits simultaneously.

The Group provides shipping services in addition to the goods
sold to the customers under certain sales contracts.

Shipping services give rise to a separate performance
obligation when the Group promises to ship the products after
the control of the products are transferred to customer.

A contract liability is the obligation to transfer goods or
services to a customer for which the Group has received a
consideration (or an amount of consideration that is due) from
the customer. If a customer pays the consideration before the
Group transfers goods or services to the customer, a contract
liability is recognised when the payment is made or the
payment is due (whichever is earlier). Contract liabilities are
recognised as revenue when the Group performs under the
contract.

Agency fee from property agency business

Agency fee from property agency business is recognised
when the services are rendered which is generally the time
when the transacting parties first come into an agreement.
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2

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

Summary of significant accounting
pOliCieS (Continued)

2.23 Revenue recognition (continued)

(d)

Financing components

The Group does not expect to have any contracts where the
period between the transfer of the promised goods or services
to the customer and payment by the customer exceeds one
year. As a consequence, the Group does not adjust any of the
transaction prices for the time value of money.

2.24 Employee benefits

(a)

(b)

(c)

Employee leave entitlement

Employee entitlements to annual leave are recognised
when they accrue to employees. A provision is made for
the estimated liability for annual leave as a result of services
rendered by employees up to the reporting date.

Employee entitlements to sick leave and maternity leave are
not recognised until the time of leave.

Bonus plans

The expected cost of bonus payments is recognised as a
liability when the Group has a present legal or constructive
obligation as a result of services rendered by employees and a
reliable estimate of the obligation can be made.

Liabilities for bonus plans are expected to be settled within
12 months and are measured at the amounts expected to be
paid when they are settled.

Pension obligations

The Group operates defined contribution retirement benefits
schemes for its employees. Contributions are made based
on certain percentage of the employees’ basic salaries
and are recognised as employee benefit expense as they
become payable in accordance with the rules of the schemes.
The Group has no further payment obligations once the
contributions have been paid. The assets of the schemes
are held separately from those of the Group in independently
administered funds.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
B I RER M T

2 FESHHERBFEw

2 Summary of significant accounting
pOliCieS (Continued)

2.25 Leases 225 E

The Group as a lessee

Leases are recognised as a right-of-use asset and a
corresponding liability at the date at which the leased asset is
available for use by the Group.

Assets and liabilities arising from a lease are initially measured
on a present value basis. Lease liabilities include the net
present value of the following lease payments:

° fixed payments (including in-substance fixed payments),
less any lease incentives receivable; and

° the exercise price of a purchase option if the Group is
reasonably certain to exercise that option

Lease payments to be made under reasonably certain
extension options are also included in the measurement of
the liability. The lease payments are discounted using the
interest rate implicit in the lease. If that rate cannot be readily
determined, which is generally the case for leases in the
Group, the lessee’s incremental borrowing rate is used, being
the rate that the individual lessee would have to pay to borrow
the funds necessary to obtain an asset of similar value to the
right-of-use asset in a similar economic environment with
similar terms, security and conditions.

To determine the incremental borrowing rate, the Group uses
recent third-party financing received by the individual lessee
as a starting point, adjusted to reflect changes in financing
conditions since third party financing was received.

Lease payments are allocated between principal and finance
cost. The finance cost is charged to profit and loss over
the lease period so as to produce a constant periodic rate
of interest on the remaining balance of the liability for each
period.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

2 Summary of significant accounting

po licies (Continued)

2.25 Leases (Continued)

Right-of-use assets are measured at cost comprising the
following:

° the amount of the initial measurement of lease liability;
and

° any lease payments made at or before the
commencement date less any lease incentives received

Right-of-use assets are generally depreciated over the shorter
of the asset’s useful life and the lease term on a straight-
line basis. If the Group is reasonably certain to exercise a
purchase option, the right-of-use asset is depreciated over the
underlying asset’s useful life.

Payments associated with short-term leases are recognised
on a straight-line basis as an expense in profit and loss. Short-
term leases are leases with a lease term of 12 months or less.
Low-value assets comprise small items of office furniture.

2.26 Dividend distribution

Dividend distribution to the Company’s shareholders
is recognised as a liability in the Group’s consolidated
financial statements in the period in which the dividends are
approved by the Company’s shareholders or directors, where
appropriate.

2.27 Basic earnings per share

Basic earnings per share is calculated by dividing the profit
attributable to owners of the Company, excluding any costs
of servicing equity other than ordinary shares by the weighted
average number of ordinary shares outstanding during the
financial year, adjusted for bonus elements in ordinary shares
issued during the year.

2.28 Government grants

Grants from the government are recognised at their fair
value where there is a reasonable assurance that the grant
will be received and the Group will comply with all attached
conditions.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
B I RER M T

2

Summary of significant accounting
pOliCieS (Continued)

2.28 Government grants (continued)

Government grants relating to costs are deferred and
recognised in the profit and loss over the period necessary
to match them with the costs that they are intended to
compensate.

2.29 Interest income

3.1

(a)

176

Interest income is presented as finance income — net, where
it is earned from financial assets that are held for cash
management purposes. Any other interest income is included
in finance income — net.

Financial risk management

Financial risk factors

The Group’s activities expose it to a variety of financial risks:
market risk (including cash flow and fair value interest rate risk
and price risk), credit risk and liquidity risk.

Management regularly monitors the financial risks of the
Group. Because of the simplicity of the financial structure and
the current operations of the Group, no hedging activities are
undertaken by management.

Market risk
Cash flow and fair value interest rate risk

The Group’s cash flow and fair value interest rate risk mainly
arises from cash at banks, other financial assets at amortised
cost, financial assets at fair value through profit or loss, bank
borrowings and lease liabilities.

As at 31 March 2022 and 2021, the Group’s bank borrowing,
cash and cash equivalent are carried at amortised costs with
variable rates, which expose the Group to cash flow interest
rate risk.
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3.1

(a)

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

Financial risk management continueq

Financial risk factors (continuea)

Market risk (Continuead)
Cash flow and fair value interest rate risk (Continued)

As at 31 March 2022 and 2021, the Group’s financial assets
and liabilities at amortised costs, financial assets at fair
value through profit or loss and lease liabilities which are of
fixed interest rates and are also exposed to the risk of future
changes in market interest rates.

However, the Group’s income and cash flows from operations
were substantially independent of changes in market interest
rates as the significant interest-bearing assets were either
fixed or not expected to fluctuate significantly.

As at 31 March 2022 and 2021, financial assets and liabilities
at amortised costs and lease liabilities at fix rates exposure the
Group to insignificant fair value interest rate risk as the fixed
interest rates approximate market interest rates.

For the year ended 31 March 2022, if interest rates on
borrowings had been 100 basis points higher/lower with all
other variables held constant, the Group’s profit before income
tax would have been approximately HK$262,000 lower/higher
(2021: HK$199,000 lower/higher). The sensitivity analysis
has been determined assuming that the change in interest
rates had occurred at the reporting date. The 100 basis point
increase/decrease represents management’s assessment of
reasonable possible change in the interest rate which has the
most impact on the Group over the period until the next year
end date.

Price risk

The Group’s exposure to price risk arises from investments
held by the Group and classified in the consolidated statement
of financial position at fair value through profit or loss (Note
24).

To manage its price risk arising from investments in equity
securities, the Group diversifies its portfolio. Diversification of
the portfolio is done in accordance with the limits set by the
Group.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
B I RER M T

3.1

(a)

(b)

178

Financial risk management (continueq
Financial risk factors (continuea)

Market risk (Continuea)
Price risk (Continued)

The Group’s investment in securities are publicly traded.
The fair value is determined with reference to quoted market
prices. For the Group’s investment that is not publicly traded,
management is of the opinion that the fair values of the
equity instruments affected by changes in the market price
of the underlying equity instruments is immaterial (Note 3.3).
Accordingly, no sensitivity analysis is required.

Based on the assumption that the fair values of equity
had increased or decreased by 5% respectively with all
other variables held constant, that all of the Group’s debt
instruments increased or decreased by HK$905,000 (2021:
HK$959,000), that moved in line with the assumption. The
management is of the opinion that the Group has minimal
exposure to the price risk as at 31 March 2022 and 2021.

Credit risk

The credit risk of the Group mainly arises from cash and cash
equivalents, other financial assets at amortised cost, trade
receivables, deposits and other receivables, financial assets at
fair value through profit or loss and amounts due from related
companies. The carrying amounts of these balances represent
the Group’s maximum exposure to credit risk in relation to
financial assets.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

3 Financial risk management (continueq)

3.1 Financial risk factors (continueq)

(b) Credit risk (continuea)

Management has credit policy in place and the exposure to
credit risks are monitored on an ongoing basis.

()

(i)

Cash and cash equivalents
Risk management

As at 31 March 2022, all the bank deposits are
deposited in the high-quality financial institutions.

Impairment of cash and cash equivalents

Cash and bank deposits are also subject to impairment
requirement of HKFRS 9. Management are of the view
that the Group’s cash and cash equivalents are placed in
those banks which are independently rated with a high
credit rating. Management does not expect any material
losses from non-performance by these banks as they
have no default history in the past.

Other financial assets at amortised cost

Risk management

Other financial assets at amortised cost include loans
and interest receivables. The Group has considered the
probability of default upon initial recognition of assets
and whether there has been significant increase in
credit risk on an ongoing basis throughout each year.
To assess whether there is a significant increase in
credit risk, the Group considered the actual or expected
significant adverse changes in business, financial
economic conditions that are expected to cause a
significant change to the third party’s ability to meet its
obligations.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
B I RER M T

3 Financial risk management continueo)

3.1 Financial risk factors (continueq)

(b) Credit risk (Continued)

(i)

Other financial assets at amortised cost (Continued)

Impairment of other financial assets at amortised cost

Management applies the HKFRS 9 general approach
to measuring expected credit losses which uses a
3-stage expected credit loss model to recognise the loss
allowance for other financial assets at amortised cost.

To measure the expected credit losses, management has
considered quantitatively and qualitatively whether there
has been an actual or expected significant increase in
credit risk (i.e. Stage 2 or 3) to the balance since its initial
recognition. Management would base on the credit risk
assessment of the counterparty and adopt the loss rate
with reference from the external credit rating agent. The
loss rate was adjusted to reflect current and forward-
looking information on macroeconomic factors affecting
the ability of the counterparties to settle the receivables.

For the year ended 31 March 2022, management of the
Company considered that the COVID-19 impact to the
macroeconomic was mitigated and which decreased the
credit risk to the other financial assets at amortised cost
balance since its initial recognition.

For the year ended 31 March 2022, the reversal of loss
allowance of approximately HK$146,000 was recognised
and credited to the profit and loss (2021: loss allowance
of HK$7,000).
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

3 Financial risk management (continueq)

3.1 Financial risk factors (continueq)

(b) Credit risk (Continued)

(i)

(i)

Other financial assets at amortised cost (Continued)

Impairment of other financial assets at amortised cost
(Continued)

The closing loss allowance for loans and interest
receivables as at 31 March 2022 and 2021 reconcile to
the opening loss allowance as follows:

B I TR M T

3 HXRBRERE«

3.1

(b)
(i)

BEREREE 2
EERE &)

K H A ez B A2 &
E(#)

e T S
EERAE ()

A= + B ERER &%'J
) 4 oK 5 1B R R R 4 ) R

HEERMT

HK$’000
T8

Opening loss allowance as at 1 April 2020 RNR_ZE_TFMNA—HH
FYIEERE 2,402
Recognition of loss allowance for impairment 4 A% A 48 25 7 32 1Y 8 85 Ak A
of other financial assets at amortised costs PR b 2 & EREEE
recognised in profit and loss during the year BERER 7
Closing loss allowance as at 31 March 2021 RZEZ—F=A=+—HK
and 1 April 2021 RZZEZ—FMHAB—-—HHER
EEEE 2,409
Reversal of loss allowance for impairment of F LA 18 25 T 52 O 5H A AR
other financial assets at amortised costs FIBR 2 Eth & B & EREER
recognised in profit and loss during the year B Rm (146)
Closing loss allowance as at 31 March 2022 RZEZ__F=A=+—HH
FREBERE 2,263
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss (i) BBERIE AL BIEIERZ %
A& E
Risk management B2 E
The Group has investments in listed securities. For listed AEBEHELTEHFRE B
equity securities, the Group monitors the credit risks J: TRABATES  ALEE
of its investments through evaluation of credit ratings. BT fo ERREEHERE
Management did not consider there was material ZEERB -KBEEYD ’J\—

exposure to credit risks as the investments in listed
equity securities were graded as low risk with reference
to at least one major rating agency.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
B I RER M T

3 Financial risk management continueo)

3.1 Financial risk factors (continueq)

(b) Credit risk (Continued)

(v)

Trade receivables

The Group applies the simplified approach to provide for
expected credit losses prescribed by HKFRS 9, which
permits the use of the lifetime expected loss provision for
all trade receivables. As the Group’s historical credit loss
experience indicates different loss patterns for different
customer segments, the loss allowance is calculated
based on days past due from various customer
segments which are grouped with similar patterns.

To measure expected credit losses, trade receivables
have been grouped based on the days past due and
shared credit risk characteristics.

The expected credit losses on trade receivables are
estimated using a provision matrix based on the Group’s
historical credit loss experience, internal categorisations
and/or the debtors’ credit history with the Group and
ageing profile as at the end of reporting period. The
historical loss rates are adjusted to reflect current and
forward-looking information on macroeconomic factors
affecting the ability of the customers to settle the
receivables. The Group has identified the Money Supply
and the Consumer Price Index of the countries in which
it sells its goods and services to be the most relevant
factors, and accordingly adjusts the historical loss rates
based on expected changes in these factors.

As at 31 March 2022 and 2021, the loss allowance
for trade receivables was determined as follows, the
expected credit losses below also incorporated forward
looking information.
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3 Financial risk management continueq)

3.1 Financial risk factors (continueq)

(b) Credit risk (Continued)

(iv)  Trade receivables (Continued)

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

B BB IRRNT

3 UBEEREE -
31 BREKBREE #
(b) EERK &)

(v) EZEWKKE &)

Trade receivables

BSERBTE

Overdue
within ~ Overdue  Overdue  Overdue
30 days 31-60 days 61-90 days 90 days

g s s L]
0RA  HME6OR  61-90% 90Xk
HK$'000  HK$'000  HKS'000  HK$'000
Tén  TEx Tz  TEx

As at 31 March 2022 RZB=-Z§
Zh=t+-8
Paper printing products REORER

Weighted average expected loss I F 5B EXR

rate
Gross carrying amount REAE
Loss allowance BEAE

- 2.8% 7.0% 26.9% 63.4% 12.9%

348 883 229 52 276 1,788

- 25 16 14 175 230

Trade receivables

EZRENE
Overdue
within ~ Overdue  Overdue  Overdue
30 days 31-60 days 61-90 days 90 days

a b ol b
0XA  31Z60%  61-90K 90X
HK$'000  HK$000  HK$'000  HK$'000
TER TER Thn Thn

As at 31 March 2022 R-B-—f
=A=1-A
Banner printing products BEAORER

Weighted average expected loss I F9 R EIEE X

rate
Gross carrying amount RHE
Loss allowance BiEER

3.0% 5.0% 13.2% 23.5% 72.5% 26.7%
784 1,094 388 401 1,072 3,739
24 54 51 % 77 1,000
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BHMBHRAME

3 Financial risk management (continueq)
3.1 Financial risk factors (continued)

(b) Credit risk (Continuead)

(iv)  Trade receivables (Continued)

Not yet
due

#i
HK$'000
T

3 HERBEEREw
31 BIREKBREE #

(b) EERM &)
(v) B ZENZE &)

Trade receivables
2 S RIIE

Overdue
within Overdue Overdue Overdue
30 days 31-60 days 61-90 days 90 days
B B ok ki
0RA  31E60K 61-90K% I
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TAT TAT TET TET

As at 31 March 2021 R-B=-f§
=B=t-AH

Paper printing products HEAORER

Weighted average expected loss I ¥ HEEXR

rate
Gross carrying amount RHE
Loss allowance BiEkE

0.1%
1,631

0.5% 33.3% 33.3% 74.9% 6.8%
655 3 3 211 2,403
3 1 1 168 164

Not yet
due

Ao
HK$'000
TAL

Trade receivables
B HREWE

Overdue
within Overdue Overdue Overdue
30 days 31-60 days 61-90 days 90 days
B B B HH
KA 31E60K 61-00K 0K
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TET TET TET THL

As at 31 March 2021 R-B=-%
=A=1-H

Banner printing products BEORER

Weighted average expected loss I F 9 HIEE X

rate
Gross carrying amount REAE
Loss allowance BEEE

2.7%
1,046
28

7.0% 14.8% 26.6% 58.8% 23.4%
655 338 598 945 3,582
46 50 159 556 839
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B B R K i
3 Financial risk management continueq 3 BERAREREw
3.1 Financial risk factors (continueq) 3.1 BEABEE »
(b) Credit risk (Continued) (b) EERE %)
(iv)  Trade receivables (Continued) () EZBEKFIE (&)
The loss allowances for trade receivables as at 31 March RZBE__FR_F_—F=

2022 and 2021 reconcile to the opening loss allowances
as follows:

A=+—B BEZRUFREE
BEREEFINEBBEN YK
(N

HK$’000
FTRET

Opening loss allowance as at 1 April 2020 RZE-FFHHA—BNELY
BRI 325
Recognition of loss allowance for impairment of G AR ERER 2 B 5 & Uk 518
trade receivables recognised in profit and loss 1B E5 BB & 2 R
during the year 678
Closing loss allowance as at 31 March 2021 RZE-Z—F=ZA=+—8Bxk
and 1 April 2021 T —FMA—HH
FREBEEE 1,003
Recognition of loss allowance for impairment of & 5 & Uk 7% 18 15 36 i 1 =0 Uk B8
trade receivables through Step Acquisition of [t & A 1R (B 5 18 B 1 2 HE R
subsidiaries 64
Recognition of loss allowance for impairment of & RPN IEEHER 2 E 5 e W 8
trade receivables recognised in profit and loss  JE{E 1B # 2 #ER
during the year 163
Closing loss allowance as at 31 March 2022 RZEZZF=A=+—HHERX
BIERE 1,230

The creation and release of provision for impaired
receivables have been included in ‘impairment losses on
financial assets’ in the profit and loss. Amounts charged
to the allowance account are generally written off, when
there is no expectation of recovering additional cash.

P M T R B R R R
BEHABRRANG [ BEE
AR - A R A I A —
88 75 78 51 7 T R Bl A AN B
32 o
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B I RER M T

3 Financial risk management continueo)

3.1 Financial risk factors (continueq)

(b) Credit risk (Continued)

(v)  Deposits, other receivables and amounts due from

related parties (non-trade) (“Other Receivables’)

Risk management

The Group has considered the probability of default
upon initial recognition of assets and whether there has
been significant increase in credit risk on an ongoing
basis throughout each year. To assess whether there is
a significant increase in credit risk, the Group considered
the actual or expected significant adverse changes
in business, financial economic conditions that are
expected to cause a significant change to the third

party’s ability to meet its obligations.

Impairment of Other Receivables

Other Receivables are subject to impairment requirement
of HKFRS 9. The credit quality of the Other Receivables
has been assessed with reference to historical
information about the counterparties default rates and
financial position of the counterparties. Management
would base on the credit risk assessment of the
counterparty and adopt the loss rate with reference
from the external credit rating agent. The loss rate
was adjusted to reflect current and forward looking
information on macroeconomic factors affecting the
ability of the counterparty to settle the receivables.

For the year ended 31 March 2022, the recognition
of loss allowance of approximately HK$168,000 was
recognized and credited to the profit and loss (2021:Nil).
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3.1

(b)

B R R BRI

MEEREZE 2
EER &)
) &z BERIEREKEZE

THKE(FES) ([RAERT
#]/)

AEECEFREFEEEELZR
NTHRBREERNEORER
EERRESRKEE M- ST
EEERRERFEABIEN
AEEEZEBRPBEHE =7
BITEEBHNENELEBRESR
EEER R M B EBERRNE
R FEHHNERINES -

H b UK IR 8 <7 BB M 5
HEREOFRHBERTE - Hftb
UEFRBEZEEEECKRZ2E
RHBFITELENETERRK
HP MR ETHE-EEE
RESFINEERRFMG
YWLEIHMEEFREENE
REAERE -BEXEEHL
HE-ARRBEBAEZEH T
RERYGRIBR NN EBEE
HE®E AT M ATRE LB # -

REBZE-_E-_—_H=A=+—
BIEFEE EREBEBBD
168,000/ 70 Wit AfBm (=
T —F:8|)-
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B OB TS R b 5
3 Financial risk management continueq 3 HMKEKREREw
3.1 Financial risk factors (continueq) 31 BEREKBEE
(b) Credit risk (Continued) (b) EERE %)
(v)  Deposits, other receivables and amounts due from () It A EK IR E WK R #E
related parties (non-trade) (“Other Receivables”) FE (FEES) ([A MK
(Continued) H]) (&)

Impairment of Other Receivables (Continued)

The closing loss allowance for Other Receivables as at
31 March 2022 and 2021 reconcile to the opening loss
allowance as follows:

B JEW IR B (%)

EMERRBER-_ZT_Z_FK
:;:—EZH:+—EZ$
AEEREBEEEVEEREY
BT

HK$'000
THETT

Closing loss allowance as at 1 April 2020 RNR_ZE_TFMPH—
ZEREBERBRE

H

Recognition of loss allowance for impairment of £ R 7 18 25 7 72 2 H fth & U 2% 78 ik

Other Receivables recognised in profit and EEERERR
loss during the year

Closing loss allowance as at 31 March 2021 RZEZ—F=A=+—HK

and 1 April 2021 —E-FMA—-HAZ
FREBERB -
Recognition of loss allowance for impairment of 4 A 7 18 2 T8 78 2 £ b 18 UK ZR TR
Other Receivables recognised in profit and BEEERERER
loss during the year 168
Closing loss allowance as at 31 March 2022 RZE__F=RA=+—H
ZEREBERE 168
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3.1

(c)

188

Financial risk management (continueq

Financial risk factors (continuea)
Liquidity risk

Prudent liquidity risk management implies maintaining
sufficient cash and the availability of funding through an
adequate amount of committed credit facilities to meet
obligations when due and to close out market positions. As at
31 March 2022, the Group held cash and cash equivalents of
approximately HK$113,911,000 (2021: HK$106,565,000) that
are expected to readily generate cash inflows for managing
liquidity risk.

The Group monitors rolling forecasts of the Group’s liquidity
requirements to ensure it has sufficient cash flows of cash and
cash equivalents generated from the financing activities and
the operating activities, respectively to meet its operational
needs while maintaining sufficient headroom on its undrawn
committed borrowing facilities at all times so that the Group
does not breach borrowing limits or covenants (where
applicable) on any of its borrowing facilities. This is generally
carried out at local level in the operating companies of the
Group, in accordance with practice and limits set by the
Group. These limits vary by location considering the liquidity of
the market in which the entity operates.

As at 31 March 2022 and 2021, the directors do not consider
that it is probable that the banks will exercise their discretion
to demand immediate repayment after taking into account
the Group’s financial position. The directors believe that such
borrowings and lease liabilities will be repaid in accordance
with the scheduled repayment dates set out in the loan
agreements.
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3.1

(c)

E\j i% E" Igﬁ ":Eq EE (#4)
MEEREZE 2
FEE SRR

HENRDECRBREEEHEFTT
MRS UANBREHANERAFHEE
BMERBEUSREESCUNBITISHE
ERBEEMEBEFEE - R_T -
Z“AZ+t—"H AEEHEBERER
W4 SEEE 113,911,000/ 7T
(ZE=——%: 106,565,000,%75)
EHAERAERRDECRARE
ERETAC

AEBHRPHESFTRKORFHEN
ETER BEREEREREHR

RERBEERENRASEREERNE
Eﬁﬁi‘iﬁé@&iﬁﬁ/ﬁﬁzfﬁi&
cEEBEBBEBZHESREUD BIM
Eié*é?%i NEREAEETgE
REAMEEMRENEBERERE
H(WMER) EBEEAE—MBERRE
REBAAEIZOEF AP EE - £
EEETEELNAEHEmMMIT
Z & 'Jléiﬁf?&“gﬁﬁﬁm%ﬁ’]/ﬁﬁbli
WWERBAMMEMS R

RZEZZFRZE=_—F=A
=+ —B & EAREER B
NE BEERRBITHEITHEEK
N 5 2 R 1S TEEI'J—I%’|$7I_K
EEMHE FHEBEREEAER
SEREBEEXRBHEAINBETERB
HAEIE -
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B Pt SRR M 7
3 Financial risk management continueq 3 HMKEKREREw
3.1 Financial risk factors (continued) 31 BIRERBEZE %
(c) Liquidity risk (continueq) (c) RBESEAMR &)

0

Maturities of financial liabilities

The table below analyses the Group’s financial liabilities
into relevant maturity groupings based on the remaining
period at the year-end date to the contractual maturity
date. The amounts disclosed in the table are the
contractual undiscounted cash flows (including interests
payments computed using contractual rates). Where the
loan agreement contains a repayable on demand clause
which gives the lender the unconditional right to call the
loan at any time, the amounts of repayable are classified
in the earliest time bracket in which the lender could
demand repayment and no interest payments were
included. The maturity analysis for financial liabilities is
prepared based on the scheduled repayment dates.

0

EHREZH]

TRAOMAKEREF KA Y
EEANIHABE LTRSS
DREBIHENNEREE-
TRABBSEARBEREH
Reng (BREAHOMNEL
BN ENR) - MERBGENA
HAESERAREEBEGTR
KEEZHR LWEFERAD
BREFAZEAEREEREZ
RH - WETBRMENK &
MEENIHB NIRRT
EERA MR-

Between Between
(0]} Within 1 and 2 and
demand 2 years 5 years
REXR —-ZWE WERF @t
HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$’000
TER TRET TER TER TET
As at 31 March 2022 RZE-—
“A=t-8
Borrowings BE 26,216 - - - 26,216
Lease liabilities and interest AE& B R EHX
expenses 173 6,300 3,292 470 10,235
Trade payables B S RMNE - 11,951 - - 11,951
Other payables' H e 5008 - 5,529 - - 5,529
Amounts due to related JERTRE A A
parties - 200 200
Amounts due to directors ~ JEffEEFIE - 195 - - 195
As at 31 March 2021 R-Z-—%F
=A=1—8H
Borrowings BE 19,904 - - - 19,904
Lease liabilities and interest & & & M| BF %
expenses 956 19,889 1,690 398 22,933
Trade payables B IR - 7,186 - - 7,186
Other payables' H At e 3008 - 1,145 - - 1,145
Amounts due to related e EE A RE
parties - 201 - - 201
Amounts due to directors  [ENEEHIE - 165 - - 165

! The balance excludes contract liabilities, deferred income and
accrued expenses.

! BHRTERANEE BERAR
FEFTER -
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CXnEUE e Eo Ik

3 Financial risk management (conineq 3 HMBERBREREw

3.1 Financial risk factors (continueq) 3.1 MBREBEE #)

(c) Liquidity risk (Continued) (c) RBESEE %)

() Maturities of financial liabilities (Continued) () EFEEEIHE (&)

The table below analyses the Group’s financial liabilities TROMASENESHEAE"
into relevant maturity groups based on the scheduled DIRBEERBEMETETER
repayment dates set out in the loan agreements and the HEIGtE W EFARANEKE
effect of any repayment on demand clause is ignored. REEBRFNTESBERBEH

2HER -

Between Between
Within 1 and 2 and Over
1 year PATCE [ 5 years 5 years

—£R —EWFE WEEF  EFNUL
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$’000
TR TR FER TR

As at 31 March 2022 RZE-—F
=A=1—8

Borrowings and interest BERFERY

expenses 5,405 2,285 5,559 15,779 29,028
Lease liabilities and interest MEAERMNEHX

expenses 6,355 3,425 470 - 10,250
Trade payables B S EMNFE 11,951 - - - 11,951
Other payables' H fth e 5108 5,529 - - - 5,529
Amounts due to related e EE A RE

parties 200 - - - 200
Amounts due to directors ~ JEffE £ A 195 - - - 195
As at 31 March 2021 RZE-—F

=A=1+—8

Borrowings and interest BERFERY

expenses 2,403 1,442 4,325 15,377 23,547
Lease liabilities and interest T E & &R EFX

expenses 20,858 1,690 398 - 22,946
Trade payables B SRR E 7,186 - - - 7,186
Other payables' H fth e 5008 1,145 - - - 1,145
Amounts due to related e EEARE

parties 201 - - - 201
Amounts due to directors ~ ENEEHIE 165 - - - 165
1 The balance excludes contract liabilities, deferred income and 1 EHRTBREAVEE BERAR

accrued expenses. et B -
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

Financial risk management continueq)

Capital risk management

The Group’s objectives on managing capital are to finance
its operations with its owned capital and to safeguard the
Company’s ability to continue as a going concern in order
to provide returns for shareholders and benefits for other
stakeholders and to maintain an optimal capital structure to
enhance shareholders’ value in the long term.

In order to maintain or adjust the capital structure, the Group
may adjust the amount of dividends paid to shareholders and
return capital to shareholders, issue new shares or sell assets
to reduce debt.

Consistent with others in the industry, the Group monitors
capital on the basis of the gearing ratio. This ratio is calculated
as total debt divided by total equity. Total debt is calculated as
borrowings and lease liabilities and total equity is calculated as
“equity” as shown in the consolidated statement of financial
position.

The gearing ratios as at 31 March 2022 and 2021 were as
follows:

3.2

B I TR M T

BEERERE
EXRBER

AEBNEAEEBREZ 2ENHEB
ﬁﬁﬁﬁ%@hf Be X IFILRE
RAGIREEEEE AABRERHE
@i&&%ﬁi\ﬁﬂﬁﬁ%&?}:ﬂﬁn%&
BBREEEALEE U ERHBREA
REREE-

RERFIFABENGERE AEEA
HAEBRNTRRZEESBNMEER
BREN HTHBIBEEEN
B (B o

AEBRITEEN RBEEERE
HREEEAKRF - ZH R RE

KRERUAESAETE -EF2
EOREBEEERTHERBEE M
E/\ﬁ'ﬁﬁﬁﬁééﬁﬂﬁ%ﬁﬁﬁ%?ﬁ% [ 4
=] F

RZEBE - —_FR_F-—F=A
—t+—HMEEEBBLXRENWT

2022
—E=-= —E-—F
HK$’000 HK$’000
FTHEx FHET
Borrowings (Note 29) EE (MizE29) 26,216 19,904
Lease liabilities (Note 14) ?ﬁia:éﬁ (FfzE14) 9,714 19,566
Total debt BB 35,930 39,470
Total equity e AR 250,268 250,655
Gearing ratio BEEARLE 14% 16%

As at 31 March 2022, the gearing ratio has decreased from
16% to 14% as a result of settlement of lease liabilities for the
leased assets and withdrawal of bank borrowings.

WZE_—F=ZA=Z+—8 @8R
MEHEEELESHEABEUNER
RITEE EEABLEHI6% TR
214% o
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3.3

192

Financial risk management (continueq

Fair value estimation

As at 31 March 2022 and 2021, the carrying amounts of the
Group’s financial assets and financial liabilities, including cash
and cash equivalents, trade receivables, deposits and other
receivables, financial assets at fair value through profit or
loss, other financial assets at amortised costs, amounts due
from related companies, trade payables, accruals and other
payables, amounts due to directors, amounts due to related
parties, lease liabilities and borrowings approximate their fair
values due to their short maturities and/or bear interest rate at
market. The nominal value less estimated credit adjustments
for financial assets and liabilities with a maturity of less than
one year are assumed to approximate their fair values.

The table below analyses the Group’s financial instrument
carried at fair value as at 31 March 2022 and 2021 by level of
the inputs to valuation techniques used to measure fair value.
Such inputs are categorised into three levels within a fair value
hierarchy as follows:

° Quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical
assets or liabilities (level 1).

o Inputs other than quoted prices included within level 1
that are observable for the asset or liability, either directly
(that is, as prices) or indirectly (that is, derived from
prices) (level 2).

° Inputs for the asset or liability that are not based on

observable market data (that is, unobservable inputs)
(level 3).
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AREEME
RZEBEZ_—_FRER_FT-_—F=AH
=t+—H K& %@ﬁ?&iﬂ
BE(E %ﬁ%&ﬁé#ﬁﬁa
SEWFHIE e R H A EIW R

%ﬂ@Aﬁ@ﬁﬁﬁﬂ%ZQﬂﬁ
- ﬁ%%&$ﬂ%2ﬁméﬂﬁ
E-EREER =Y kN
A EEE E&EMﬁH KIE - B
EERE ENBEESIRIE -HESB
BEREE)ZEAEEESZAAE
ERE RREREHREE &K%
EMSMEFBE - R —FLAREHE
JERMBEERABBCHBARMGEE

ERBIIEBRSBEEAAEERE
DE-3:% %@ﬁﬁ@zﬁ@&m%

%%A%ﬁm% DITAREER
7__¢&_;_*¢ A=+—
BmarBEIIRZERTIA-F
B ABB LI TXtm o B
ABAREBERBEAN=EER:

e MHRAEBEXABENEBRMSH
WECRERAR) (F—H) -

e BE—RMEEMNREIN Z
EESBENEE (AER)X
MEZE(AERITE)BERNEA
HIE(E_HK)-

e EZEEXRBBUIFKEANGR
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(a)

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

Financial risk management (continueq)

Fair value estimation (continueq)

The following table presents the Group’s financial assets that
are measured at fair value at 31 March 2022 and 2021.

3.3

B B R K i

BB RARERE -
DRBEM

=113

(#

TREWAEBR-_ZE-_—_FR =
T - —GF=ZA=+T—BHERAABE
ﬁg%@ﬂﬁéo

Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
E— E-5 F=H @t
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FTET TET TET TET
31 March 2022 —E-H#=ZA=1+—H
Financial assets at fair value BRBRRAABER
through profit or loss EBEBEE 18,106 - - 18,106
31 March 2021 “T-—%=ZR=1+—H
Financial assets at fair value BREGEALEEYE
through profit or loss LEREE 19,185 - - 19,185
There were no transfers between level 1, 2 and 3 during the FRAF—Zk=FzHEITEE
year. #% o
Financial instrument in level 1 (@ F—HemITH
The fair value of financial instruments traded in active markets REBRMBEENERTARAARE

is based on quoted market prices at the end of the reporting
period. A market is regarded as active if quoted prices are
readily and regularly available from an exchange, dealer,
broker, industry group, pricing service, or regulatory agency,
and those prices represent actual and regularly occurring
market transactions on an arm’s length basis. The quoted
market price used for financial assets held by the Group is the
current bid price. These instruments are included in level 1.
Instruments included in level 1 comprise primarily listed equity
securities classified as financial assets at fair value through
profit or loss.

BNRBEREHARTSMEET -
WHmEAEREREHBISH &
HE KA EBRF EERE
NEEWEES BZSERERT
BEATEEETHERRLEEMMEM
HBRS AZMBHEAERMS 5t
AEEFMBEEREENBANMS
WMERENEEB - ZEILAFAE
—MFHAEZE BN IAEFTERRE
NEAEFBETERANEBEIIEZ
TRIBEEMN ETMRAZS
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B SRR M

3.3

(b)

194

Financial risk management (continueq)

Fair value estimation (continueq)

Financial instrument in level 3

3
3.3

(b)

The following table presents the changes in level 3 instruments
for the years ended 31 March 2022 and 2021.

MEEEREE
NREEME )
F=HE@MIAE

HK$’000
TEx
At beginning of the year NG - 160
Addition NE - _
Fair value loss on financial assets ERBREARBENEZ
at fair value through profit or loss TREEZARBEER - (160)
At end of the year RER - -
Total loss for the year included in profit  F#3HFH 2 EERNER
and loss for assets held at the end of ~ E5EEFET AEZ
the year, under other losses — net TIVEE M 518 —F 58 - (160)
Critical accounting estimates and 4 RFEASEETTHFRHE
judgements
Estimates and judgements are continually evaluated and are fhEt RAEBFAES BT TER
based on historical experience and other factors, including BELEHBEEMREE 287 E &1
expectations of future events that are believed to be ERTNEARKEMH2TEH -

reasonable under the circumstances.

The Group makes estimates and assumptions concerning the
future. The resulting accounting estimates will, by definition,
seldom equal the related actual results. The estimates and
assumptions that have a significant risk of causing a material
adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities
within the next financial year are addressed below.

eprint Group Limited Annual Report 2021/22

AEEBHRREL BT RBR AT
ERz oA (RER)ELHRE
REBERER - Y TEMKRFEE
NABSIBREERBEREMBEZAE
AEABR2EARR 2 G RBRE
B N



(a)

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

Critical accounting estimates and
jUdgementS (Continued)

Estimated impairment of goodwill, property,
plant and equipment and right-of-use assets

The Group tests annually whether goodwill, has suffered any
impairment, in accordance with the accounting policy stated in
Note 2.10. The recoverable amounts of cash-generating units
have been determined based on value-in-use calculations.
These calculations require the use of estimates (Note 15).

Property, plant and equipment are reviewed for impairment
whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that
the carrying amounts may not be recoverable. The recoverable
amounts have been determined based on the higher of
value-in-use calculations or fair value less costs of disposal
calculations. The calculations require the use of judgements
and estimates.

Management judgement is required in the area of asset
impairment particularly in assessing: (i) whether an event
has occurred that may indicate that the related asset values
may not be recoverable; (i) whether the carrying value of an
asset can be supported by the recoverable amount, being
the higher of fair value less costs of disposal and net present
value of future cash flows which are estimated based upon
the continued use of the asset in the business; and (i) the
appropriate key assumptions to be applied in preparing cash
flow projections including whether these cash flow projections
are discounted using an appropriate rate.

Changing the assumptions selected by the directors in
assessing impairment could affect the recoverable amount
determined by the directors and as a result affect the result of
the impairment reviews. Further details are set out in Note 15.

(a)

B H I ERRK

A2 & aT {h 5T K H M o)

IR BERREREA
EZfhsHmE

AEBEFFREKRF2.10Mit 2 &
BRI AEESS HBEEARE-
ReEASEuUzZARKESBEEER
FAREBEFE ZSHEAFERG
& (MizE15) o

I

[l
ok

ME - BEMREREFLRKBE
LB B U BR T B A B O I @ B
ETRERS -ATHEOESRDRE
EREEAEEEXARABEH
BRIHERAFE (UARSERE) -
bt st EIAEE R HIE KA E e

EEEREBEFB CHEFMBUT
ZEE EREEBEAGLHAE: (RS
BEREEHARBENEHEEER
g SR R  (i)AT ke £ 58 (B A A
BEENKREEXNAR Z2HEBIE
BETEBREREEMGBTZR
KREREFREMEPZRSH)
A HEEREE: RiiVHER
SREFAINFEARBZEZEETER
LoREEEReREEIZT M
BE A RN -

EEFERERERZBRLED
EYEEFHT2INELE A
1 5 8 7K 5 B 2 18 1R 2T 40 5 R
e — S E RS -
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(b)

(c)

(d)

196

Critical accounting estimates and
jUdgementS (Continued)

Fair value of financial instruments

Where the fair value of financial instruments recorded in
the consolidated statement of financial position cannot be
derived from active markets, they are determined using
valuation techniques including the use of recent arm’s
length transactions, reference to other instruments that are
substantially the same, and discounted cash flow analysis.
The inputs to these models are taken from observable markets
where possible, but where this is not feasible, a degree of
judgements is required in establishing fair values.

Impairment of financial assets

The loss allowances for financial assets are based on
assumptions about risk of default and expected loss rates.
The Group uses judgements in making these assumptions and
selecting the inputs to the impairment calculation, based on
the Group’s past history, existing market conditions as well as
forward looking estimates at the end of each reporting period.
Details of the key assumptions and inputs used are disclosed
in Note 3.1(b).

Useful lives of property, plant and equipment

Management determines the estimated lives and related
depreciation charges for its property, plant and equipment.
Management will revise the depreciation charge where useful
lives are different from those previously estimated, or it will
write-off or write-down technically obsolete or non-strategic
assets that have been abandoned or sold.
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(e)

(f)

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

Critical accounting estimates and
judgements (continueq)

Income taxes

Deferred tax is recognised, using the liability method, on
temporary differences arising between the tax bases of assets
and liabilities and their carrying values in the consolidated
financial statements. Deferred tax assets are recognised to the
extent it is probable that future taxable profits will be available
against which the deductible temporary differences and the
carry forward of unused tax losses and tax credits can be
utilised, based on all available evidence. Recognition primarily
involves judgements regarding the future financial performance
of the particular legal entity or tax group. A variety of other
factors are also evaluated in considering whether there is
convincing evidence that it is probable that some portion or
all of the deferred tax assets will ultimately be realised, such
as the existence of taxable temporary differences, group relief,
tax planning strategies and the periods in which estimated tax
losses can be utilised.

The ultimate realisation of deferred tax assets recognised
for certain of the Group’s businesses depends principally
on these businesses maintaining profitability and generating
sufficient taxable profits to utilise the underlying unused tax
losses. It may be necessary for some or all of the deferred
tax assets recognised to be reduced and charged to the
profit and loss if there is a significant adverse change in the
projected performance and resulting projected taxable profits
of these businesses. Judgement is required to determine key
assumptions adopted in the taxable profit and loss projections
and changes to key assumptions used can significantly affect
these taxable profit and loss projections.

Purchase price allocation in business
combinations

The Group recognises identifiable assets and liabilities at fair
value at the date of acquisition. In applying the acquisition
method, the Group recognises the goodwill with the excess
of the acquisition cost over the fair values of the identified
net assets of acquirees. The accounting for business
combination involves the use of significant management
judgment and estimates including identifying assets
acquired and the liabilities assumed and the determination
of their corresponding fair values. Management engages
an independent professional valuer to assist in performing
the purchase price allocation exercise on the fair values of
assets acquired and liabilities assumed as at the acquisition
date, which involves significant management judgement and
estimations in the determination of valuation parameters
including discount rates, long term growth rate, useful lives of
intangible assets and the assumptions in the operating and
financial performance including revenue growth rates and
gross profit margin.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
B I RER M T

Segment information

The chief operating decision-maker has been identified as
the Executive Directors of the Company. The chief operating
decision-maker has determined the operating segments
based on the reports reviewed by the Executive Directors of
the Company, that are used to make strategic decisions and
assess performance.

The chief operating decision-maker has determined the
operating segments based on these reports. The Group is
organised into three business segments:

(@) paper printing segment (mainly derived from the brand
“e-print”);

(b)  banner printing segment (mainly derived from the brand
“e-banner”); and

(c) property agency services segment.

Operating segments are reported in a manner consistent with
the internal reporting provided to the chief operating decision-
maker.

Management assesses the performance of the operating
segments based on a measure of gross profit less selling
and distribution expenses and administrative expenses that
are allocated to each segment. Other information provided is
measured in a manner consistent with that in the consolidated
financial statements.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

Segment information (continueq)
Sales between segments are carried out at arm’s length basis.

The subsidiary incorporated in the People’s Republic of China
(the “PRC”) provides I.T. support services within the Group.
The subsidiary incorporated in Malaysia generated immaterial
external revenue during the year. Since the Group mainly
operates in Hong Kong and the Group’s assets are mainly
located in Hong Kong, no geographical segment information
is presented.

Information relating to segment liabilities is not disclosed
as such information is not regularly reported to the chief
operating decision-maker.

Revenue for the year ended 31 March 2022 consists of the
revenue from paper printing, banner printing and property
agency services. The Group derives revenue from the sale of
goods at a point in time and revenue from property agency
services when the services are rendered at a point in time.

Revenue for the year ended 31 March 2021 consists of the
revenue from paper printing and banner printing. The Group
derives all revenue from the sale of goods at a point in time.

During the years ended 31 March 2022 and 2021, no external
customers contributed over 10% of the Group’s revenue.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

AR RN
5 Segment information (coniinueq) 5 oHER
(a) Segment revenue and results (a) " HUBEREE
The following tables present revenue and segment results T & 5 Bl & 5 K& E l s o EhE
regarding the Group’s reportable segments for the years E_T__FRZTFT-_—F=H1
ended 31 March 2022 and 2021 respectively. =+—H ﬂzirz%lfm& D EPEELE o
For the year ended 31 March 2022: HE_Z-_—"F#=ZA=Z+—HI#F
E:
Property
Paper Banner agency
printing printing services* Eliminations
MERE
HEOR  EEOR PR 2 g @t
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$’000 HK$’000
TEr TER TEx TEr TER
Segment revenue pak: 2
Revenue from external customers' R BSMPR P& 229,518 70,793 5,709 - 306,020
Inter-segment revenue o EE M E 617 108 - (725) -
Total @t 230,135 70,901 5,709 (725) 306,020
Segment results DEEE 245 4,668 (2,731) 2,182
Unallocated: AL
Gain on Step Acaquisition of e\l i B A
subsidiaries ol 3,000
Finance income EEON 3,180
Finance costs BEMKK (1,080)
Share of losses of associates NGl 3 (660)
Share of losses of joint ventures BB SN EEE (708)
Profit before income tax BRF 158 A0 A 5914
Income tax expense FBHHAX (2,178)
Profit for the year ERHEN 3,736
Other information: Hi &k
Amortisation of intangible assets T & & 4 - - 93 93
Impairment losses on TREERERE
financial assets 22 163 - 185
Impairment loss on goodwil BERNEEE - - 3,086 3,086
Depreciation of property, 0¥ BERRENE
plant and equipment 9,771 1,123 50 10,944
Impairment losses on property, Mm% BERE
plant and equipment REER 3,398 - - 3,398
Depreciation of right-of-use assets FREEENE 12,628 5,434 108 18,170
Capital expenditures BARX 3,467 17,971 103 21,541
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5 Segment information (continue)

(@) Segment revenue and results (continued)

For the year ended 31 March 2021:

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

B H I ERRK

5 o#ER
(a) PHWNBREE »#)

BE_Z-_—F=A=+—8BI#F
B

Property
agency
services*

MENRE

Paper Banner
printing printing

KRR
HK$'000
TRT

Eliminations Total

& & N % B st
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TET TET TET

Segment revenue Rl
Revenue from external customers' 7K B SMEBE B Ui 210,438 56,464  N/ATEH - 266,902
Inter-segment revenue AR E 610 34 N/ATEA (644) -
Tota st 211,048 56,498  NATHEE (644) 266902
Segment results aRIE 20,311 (36) N/ATNEF 20,275
Unallocated: RO
Finance income BEWA 3,333
Finance costs BEKA (1,653)
Share of losses of associates JE1GE = A RE R (1,441)
Share of profits of joint ventures ~ JEfRA & E%EF 375
Profit before income tax BRETE R AT & A 20,989
Income tax expense FERREX (1,650)
Profit for the year FREH 19,339
Other information: HiE R
Impairment losses on SREERERBE

financial assets 156 529  N/ATEF 685
Depreciation of property, nE BERIENE

plant and equipment 10,237 1,148 N/ATEF 11,385
Depreciation of right-of-use assets EFREZERE 12,944 7495  NATER 20,439
Capital expenditures BARX 5,187 2,109 NATER 7,296
1 Including revenue of approximately HK$12,156,000 (2021: L B 15 18 % BR 7% BT 15 W %5 4912,156,000/%

HK$8,542,000) derived from shipping service. T (ZZF=—%:8,542,000/ L) °
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

BHMBHRAME

D EEF =
(b) »HEE

5 Segment information (continue) 5

(b) Segment assets

Property
Paper Banner agency
printing printing services Total
NERE
HEEDRI EE DR FR#% @t
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TEx TEx THEx THET
As at 31 March 2022 R-ZE-—F=H=+—H 148,406 46,145 13,382 207,933
As at 31 March 2021 R-ZE-—%=H=+—H 175,751 35,077 N/AN 3 F 210,828
* Property agency services segment generated revenue for the period * MEREBRES>HENVKEBEREHZ-Z

from the date of acquisition to 31 March 2022 while no revenue was
generated for the year ended 31 March 2021.

Segment assets for banner printing segment mainly
represented property, plant and equipment, goodwill and right-
of-use assets amounting to approximately HK$29,138,000
(2021: HK$20,506,000), HK$725,000 (2021: HK$725,000)
and HK$5,965,000 (2021: HK$4,176,000) respectively.

Segment assets for property agency services segment
as at 31 March 2022 mainly represented property, plant
and equipment, brand name and goodwill amounting
to approximately HK$278,000, HK$1,307,000 and
HK$5,872,000 respectively.

A reconciliation of segment assets to total assets is provided
as follows:

T Z A=+t HHMEELARZ M
REBEE-Z-—F=ZA=+—HILEE
I B A URES ©

BENRO>HTND>BEEETERS
5 B4 529,138,000 T (=&
——%#:20,506,000/8 7T ) * 725,000
BT (ZZTZ—F:725,0008 )
}5,965,0008 T (=& = — &
4,176,000 L) MM E - B E & &
H EEUARERREE-

R-_E-_—F=ZA=1+—H 9%
REBRBESBINDHBEEFTERS
9 RI#) /278,000 7T ~ 1,307,000
77T 15,872,000 TR W ¥ - W=
LEE mEREBUAREE-

SMEERBEESENT

2022 2021

—E=-=
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FET
Segment assets DEBE E 207,933 210,828
Investment in associates REE RRIMIEE 1,421 681
Investment in joint ventures REETLENKEE 12,303 13,078
Cash and cash equivalents HehkFELEMBEEBEE 113,911 106,565
335,568 331,152
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Other income

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

B H I ERRK

6 HMWA

2022 2021

—=E_= B —4F

HK$’000 HK$’000

FHExT FHE T

Scrap sales RERIE & 1,560 1,438
Government grant BT /6 B 356 544
Sales of software HHE 297 297
Others Eit 1,088 386
3,301 2,665

Other (losses)/gains - net

Losses on disposals of property,

7 Httt (E#E) WE-FR

2022
—s-=

2021
—E_—4F
HK$’'000
FHET

HK$’000
FEx

HEWE BB MREER

plant and equipment (62) (528)
Exchange losses — net N EE— 58 (64) (58)
Losses on closure of an associate A — M EAE 2 EE - (171)
Fair value (losses)/gains on financial FRBmEZEAABEYEZ

assets at fair value through profit or TREENAAEAR

loss (BHR) e (4,094) 1,938
Gain on Step Acquisition of subsidiaries & =X Uz BE B B 2 B By U 25

(Note 33) (FfF7E33) 3,000 -
Impairment loss on goodwill (Note a) PEREEE (Hita) (3,086) -
Others H 155 233

(4,151) 1,414
Note: Mt 5
(@)  The management recognised an impairment loss against the goodwill (@ EBEEBRBZE-ZT-_—_F=A=+—H

of approximately HK$3,086,000 for the year ended 31 March 2022
since the recoverable amount of the cash-generating units of property
agency services segment is lower than its carrying amount as a result
of the estimation that the financial target would be achieved less than

expected.

148 5t 8 B SRR (B 85 18 493,086,000
BT RERMERERB S BHR
EXBAHTKREeERNEEEE"
THERRTEE B B R BN TE e
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CXnEUE e Eo Ik
8 Expenses by nature 8 EMEIEMMEX
Expenses included in cost of sales, selling and distribution TAHERAE HERDHAIMN
expenses and administrative expenses are analysed as FITERAZHBI MO T
follows:
2022 2021
—==-= ;
HK$’000 HK$’000
THExT FHET
Cost of materials I RFBCAR 62,168 49,366
Auditor’s remuneration % ELED B &

— Audit services —BETART% 1,080 1,080

— Non-audit services — B R 180 250
Amortisation of intangible assets mEEE#E (ME15)

(Note 15) 93 -
Employee benefits expense (Note 9) EERAMAEZ (M) 86,993 59,728
Depreciation of property, plant and Y- BE RERETE

equipment (Note 13) (MF3E13) 10,944 11,385
Depreciation of right-of-use assets EREEENE (H[:T14)

(Note 14) 18,170 20,439
Impairment losses on property, plant Y% WE &R EREESE

and equipment (Note 13) (MF3E13) 3,398 -
Outsourced customer support expenses 9N #& P % 1B 5 5% 17,883 16,738
Subcontracting fee "BRER 57,376 58,004
Operating lease for short-term and RHREEEHEZKLHE

low value lease (Note 14) (MF3E14) 4,375 2,762
Repairs and maintenance HIENRIRE 3,731 2,686
Distribution costs Pol =D %N 12,980 11,931
Utility expenses NARBKEZ T 3,616 2,327
Others HAh 16,816 13,325

Total cost of sales, selling and distribution $4 & FX 7N ~ $5 6 & 9 #4557 2

expenses and administrative expenses A K175 X 4858 299,803 250,021
Others mainly represent credit card handling charges, HMFTZRERAFRFEE ES R
advertising and promotion expenses and telecommunication REMT REMAL -
expenses.
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Employee benefits expense (including
directors and senior management’s

9

B H I ERRK

BERANAX (BEEER
BREEEHFM)

emoluments)
2022
HK$’000
FHET
Salaries and allowances (Note a) e KoER (K15Ta) 79,115 55,397
Bonuses and commissions TEARAE 3,009 810
Pension costs — defined contribution RIREHRA— R EHRKETE
plans (Note b) (FFzEb) 3,959 3,368
Welfare and other benefits B B oAt ) &1 910 153
86,993 59,728
Notes: it 5
(@)  Salaries and allowances (@ FHeER
During the year ended 31 March 2022, the Group has not received HE-_ZT-_—_F=RA=+—BLFE"
benefit from Hong Kong governments under COVID-19 related 2 [ 3 K U B S B R COVID-194/
employment support schemes (2021: HK$12,498,000). EAMEEDFEETHEN(ZZE=—
4 : 12,498,000/ L) °
()  Pension costs — defined contribution plans (o) RIRESKAE—FEHNETE

The Group has arranged for its employees to join the Mandatory
Provident Fund Scheme (the “MPF Scheme”), a defined contribution
scheme managed by an independent trustee. Under the MPF Scheme,
each of the Group’s subsidiaries (the employer) and its employees make
monthly contributions to the scheme generally at 5% of the employees’
earnings as defined under the Mandatory Provident Fund legislation.
The monthly contributions of each of the employer and the employees
are subject to a maximum contribution of HK$1,500 (2021: HK$1,500)
per month and thereafter contributions are voluntary. The Group has no
further obligation for post-retirement benefits beyond the contributions.

The Group is also required to contribute to an Employees Provident
Fund Scheme in Malaysia. Each of the employer and employee make
monthly contributions to the scheme generally at 13% and 14% of the
employees’ salaries respectively. The Group has no further obligation for
post-retirement benefits beyond the contributions.

As stipulated by rules and regulations in the PRC, the Group contributes
to state-administered retirement plans for employees in the PRC. The
employees contribute up to 8% (2021: 8%) of their basic salaries, while
the Group contributes approximately to 13% to 14% (2021: 13% to
14%) of such salaries. The Group has no further obligations for the
actual payment of pensions or post-retirements benefits beyond these
contributions. The state-administrated retirement plans are responsible
for the entire pension obligations payable to the retired employees.

AEEELZEEEEL2MAFELATESD
T ([afEsstdl]) mixstElAm—
BB RAEANEEN—BREHKTE
BiIFRELE AEENESHEMBER
Al (BxX) REEBHERARZTEH
o MIREKRFIEATEEEN  HREHE
—MABREEWANSYS SEERIEEN
FAHEHERAB1,5008 T (T =—F:
1,500/8 7T) B LR 2 (K8 8 i
o BR HERAN - AR S B A H A 5 BRI IR
BRFMET-

AEBENEHSERADHEEAESH
BEHER - BEREESA — %D A
REEH S MWI3%JR14%E % 5T 8 EH
R BRZSERIN AEE L HEE MR
KE@FET-

AR BEEG ROERARE  ANEEE
BREPREEEMHAERERENRIKGT
BEF - BREREHFIELEREZ8% (ZF
Z—F8%) 2B mMAKEAIREH
HEN1B%E14% (ZE = —F :13%%
14%)EH R Bz SR TN NEE L
EHMABERI N RASRERER
FIzEA - RKEEZHRAREEMTH
B REEA R BIEE-
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BHMBHRAME

9 Employee benefits expense (including 9
directors and senior management’s
emoluments) (continue)

Notes: (Continued)
(b) Pension costs — defined contribution plans (Continuea)

For the year ended 31 March 2022, the amount of the Group’s
employer contributions to defined contribution plans was approximately
HK$3,959,000 (2021: HK$3,368,000). There were no forfeited
contributions to the MPF Scheme (2021: HK$121,000) which has
been utilised for the year ended 31 March 2022. As at 31 March 2022,
contribution payable to the MPF Scheme amounted to approximately
HK$468,000 (2021: HK$463,000).

(c) Five highest paid individuals

The five individuals whose emoluments were the highest in the Group for
the year include two directors (2021: two directors), whose emoluments
are reflected in the analysis shown in Note 37. The emoluments payable

EEEANHZ (BEEER
SREBEEHHN) «

MisE: ()
o) BRAKEKRA-FRERNKEE (F)

BE_TE-_—_FZA=+—RHLtFE"
AEBEREREIMATHATEERLD
3,959,000/ 7t ( — = — — 4 : 3,368,000
BL) HEZ_ZT-_—_F=A=+—8H
IHFERECSHANELREEETE
HH(ZT = —4F:121,00087T) °
T _F=ZR=+—H ERM®ES
5T 214 7K 49468,0008 T (Z T = —F ¢
463,000/ 7T) °

© HERSFAL
FAAEENREERSHFALBER

REZE(ZT-—F WMEBESF)  %F
%%E’J%@HEFW‘EWEEJE{J *)?EP&

to the remaining three (2021: three) individuals are as follows: M-ENBT=ZBAL(ZE=—F: =
B)EMAOT :

2022 2021
—=E=-= —E-—fF
HK$’000 HK$’000
FHET T
Salaries and allowances o KRR 4,071 3,631
Discretionary bonuses BB AT - 398
Pension costs — defined contribution plans Bk 4 Ak A8 — 5 E (3G 54 54
4,125 4,083

The emoluments of these individuals fell within the following bands:

ZEANLTOFMNFUATEER:

Number of individuals

AE
2022
—E-_—F
Nil to HK$1,000,000 Z 21,000,000/ 7T - 1
HK$1,000,001 to HK$1,500,000 1,000,001/ 7L 21,500,000/% 7T 2 1
HK$1,500,001 to HK$2,000,000 1,500,001 7t Z£2,000,000/% 7T 1 1
3 3

No emoluments were paid by the Group to any of the directors or other
members of the five highest paid individuals as an inducement to join,
upon joining the Group, leave the Group or as compensation for loss of
office.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

B IR 5
10 Finance income - net 10 @EWA - F5E
2022 2021
—=E_= —E - —4F
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FHEIT
Finance income BhE WA
— Interest income from loan receivables  — EUR B X F B U8 A 2,816 2,700
— Interest income from bank deposits —RITF A EWA 145 401
— Unwinding of interests on refundable  — AR ER W& FEF S
rental deposits 219 232
T 3180 . 3,338 _
Finance costs BhE KA
— Interest expenses on lease liabilites ~ —fHE&&EF B (645) (1,108)
— Interest expenses on borrowings —EEFMBERAX (435) (450)
e (1,080) (1,553)
Finance income — net BE WA —FEE 2,100 1,780
11 Income tax expense 11 EHAX
—E-_F
HK$’000
FET
Current income tax EHIFTIS R
— Hong Kong profits tax —BBNER 2,555 2,882
- PRC corporate income tax —H B EREH - -
(Over)/under-provision in prior years BAEFE (BERE) BiE
N E (166) 32
2,389 2,914
Deferred income tax EEFTISH (211) (1,264)
Income tax expense Frisfim s 2,178 1,650
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CXnEUE e Eo Ik
11 Income tax expense (continueq) 11 FiBBiM o
Subsidiaries incorporated in Hong Kong are subject to FA-RBEBEFTMK LB QA
Hong Kong profits tax at a rate of 8.25% on the estimated A Bt B k5T B AR B s N TR B A
assessable profit up to approximately HK$2,000,000 and 2,000,000/ 7T B 3 7 1£8.25% K i
16.5% on any part of the estimated assessable profit over R K AL Al R #8 #92,000,0007% 7T E’J &b
approximately HK$2,000,000 for the year (2021: Same). DIE165%M R EFBMHNEENEH
(:f:—i R -

Subsidiary incorporated in the PRC is a High and New B A B B B AR 2 A0 B B A B R Y
Technology Enterprise defined by Shenzhen Finance Bureau, MBBB - RIMHABBER R
Administrator of Local Taxation of Shenzhen Municipality RIS 4R )%/ JITHHREBEE (TH#EE])
and Shenzhen Municipal office of the State Administration of RER® %ﬁ&ﬁm: E QIR
Taxation (the “Authority”) and therefore was entitled to 15% MPBIPEMRSME ZDEAAR
preferential tax rate from PRC enterprise income tax for three HE_Z-_TF+_A=+—HI1
years starting from year ended 31 December 2020 according FREMG =FANZEX15%8H Bk
to the New PRC Enterprise Income Law. The PRC enterprise XEHEERNX -PELEMG
income tax is calculated at 15% preferential tax rate on the MEBEE TS -__FR=_E=—F
estimated assessable profit for the years ended 31 March A=+ RLEEFEZHFAERY
2022 and 2021. B R15%BEREGTH -

The taxation on the Group’s profit before income tax B & B 89 R TS B AT R A T 78 AKX
differs from the theoretical amount that would arise using R T TE B E A A R AR A
the weighted average tax rate applicable to profits of the EREHEFERA R INET
consolidated entities in the respective jurisdictions as follows: OREFENERSBEMTR

AEBRmT:

HK$ (0]0]0)
FET
Profit before income tax B P15 2% A g A 5,914 20,989
Tax calculated at a weighted average & i F 1T R14%+ E 518
tax rate of 14% (2021: 15%) (ZEZ—F:15%) 828 3,107
Tax effects of: ATRENHIBELE
— Share of losses of associates —E(REEE AT EE'E TE 108 238
— Share of losses/(profits) of joint ventures — fE{E & & EE 7 (HFF)) 116 62)
— Income not subject to tax — AT HA (1,482) (2,502)
— Expenses not deductible for — A B
tax purposes 2,444 405
— Tax losses and other temporary — W B ERELEMSH AT IE
differences for which no deferred EER /H\ fth BT B = BB
income tax was recognised 360 827
— Utilisation of previously unrecognised ~ — BB E R ER R THIEE B
tax losses (62) (395)
— (Over)/under-provision in prior years ~ —iBEEE (BEEH)
BErE (166) 32
— Others —HAfth 32 -
2,178 1,650
Note: B3
The Group was subject to tax in different tax jurisdictions which are mainly AEBERTRABBAEZEE(XEREAR
Hong Kong and the PRC with tax rate ranged from 15.0% to 24.0%. BB BLEAN F15.0%%24.0% ©
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12 Earnings per share

(a)

(b)

Basic earnings per share

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

12

(a)

Basic earnings per share is calculated by dividing the profit
attributable to equity holders of the Company by the weighted
average number of ordinary shares in issue for the years

ended 31 March 2022 and 2021.

B H I ERRK

ZFREF
EREXRF

EREARBFDREAR BRI
EABEEEFNBRABEE T -
—E-—F=ZR=+—HIEE
EETEARMEFTLHEHE -

Profit attributable to equity holders of

AN SaS S RPN il

the Company (HK$'000) (F&7T) 2,097 19,009
Weighted average number of ordinary B 277 & 8 I N4 F 15 8

shares in issue (thousands) (Fm&) 550,000 550,000
Basic earnings per share (HK cents) BRERRZF (BW) 0.38 3.46
Diluted earnings per share (b) BREBERF

Diluted earnings per share is the same as the basic earnings
per share for the years ended 31 March 2022 and 2021 as
there were no potential dilutive ordinary shares outstanding

during the years.

BE-_ZE-_—_F#K-_F-—F=ZA
S+ —HBULEFE SREERFHE
BREXZFNNER TERZEF
EWERBEIINBEHSEBR
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BHMBHRAME

13 Property, plant and equipment 13 ME -BERRE

Computer,
Leasehold Plantand furniture and Motor
Buildings improvements  machinery  equipment vehicles Total
EK AR

BT HENEKE RERER i A& @t
HK$000  HK$000  HK$000  HK$000  HK$000  HK$'000
TER TR TERL TER TR TR

At 1 Apri 2020 W-Z-ZEMA—R

Cost KA 67,850 14,923 99,987 21,329 1,727 205,816
Accumulated depreciation ZitiE (7,560) (13,049) (59,429) (15,460) (1,286) (96,772)
Accumulated impairment ZiRE - - (675) 4 - (679)
Net book amount REFE 60,290 1,880 39,889 5,865 a4 108,365
Year ended 31 March 2021 BE-T_-F-A=t-AL%E

Opening net book amount FURETE 60,290 1,880 39,889 5,865 441 108,365
Additions ZFE - - 3,008 1,744 - 4,802
Disposals & - - (698) 1) - (719)
Depreciation (Note 8) WE (M8 (2.212) (1,169) (5,845) (1,898) (261) (11,385)
Currency translation differences BRES - 14 ®) 34 - 43
Closing net book amount FREETE 58,078 725 36,399 5,724 180 101,106
At 31 March 2021 R-F-_—%=f=t-H

Cost KA 67,850 14,998 102,007 23,018 1,727 209,600
Accumulated depreciation 2EHE 9,772) (14,273) (64,904) (17,294) (1,547) (107,790)
Accumulated impairment ZiAE - - (704) - - (704)
Net book amount REFE 58,078 725 36,399 5,724 180 101,106
Year ended 31 March 2022 HE-Z-"5-R=t+-ALI%E

Opening net book amount ENREFE 58,078 725 36,399 5,724 180 101,106
Additions RE 9,351 348 1,343 840 - 11,882
Additions arisen from Step Acquisiion BB E £ 2R E (M3E33)

(Note 33) ‘ - 17 - 209 - 226
Disposals HE - @ (10) (1) - 83)
Impairment loss (Note 8) FEEE (M) - - (3,398) - - (3,398)
Depreciation (Note 8) W& (Fis) 2,365) (435) (6,088) (1,876) (180) (10,944)
Currency translation differences ERER - 4 - 2 - 6
Closing net book amount EREEEE 65,064 657 28,246 4,848 - 983815
At 31 March 2022 R-E--—f=R=1-H
Cost A 77,201 15,333 109,511 23,349 1,727 207,121
Accumulated depreciation BitiE (12,137) (14,676) (77,168) (18,501) (1,727) (124,209)
Accumulated impairment 2ERE - - (4,097) - - 4,097)
Net book amount FEFE 065,064 657 28,246 4,848 - 98,815
Note: B3
As at 31 March 2022, buildings with the carrying amounts of approximately R-ZE-_—_F=ZA=+—8B EEEAY
HK$65,064,000 (2021: HK$58,078,000) were pledged to banks to secure 65,064,000/ 7t ( =T = — 4 : 58,078,000/
bank borrowings of approximately HK$23,701,000 (2021: HK$18,943,000) T)HEFEERRTFRIT UERESBAEY
(Note 29). 23,701,000/ 7T ( ==& = —4F : 18,943,000/ 7T )

MIRTTIER (Hi529) °
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13

14

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

Property, plant and equipment continueq)

Depreciation of the Group’s property, plant and equipment has
been charged to the profit and loss as follows:

13

B I TR M T

ME-BENRSZE»

AEBONE BERIEBEITE
EREZP G AEBERMT :

2022 2021
—g=-=
HK$’000 HK$’000
FERT F&E T
Cost of sales $HE KA 6,544 6,252
Selling and distribution expenses HERDHEAS 2,747 2,708
Administrative expenses THHEX 1,653 2,425
10,944 11,385
The outbreak of the COVID-19 Epidemic has recurred in cities, COVID-19&Z 157 A B R 52 5 % (@

including Dongguan in China, which created uncertainty in the
business environment in China. In light of that, management
has decided to cease subcontracting arrangement with the
subcontractor in which, certain machinery and equipment
with a carrying amount of approximately HK$7,000,000
were identified as idle. For these machinery and equipment,
management estimated the recoverable amount of
approximately HK$3,602,000 based on higher of value-in-
use calculation or fair value less costs of disposal by making
reference to quotations obtained from third-party buyers in
the second-hand equipment and machinery trading market.
The fair value of these PPE and ROU is categorised in level
2 of the fair value hierarchy. Accordingly, for the year ended
31 March 2022, impairment losses of PPE of approximately
HK$3,398,000, were recognised in the consolidated income
statement.

Right-of-use assets and lease liabilities

The Group has lease contracts for machinery, equipment
and stores. The carrying amounts of the Group’s right-of-use
assets and lease liabilities as at 31 March 2022 and 2021 and
the movement during the years ended 31 March 2022 and
2021 are as follows:

14

THARE TENEHBEEEET
BEH - ERZBEL EEEERT
RIFEZD BB BT &
m - BRTE B A 497,000,00058 T B & T
MEREEERELEBE - B LS
%a%& S EEERBERERR

ERRAABERIEXNN (UReE
BE) WEDELE - FRMERMEE
REMiBRAE=FBERNERER -
5t H A7 Yg Bl & %8 /& #93,602,000748
T EME -BEREEARER
%ZL;‘ETE%E%A/’?{T@J@@W

FE_HoAM RBE_ZT-_—_F=
A=+ BLFE AEERZFAEK
mRERVE BELKERERIE
493,398,000 7T ©

EREEEREESE

REBMOTUKSE RELREED
HEAH - AEBFAEEELME
ERER-ZE__FR=_FT=—

A=+t HNEREERREZEC
TR B —F=ZH=+—
HIEFERNESHOT:
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BHMBHRAME

14 Right-of-use assets and lease liabilites 14 FAEEERHAEERE »

(Continued)
(a) Movement during the years ended 31 March () RBE=-ZBE_—_FR_-_F=-—
2022 and 2021: F=ZA=+—-BLFENES:
Machinery and
Machinery motor vehicle
and under finance
equipment lease
g
HEETH
BERRE BERRE 515 Mt
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
THT TEx TEx TET
At 1 April 2020 RZZE-ZTFEMA—-A
Cost R 2,893 7,252 49,144 59,289
Accumulated depreciation ZEHE (631) (2,946) (17,561) (21,138)
Net book amount REFE 2,262 4,306 31,583 38,151

Year ended 31 March 2021 T —-—F

“A=T-HLEEFE

Opening net book amount ENREFE 2,262 4,306 31,583 38,151

Additions NE - - 2,494 2,494
Depreciation (Note 8) & (fs) (631) (1,646) (18,162) (20,439)
Closing net book amount FEREEFE 1,631 2,660 15,915 20,206
At 31 March 2021 R-ZE-—F=R=+—H

Cost YA 2,893 7,252 46,409 56,554
Accumulated depreciation ZEE (1,262) (4,592) (30,494) (36,348)
Net book amount REFE 1,631 2,660 15,915 20,206

Year ended 31 March 2022 RZBE-—F=A=1+—H

Opening net book amount FNREFE 1,631 2,660 15,915 20,206
Additions AE - 187 9,472 9,659
Additions from Step Acquisition B\ BB BELNRE

(Note 33) CiEs) - - 215 215
Depreciation (Note 8) & (Ffi8) (631) (251) (17,288) (18,170)
Closing net book amount FREEFE 1,000 2,596 8,314 11,910
At 31 March 2022 R-_E__F=A=+—H
Cost A 2,893 7,439 56,096 66,428
Accumulated depreciation ZEME (1,893) (4,843) (47,782) (54,518)
Net book amount REFE 1,000 2,596 8,314 11,910
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B H I ERRK

14 Right-of-use assets and lease liabilites 14 FHAEEERHAEERE »

(Continued)
(b) Balances recognised in the consolidated (b) REHMBERRKRER ZEE
statement of financial position
The consolidated statement of financial position shows the AHBBERAAKRBERATEHEES
following amounts relating to leases: Rk -C I
2022 2021
—E-— —E_-—fF
HK$’000 HK$’000
FHET F&T
Right-of-use assets EREEE
Machinery and equipment W23 K 5 1,000 1,631
Machinery and motor vehicle under BMEMESEBETAMERAE
finance lease 2,596 2,660
Stores Bl 8,314 15,915
11,910 20,206
Lease liabilities HERE
Current portion B EB 6,221 17,513
Non-current portion EMENE D 3,493 2,053
9,714 19,566
Note: B3
As at 31 March 2022 and 2021, the machinery and motor vehicle under R-B-—FR_ZT-_—F=F=+—H &
finance lease were secured by personal guarantees provided by a related party AHEBETHHERAENHEASENRE
of the Group. For details, please refer to Note 35(c). FTRHENEAEBREAER -FEBLHME
35(c) °
(c) Amounts recognised in the profit and loss (c) RERPERNRIE
2022
HK$’000
FHET
Depreciation of right-of-use assets FREEENE 18,170 20,439
Interest expenses on lease liabilities MEAEMNERX 645 1,103
Operating lease rental for short-term EHREEEHEEZ
and low value leases mETHEES 4,375 2,762
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14 Right-of-use assets and lease liabilities

(c)

(d)

(e)

214

(Continued)

Amounts recognised in the profit and loss
(Continued)

The total cash outflow of leases for the year ended 31
March 2022 was approximately HK$20,903,000 (2021:
HK$24,058,000).

During the year ended 31 March 2022, Depreciation of
approximately HK$11,030,000 (2021:HK$12,979,000) has
been charged in ‘cost of sales’, approximately HK$5,513,000
(2021: HK$6,152,000) in ‘selling and distribution expenses’
and approximately HK$1,627,000 (2021:HK$1,308,000) in
‘administrative expenses’ respectively.

The Group’s leasing activities and how these are
accounted for

The Group leases various stores, machineries, and office
equipment. Rental contracts are typically made for fixed
periods of 2 to 5 years but may have extension options as
described in (g) below.

Lease terms are negotiated on an individual basis and
contain a wide range of different terms and conditions. The
lease agreements do not impose any covenants other than
the security interests in the leased assets that are held by
the lessor. Leased assets may not be used as security for
borrowing purposes.

Extension options

Extension options are included in a number of leases across
the Group. These terms are used to maximise operational
flexibility in terms of managing contracts. The majority of
extension options held are exercisable only by the Group
and not by the respective lessor. Extension options are only
included in the lease term if the lease is reasonably certain to
be extended.

eprint Group Limited Annual Report 2021/22

14 FRAREEREEERE

(c)

(d)

(e)

REZHTERORE 2

BHeE_ZT-_—_F#=ZA=+—81
ﬁzrga}\]%ﬁgiﬁ%/ﬁﬁm@ gf\/\\qﬁ
20,903,000 L (& = — & :

24,058,000/ 7T ) ©

HEz—_Z2-_—_F#=ZA=Z+—A81
FE I E 11,030,000 T (=
T - — 4% :12,979,000 T)
#)5,513,0008 L (& = — F:
6,152,000/ 7t ) & #91,627,000/% 7T
(—Z — —1%:1,308,000/870) % Bl
RIEERA]  [HE R #HR X
MIITHRAS] -

EI-E%Z?'FEE‘EEJJ&E)\EEE
I

AEEHELZHBE SHEKE R
MARB-HEAHN —RB2ELF
W E E IR - ERT A T X (e) B AT AL
MRE FRIE A

HEGRRDZENELEER 25
ERERARAMGRLGEF - HEHZEL
B MER R ELEARAE R
HEEETWERED ARSI
EEETHRERIEENER-

EREERE

AEEZHEMENBEEREREE-
BREEAHOMET e FHEKIIA N
BEEMEEEE - ABOATA
MEREZRENAASEITE:
HELEAERTE-E2EAAHE
BECRHEHEHRE TREZE
TeeaaElEgnm-
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B B R K i

15 Intangible assets 15 BILEE
Brand name Goodwill Total
mBEERE R ot
HK$'000 HK$’000 HK$’'000
FABTT FATT FETT
At 31 March 2021 RZEBE-_—F=A=+—H
Cost BN - 725 725

Accumulated amortisation 2 5t 5 - - -

Net book amount SREFE - 725 725

Year ended 31 March 2022 &2 & - =

—A=t—HLEFE
Opening net book amount & ¥ BR 1 /F & - 725 725
Additions from Step BB EEEENAE
Acquisition (Note 33) (FfF7E33) 1,400 8,958 10,358

Impairment (Note 7) A (FEE7) - (3,086) (3,086)

Amortisation (Note 8) By (fI3E8) (93) - (93)

Closing net book amount & & BR /& 1,307 6,597 7,904

At 31 March 2022 R-_E__F=A=+—H

Cost (DN 1,400 9,683 11,083

Accumulated amortisation 2 51 4 (93) - (93)

Accumulated impairment  Z&tEE - (3,086) (3,086)

Net book amount BREFE 1,307 6,597 7,904

Impairment test for goodwill EmERENRE

i) Goodwill arisen from acquisition of ebanner i) UWiBebannerE£HEE
Management reviews the business performance of EREENSEBRERHEZER
the Group based on the products and services the fﬂ Pk 7% & F')ﬂ REBEBHEE-
respective business provided. Goodwill is monitored EREEERENHEE ZHE
by management at the operating segment level. The BoKRKE @ MER_T—RF
Group’s goodwill was arisen from the acquisition of M A — B Ee-banner Limited
additional 11% equity interests in e-banner Limited on BIMA1% 2 R EES I 5 AL
1 April 2015 and it is allocated to the banner printing EEEEHRIER D E -

operating segment.
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=)

R Ml et

15 Intangible assets (continveq)

Impairment test for goodwill «continuea)

i)

Goodwill arisen from acquisition of ebanner
(Continued)

Management reviews annually whether the carrying
amount of a CGU is higher than the recoverable amount
which results in impairment of goodwill. The carrying
amount consisted of property, plant and equipment,
right-of-use assets and goodwill. The recoverable
amount of a CGU is determined based on value-in-
use calculation. The calculation use pre-tax cash flow
projections based on financial budget approved by
management covering a five-year period with the first
year growth rate of 10% (2021: first year growth rate of
14%), the second year growth rate of 6% (2021: 21%)
and forecasted average revenue growth rate for third
to fifth year at 6% (2021: 5%). Gross profit margin are
assumed to be 40%-41% (2021: 37%-39%) for the
forecast period. Cash flows beyond the five-year period
are extrapolated using the estimated growth rate of 3%
(2021: 2%) and pre-tax discount rate of 12% (2021:
14%).

Management determined the revenue growth rate based
on past performance and expectations on market and
operational development. The discount rate applied by
the Group is rate that reflect current market assessment
of the time value of money and the risk specific to the
CGU.

As a result of the impairment review, the recoverable
amount calculated based on the value-in-use
calculation exceeded carrying amount by approximately
HK$27,638,000 (the headroom) as at 31 March 2022
(2021: HK$14,699,000). As a result, no impairment loss
was charged for the year ended 31 March 2022 (2021:
Nil).
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15

HMIEEE »
BEREIR »)

i)

Y BgebannerE £ N EE ()

EEESFRIASELEN
REELESRAKRESEM
BEHERE-REEREY
X BEARE EABEAER
HE-ReELBEMMAYKE
CHEEREEMEETE &
AFERAERNEEE B ERE
ENTHEMNMRBEZESF
10%MBER(ZF = —F:
BFEEEE14%)  F —F6%
R F21%)ERE
EREARE=FELRF6% (=
T —F:5%) M1 KRS8
REFLHWBAIRSRERA -
18R] B F] A8 5% B Rl R /40%
B % (ZTZ—F:37T%%E
39%) ~ix I F MM 2 R R
ERERAMGEREI% (=
T F:2%) RBATR B X
12% (ZFZ—F:14% ) ¥
o

EEBERMSENELERY
NEXELREETFRRER
KR-AREHEHERZERRRKR
ERKRREEEE R MSTMG
ERBRecELBEURERR -

BERBERNS R_T=-=
—A=Z+t—BREFEREAE
BRirEma ke £ EBaE
[ {B #727,638,0005 7T (£ %8)
(ZZ = — % :14,699,000/%
) A REE—_E ==
—A=+t—BLEFEHMEMNK
BEEBEEB(ZTE=-_—F &) -
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15 Intangible assets (continueq)

Impairment test for goodwill «continuea)

i)

Goodwill arisen from acquisition of Sakura Japan

As disclosed in Note 33, the Group has acquired
additional 42% of interest in Sakura Japan, intangible
assets of approximately HK$1,400,000 and Goodwill of
approximately HK$8,958,000 were arisen from business
acquisitions in current year.

Management reviews the business performance of the
Group based on the property agency services business
provided. Goodwill is monitored by management at
the operating segment level. The Group’s goodwill was
arisen from the acquisition of additional 42% equity
interests in Sakura Japan on 23 November 2021 and it
is allocated to the property agency service segment.

Management reviews annually whether the carrying
amount of a CGU is higher than the recoverable amount
which results in impairment of goodwill. The carrying
amount consisted of brand name, property, plant and
equipment, right-of-use assets and goodwill. The
recoverable amount of a CGU is determined based on
value-in-use calculation. The calculation use pre-tax cash
flow projections based on financial budget approved by
management covering a five-year period with the first
year growth rate of 5%, the second year growth rate of
5% and forecasted average revenue growth rate for third
to fifth year at 4.8%. Gross profit margin are assumed to
be 55%-56% for the forecast period. Cash flows beyond
the five-year period are extrapolated using the estimated
growth rate of 3% and pre-tax discount rate of 15.6%.

Based on the result of work as mentioned above,
management reduced the carrying amount of property
agency services segment CGU by an amount of
approximately HK$3,086,000 through recognition of
an impairment loss against goodwill for the year ended
31 March 2022. Such impairment charge arose as a
result of the less than satisfactory past and expected
performance of the property agency business under the
outbreak of the COVID-19 Epidemic. No other class of
assets other than goodwill was impaired. Recoverable
amounts of the goodwill in property agency services
business are same as carrying amounts as at 31 March
2022.

15

B H I ERRK

BIEEE =
BEBERNR &)

i)

BEEZTBHEELENHE

BN RESSAT R A E K
B T EREINM2%AER
AEEREHWKEmMEEER
& EE 491,400,000 7T N i 2 4
8,958,000/% T °

EREERAMREHAYENRRE
RS EB BB AEEERB KR -
ERERKENHEEEER
BHE AEBHEARNR_ZT - —F
+—A-+t=ZBKBBEZTH
ERRINM2% M R MEERNE
WEAHEEMERERE DL -

EEESTRNASEELESM
FEHEELES SR WE ¢ 5Em
BEEEFE-FAESRE R
BEW - E - BEREE @
AEEELAHEB - BEeEASE
KA E &I FEREER
HETFT ZiEXAERER
B AN EERFHBENTK
TEEREFIURMBRER - F =
FERMIERERBRHE=ZF=
FRFA48%MFH U ZE R K
EEMFRABRESREEA R
FERBRRBREZENE E5S%E
56% - Z A FHE MBS
MEHRAMGFIEREI%LBA
BYIR R15.6%HE o

BELFRTEKRR REE=
T —F=ZA=+—HItFE-
ERESRREREERESE
MR ERERBE S HRE
EA B 2 REEX3,086,000
BIro WEREMR DE Y =
RIBEKECOVID-19BE T 2
BEMEHERBTAEMMEL-
BRAEENIN EEMERNE
EREB - B#EZE-_Z-_—_F=AH
=+—H WERERBER
Z B0 Uy Bl £ FE AR T {E A5
BB
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15 Intangible assets (continveq)

Impairment test for goodwill «continuea)

i)

Goodwill arisen from acquisition of Sakura Japan
(Continued)

If the forecasted revenue growth rate had been lowered
by one percentage point for the five-year projection
period, the recoverable amounts would be lowered by
6%, but would still exceed their carrying amounts.

If the forecasted gross profit margin had been lowered
50 basis points for the forecasted five-year projection
period, the recoverable amounts would be lowered by
6%, but would still exceed their carrying amounts.

If the forecasted revenue growth rate had been lowered
by one percentage point for the forecasted five-year
projection period, a further impairment in goodwill of
approximately HK$567,000 would have been resulted for
the property agency business.

If the forecasted gross profit margin had been lowered by
50 basis points for for the forecasted five-year projection
period, a further impairment in goodwill of approximately
HK$633,000 would have been resulted for the property
agency business.
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633,000/ Tt °
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B H I ERRK

16 Subsidiaries 16 B2 A
The following is a list of the subsidiaries at 31 March 2022 RZE_—_FR_FT-_—4%=AH
and 2021: =t+—H - WEARBENT:

Proportion of Proportion of ordinary  Principal
Place of incorporation Particulars of ordinary shares held shares held by non-  activities and
Name of company and kind of legal entity issued share capital by the Group (%) controlling interest (%) place of operation

FERERER IREREDR

Gk MR HEREEERER ERORAEE AEERELBRLHI%) EBRELA(%) EES L
2022 2021 2022 2021
—B-__f —-—T-—-% ZB-_-§ -ZT-—%

Directly held:
EEBA:
Promise Network The British Virgin Islands (‘BVI"), 2,887 ordinary shares of 100% 100% - - Investment holding in
Holding Limited limited liability company US$1 each Hong Kong
R BEER REEAES ([ABRRES]) 2807RBREEIELH FRREER
BR2A BREMERA LEk
eprint Digital Holding ~ The BVI, limited liability company 1 ordinary share of 100% 100% - - Investment holding in
Limited RERAES BREAAR US$1 each Hong Kong
RERAEIZTHL AR EAREER
E-print Group Limited ~ The BV, limited liability company 50,000 ordinary shares of 100% 100% - - Investment holding in
KBRLHS BREMAA US$1 each Hong Kong
50,000 SR EEIETH FRRAZR
EF:L
eprint Holdings Limited  The BVI, limited liability company 1 ordinary share of 100% 100% - - Investment holding in
RERAEE BREAAR US$1 each Hong Kong
REREEIETHL AR EAREER
e-print Trading Limited ~ The BVI, limited liability company 1 ordinary share of 100% 100% - - Investment holding in
KBRLHS BREMAA US$1 each Hong Kong
RERABIZTHLRR EAREER
Indirectly held:
BiEEE:
Promise Network Hong Kong, limited liability company 2,886 ordinary shares of 100% 100% - - Provision of printing
Printing Limited FE AREMARA HK$1 each services in Hong
Rl B LEIR 2,886 B REE1E T Kong
BBRAF LRk ERBREEDRIRH
Invoice Limited Hong Kong, limited liability company 1,000 ordinary shares of 100% 100% - - Provision of printing
ERDRERAF A EREALA HK$1 each services in Hong
1,008 B REBIELH Kong
Lk ERBREEIRIRE
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16 Subsidiaries (coninueq) 16 B AR =

Name of company

BFER

Place of incorporation
and kind of legal entity

ERIEARE PS03 § b

Proportion of
ordinary shares held
by the Group (%)

Particulars of
issued share capital

BRITRFHE

AEEEREERLA(%)
2022 2021

—E-—&

—g-c

Proportion of ordinary
shares held by non-
controlling interest (%)

FERBEEEE

B AR (%)
2022 2021
—EC-C —E--F

Principal
activities and
place of operation
TEXREHR
BRI

Kimley Technology Hong Kong, limited liability company 2,775 ordinary shares of 100% 100% - - Investment holding in
(HK) Limited % BREAAH HK$1 each Hong Kong
SR (FE) 27T ERAEEIETH EAREER
BRAF LAk
Dajinlai Technology The PRC, limited liability company 1,000,000 ordinary shares of 100% 100% - - Provision of |.T. services
(Shenzhen) Limited'? Bl BREAAH RMB1 each in the PRC
A& REHE ORI 1,000,000f R EE ERRRHEEARAR
BRAT? AREITRERR %
Lucky Gainer Limited ~ Hong Kong, limited liability company 2 ordinary shares of 100% 100% - - Provision of
ERERAH BE AREALA HK$1 each management services
RERABIATHLER in Hong Kong
EEEREERRK
Design Easy Limited Hong Kong, limited liabilty company 2,775 ordinary shares of 100% 100% - - Provision of printing
Rt 5 (FE) BB BREALT HK$1 each services in Hong
BRAA 27T EREE BT Kong
LRk EEBREDRIRY
eprint Investments The BV, limited liability company 1 ordinary share of 100% 100% - - Property investment in
Limited RERLZHES BREMLA US$1 each Hong Kong
RERABEIETHLRR BRNERE
eprint Property The BV, limited liability company 1 ordinary share of 100% 100% - - Property investment in
Investments Limited ~ EBRE X ES AREAAT US$1 each Hong Kong
RERAEIZTHERR BANERE
e-banner Limited Hong Kong, limited liability company 40,133,000 ordinary shares 51% 51% 49% 49%  Provision of digital
B EREALR of HK$1 each printing services in
40,133,000 5 REE Hong Kong
BT TRk EEBREHTRIR
%
Digtal Printing Centre  Hong Kong, limited liability company 10,000 ordinary shares of 51% 51% 49% 49% Investment holding in
Limited B BEREALR HK$1 each Hong Kong
YEDRRLERAR 10,000 R EE1ETH FERERR
Lak
Ebanner Solution Malaysia, limited liability company 400,000 ordinary shares of 51% 51% 49% 49%  Provision of printing
Sdn. Bhd. SREG BREMAR RM1 each services in Malaysia
4000005 B RAEI 2 HH EBREDREERIR
LRk %
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B H I ERRK

16 Subsidiaries continueo) 16 MIB QR =
Proportion of Proportion of ordinary  Principal
Place of incorporation Particulars of ordinary shares held shares held by non-  activities and
Name of company and kind of legal entity issued share capital by the Group (%) controlling interest (%) place of operation
FEREREE TEXBEHR
NEER SRRt EREEEREY BRTRAFE AEEEEEBRLH(%) EBRELAI(%) BRI
2022 2021 2022 2021
—E-C —E-_-F ZB=-:= “E-—F
E-BOSS CO. LIMITED  Hong Kong, limited liability company 1 ordinary shares of 100% 100% - - Investment holding in
ZEBERAT B BREFAT HK$1 each Hong Kong
1REREEIETH SRR BRRERR
eprint Japan Limited" ~ Japan, limited liability company 100 ordinary shares of 100% 100% - - Dormant
Eprint Japantk 2 &40 A BREAAH JPY25,000 each EEER
1008k & AR & B25,0008
HEBR
010 Limited Hong Kong, limited liability company 765 ordinary shares of 51% 51% 49% 49% Trading of optical
5% BREAAT HK$1,000 each, 735 products
ordinary shares of HEERR S
HK$534 each and 2,400
shares of HK$0.01 each
7650k BAREE1,000% T
HEBR 735RER
HEsMAE T EBR
22,4008 B R E E0.01
BrHRG
TTTH Limited® Hong Kong, limited liabllity company 10,000 ordinary shares of 51% N/A 49% N/A~ Dormant
B EREALR HK$1 each TEA TR EEXH
10,000 GRAEIETH
Sakura Japan Property  Hong Kong, limited liability company 5,510,000 ordinary shares 62% N/A 38% N/A " Provision of property
(Hong Kong) Limited* & BREFEAA of HK$1 each and TiEA T@E  agency services
BZTHE (B8)F 1,990,000 ordinary shares REUMERERYE
FYNGIN of HK ¢ 0.00015 each
5,510,0005 SRE BT
%M 121,990,0008%
FRREB0.00015% LAY
LAk
Sakura Global Property  Hong Kong, limited liability company 10,000 ordinary shares of 62% N/A 38% N/A" Provision of property
Limited (“Sakura B BEREAAR HK$1 each TR TEA  agency services
Global')* 10,000 BREEETH RENERRRE
BBRESARAT gl
(233380 )
1 English translation is for identification purpose only ! BN ELEHRER
2 Registered as wholly foreign owned enterprises under PRC law 2 REFEZEIMAIEEECE
8 TTTH Limited is incorporated on 13 September 2021 8 TTTH Limited® = = —F A+ =H*
L7 ava
4 Sakura Japan and Sakura Global were acquired on 23 November 2021. 4 BZTHERBIEERR _T=—F

T—RA-+t=R%E-
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16 Subsidiaries continuea)

(@) Material non-controlling interests

The total non-controlling interests as at 31 March 2022 is
HK$8,470,000 (2021: HK$6,507,000), in which the majority of
amount is attributed to e-banner Limited and its subsidiaries
(“e-banner Group”).

() Summarised consolidated financial information on
subsidiaries with material non-controlling interests

Set out below is the summarised consolidated financial
information for the e-banner Group that have non-controlling
interests that are material to the Group. The amounts
disclosed for e-banner Group are before inter-company
eliminations.

Summarised consolidated statement of financial
position

16 B A 8 =
(a) EXRFERESR

R-_E-_-—F=ZA=+—8" 3
B% ¥ 25 42 58 58,470,000 L (= Z
— —%:6,507,000/8 L) * KD
2 W e-banner Limited & BB A &
(le-bannerE@ ] ) »

() EEEAFEZEREZNHELIRZ
O BERNBE

TXEINEAEEMSEBERNNHE
A IE A% #E 35 Me-bannerEE 2 A
HETIEER B E - Fhe-bannerE B AT
BENSBALRIEIKEATMESE-

BOF RN /B E

e-banner Group
e-banner& B

2022 2021
—E=-=
HK$’000 HK$’000
FExT FETT
Current mED
Assets BE 15,193 16,902
Liabilities afE (18,628) (13,421)
Total current net (liabilities)/assets TE (AR JAEFHEAE (3,435) 3,481
Non-current IERH
Assets BE 22,758 10,329
Liabilities af (2,153) (417)
Total non-curent net assets FERBEEFERTE 20,605 9,912
Net assets BEFE 17,170 13,393
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16 Subsidiaries continued)

(@) Material non-controlling interests (continuea)

Summarised consolidated statement of
comprehensive income

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

B H I ERRK

16 i B =) =)
(a) EXRFERER 2
EHEERERBE

e-banner Group
e-bannerfk B

2022 2021

—ZET__ —EF - —4F

HK$’000 HK$’000

FET FET

Revenue U 2= 70,901 56,498
Profit/(loss) before income tax BRETE R AR R, (E518) 4,464 (465)
Income tax (expense)/credit s (Ax) /& (680) 925
Profit for the year F A5 A 3,784 460

17 Investments in associates

17 REBZE QTN KRE

2022 2021
—=-= —FT-—4F
HK$’000 HK$’000
FTET FHET
At beginning of year REH 681 2,407
Addition (Note (i) and (iv)) ANE (KEEEG) R v) 1,400 500
Share of losses of associates FEAG B = N A E 18 (660) (1,441)
Dividend received (Note (ii)) Fr U B B, (B (i) ) - (785)
At end of year RER 1,421 681
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17 Investments in associates (coninueq

Details of the Group’s investments in associates are as
follows:

Name of company

NAER

Place of business/
Effective interest held
as at 31 March

country of
incorporation
£330 7
EMEIER

R=A=t+-BNARRER
2022 2021
S e

—_

17 RBERTNRE

REEREE

Principal activities

TERKED

Sakura Japan Property Hong Kong - 20%  Provision of real estate
(Hong Kong) Limited"? Bk agency services
B2 BE (F8)BR REFHERBRS
/L\\ EJLZ
e-post Limited' Hong Kong 40% 40%  Provision of catering
&k services
REZ KRS
Step Wise Limited' Hong Kong 15% - Provision of premium
REBBAF A% car wrap service

(i

(i)

(iv)

RUBENERERY

The financial statements of these companies were not audited by
PricewaterhouseCoopers.

The company has become a subsidiary of the Group on 23 November
2021. Details refer to note 33.

On 27 July 2020 and 25 September 2020, the Group have made a
capital injection of HK$400,000 and HK$100,000 respectively to Sakura
Japan Property (Hong Kong) Limited, representing 20% of the enlarged
issued share capital. On 23 November 2021, the Group completed Step
Acquisition. As a result, Sakura Japan Property (Hong Kong) Limited
became a subsidiary of the Group.

For the year ended 31 March 2022, there were no dividends declared
relating to the Group’s interest in associates.

For the year ended 31 March 2021, e-post limited distributed dividend
of $785,000 (HK$7,850 per ordinary share) to the Group.

There are no commitments and contingent liabilities relating to the
Group’s interest in the associates.

On 9 February 2022, the Group have made a capital injection of
HK$1,400,000 to Step Wise Limited, representing an effective
shareholding interest of 15% in Step Wise Limited.
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1

(i)

(i)

(iv)

NAHREFBWT

Measurement
method Carrying amount
TEAE HREE
2021
HK$’'000 HK$'000
TR FTET
Equity - 681
Bk
Equity - -
ERE
Equity 1,421 -
BwA

ZE N Z P BRI IR E TR KE
SR EBAER -

ZARR T —F+—A=+=H
RAREENRBRR FHEB2HME
33 -

RZE_TEF+A++tARZZT=E
FHAZ -I—EEEI ZK;EKIEW&ZT@JE
(&H%)BR AT 5HI)EE400,00078 7T &
100,000/ JT * $E*EA$E7<1§E§§TTH§7K
H20% - R -_ZE-—F+—F-+=H"
AEETKEHXBEEE-Ait 182
TEE (FH)BRARKBEEENE
NI

BHE_Z-__F=A=+—-BHILFE"
WP A BB S DR REIRE
RS

HE-_Z-—4=ZfF=+—BLFE"
e-post Limited A 4 & Bk 1+ f& £.785,000
E7 (BREBIRT 850 T) -

I G AR S R B D R S H ARE
R haE-

R-ZE-—F-_ANB FAEERKE
A BR 2 A]7E & 1,400,000 7T 18 % A R
BERAF15%E B ALE -
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B BT R K 5T
18 Investments in joint ventures 18 REELENRKRE
2022 2021
—=E_= B —4F
HK$’000 HK$’000
THET FAT
At beginning of year NG 13,078 11,792
Share of (losses)/profits of joint ventures fE(R & &% (BE) & F (708) 375
Currency translation differences E X ZE R (67) 911
At end of year RER 12,303 13,078
Details of the Group’s joint ventures are as follows: AEBzAELEFBOT
Place of business/
country of Percentage of Measurement
Name of company incorporation ownership interest Principal activities method Carrying amount
E 331
AR EH MR LER ERESL TEERED HEAE REE
2022 2021 2022
—E-C —E-—F —E2_C =
HK$’000 HK$'000
TET TR
e-print Solutions Sdn. Bhd.  Malaysia 30% 30%  Provision of printing Equity 10,236 11,445
services
SRAD REENRIR B
Top Success Investment BVI 50% 50%  Provision of finance Equity 2,067 1,633
Group Limited leasing of yacht
TFRERERRERAR ZERAHS REGHEREEE Ea
Notes: F 5L -
0] For the years ended 31 March 2022 and 2021, there were no dividends 0] HE-_T-_-_FR=-FT=-—F=A
declared relating to the Group’s interest in joint ventures. =S+-—BLEFE - VTEREAEERREE
ENERSIREMRE -
(ii) As at 31 March 2022 and 2021, the Group has no commitments and (ii) RZE - —FR_ZTE-_—F=ZA=+—

no contingent liabilities relating to the Group’s interest in joint ventures.

B ARBEYEEEASERASDE
BammEAERRRAE
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18 Investments in joint ventures (continueq)

(@) Summarised consolidated financial information

of material joint venture

Set out below is the summarised consolidated financial
information for e-print Solutions Sdn. Bhd. and its subsidiaries
(“e-print Solutions”) which is accounted for using the equity

method.

Summarised consolidated statement of financial

position

18 REELENKE »
(a) ;Eé TESHBTBE R

~ & %lle-print Solutions Sdn. Bhd.
N E B A A ([e-print Solutions |)
MEHMBERBE WA
EE o

SO BRRREE

e-print Solutions
2022

—E=-=

2021

HK$’000
THETT

HK$’000

Current assets MEEE
Cash and cash equivalents HehkFESFMEEE 12,075 10,204
Other current assets (excluding cash HiREhEE (TeE

and cash equivalents) RekReEMBEIER) 7,236 6,947
Totalcurrentassets ‘mEEEE®E 19811 17,181
Current liabilities mENAE
Financial liabilities (excluding trade THAEBE(TEEES

payables) FETRRIE) (6,965) (6,627)
Other current liabilities (including trade  HE g aE (B2EE 5

payables) FERTFRIR) (13,362) (11,050)
Total current liablites _ ‘m#AEE®E (20,327) (17,677) _
Totalnon-currentassets  FmEBEEE® 64162 69,366
Non-current liabilities EREBARE
Financial liabilities SRAG (26,061) (27,703)
Other liabilities HmaE (3,136) (3,156)
Total non-current liabilities  FmBAMEE® (29,197) . (30,889)
Net assets BEFHE 33,949 37,981
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Xl e
18 Investments in joint ventures (continueq 8 REELENKRE =
(a) Summarised consolidated financial information (a) EEAE CE¥S MK E R #
of material joint venture (continuec) B
Summarised consolidated statement of EHEEREREE

(b)

comprehensive income

e-print Solutions

2022 2021

—E-— == ks

HK$’000 HK$’'000

FERT B Tt

Revenue Wz 67,548 64,631
Depreciation e (4,535) (4,270)
Finance cost A& B A (1,165) (1,462)
Loss before income tax BRFTS TR E 18 (2,976) (170)
Income tax expense Frigtif (146) (847)
Loss for the year FAEE (3,122) (1,017)

UNEBERRREZEENE HFTT
WEAAZI A B WIS B A
(F LR I£<<<E¢$E.§ﬁé\%ﬂ§¥
AAHRMERFELRAE-

The information above reflects the amounts presented in the
consolidated financial statements of the joint venture and
not for the Group’s share of those amounts, adjusted for
differences in accounting policies between the Group and the ZHEe
joint venture.

Reconciliation of summarised consolidated (b) GBI KERBENYEER
financial information

EHMBEABENEEZHER
—HeELEMESKREE-

Reconciliation of the summarised consolidated financial
information presented to the carrying amount of its interest in
a joint venture.

e-print Solutions

2022 2021
—=E—= = = —=%F
HK$’000 HK$’000
FHExT FE T
Opening net assets FUBEEFRE 37,981 35,942
Loss for the year FREE (3,122) (1,017)
Currency translation differences ME =58 (910) 3,056
Closing net assets FREEFHE 33,949 37,981
Interest in joint venture REEDENER 30% 30%
Share of net assets LB E T 10,185 11,394
Goodwill EBES 51 51
Carrying amount BREE 10,236 11,445
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19 REHETHEMTA

19 Financial instruments by category

Financial
asset Financial
at amortised assets at
costs- fair value
loans and through
receivables profit or loss
Bk z FERBRIE
SRMEE- DAEEIIERZ
B RERRE CHEE
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FHET
Assets BE
As at 31 March 2022 RZBE-=_F=A=+—H
Trade and other receivables & 5 & H ftb 8 U 78
(excluding prepayments) (T EREEMNFE) 15,390 - 15,390
Amounts due from related JE U B B B 508
companies 1,076 - 1,076
Other financial assets at REHEK AR 2
amortised cost Hihe@EE 36,645 - 36,645
Financial assets at fair value ~ #EBBREAAEE
through profit or loss SRz G BB E - 18,106 18,106
Cash and cash equivalents RekBeEFEIER 113,911 - 113,911
167,022 18,106 185,128
As at 31 March 2021 RZZEZ—F=A=+—H
Trade and other receivables & 5 & £ fth el 7718
(excluding prepayments) (TERERMRE) 9,735 - 9,735
Amounts due from related Y B A R FIE
companies 250 - 250
Other financial assets at BEHEN AR 2
amortised cost HtemEE 45,596 - 45,596
Financial assets at fair value ~ EBBEE LA EE
through profit or loss SR e REE - 19,185 19,185
Cash and cash equivalents RekFeEEIER 106,565 - 106,565
162,146 19,185 181,331
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B H I ERRK

9 BEREIHNEMITA

Financial
liabilities at
amortised cost

19 Financial instruments by category (continueq)

Liabilities
As at 31 March 2022

aE
F_g::EEHE+—E

EH A

SlfR 2
TEMAE
HK$’'000

THET

Amounts due to related parties FETRRE S 3B 200
Amounts due to directors FEREENIE 195
Borrowings BE 26,216
Trade and other payables (excluding advanced & 5 & Hth fE {7038 (B EFE U
receipts from customers, contract liabilities EFPFIE AHBENMEFTHE)
and accrued expenses) 17,480
Lease liabilities HEBE 9,714
53,805
As at 31 March 2021 7:7’\\\_;_—¢ H +—H
Amounts due to related parties FERTEBE T K 201
Amounts due to directors EREEFIE 165
Borrowings BE 19,904
Trade and other payables (excluding advanced & 5 &ﬁf‘ﬂﬁéﬁ FIE (T BEEER
receipts from customers, contract liabilities BRERE- -G48 EBENREFHAT)
and accrued expenses) 8,331
Lease liabilities HERE 19,566
48,167
20 Inventories 20 &
2022 2021
—=E—= —E_-—fF
HK$’000 HK$’000
FHET FAET
Raw materials JR M 9,373 6,065
Work-in-progress £ & m 157 191
Finished goods B o 32 358
9,562 6,614
The cost of materials recognised as an expense and included Bz -_—_#F#=ZA=+—HI#
in ‘cost of sales’ amounted to approximately HK$62,168,000 B HERAEB LA A EE KA

for the year ended 31 March 2022 (2021: HK$49,366,000). E’Wf K AR & #962,168,0007%8 7T ( =

T — —4F 149,366,000/ L) °
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21 Trade receivables

21 EZREWFRIE

2022
HKS$’000 HK$'000
FExT FHE T
Trade receivables 2 5 W GRIE 5,527 5,985
Less: loss allowance R E R (1,230) (1,008)
Trade receivables — net g5 EW R TE — 55 4,297 4,982

Notes:

()

(i

(i)

()

The directors of the Company apply the simplified approach to provide
for expected credit losses prescribed by HKFRS 9, which permits
the use of the lifetime expected loss provision for trade receivables.
To measure the expected credit losses, these receivables have been
grouped based on firstly shared credit risk characteristics and then
aging from billing.

See Note 3.1(b) for credit risk exposure and expected credit loss
provision for trade receivables and the information about how
impairment losses are calculated.

Movements of the Group’s loss allowance for impairment of trade
receivables are detailed in Note 3.1(b).

As at 31 March 2022 and 2021, the maximum exposure to credit risk is
the carrying amounts of trade receivables and the Group does not hold
any collateral as security.

As at 31 March 2022 and 2021, due to the short-term nature of trade
receivables, the directors of the Company consider that the carrying
amounts of trade receivables approximate their fair values.

As at 31 March 2022 and 2021, the carrying amounts of trade
receivables are mainly denominated in Hong Kong dollars.
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(0)

(i

(i)

(v)

ARBEERBECTEZHREBUHE
HEENBOFRENTRRERER &
B S R FEN 1 AT EE 5 UK
EERHEREERE R 2R
EFEER ZERUFHECEERER
REERBREZOE REBREBEKREE
TTRRER DA

ERESERYFENEERRA RE
HEEBBREE ARNEERES
BOER F2HMES1(0)

AEBEEBRERERERENE
B BEAEESAD) ©

R —ER-_FE-_—F=A=+—
H &ZHEAXEERRIE SRR
TA ¢ B T o AN 55 [ 30 4 45 A (T ) 3K 3
mIEER -

R —ER-_E-_—F=A=+—
B BARESERGENSEED AR
REERAESERFENERMERE
ARBEHEE-

RIB - R -_FT-_—F=A=+—
H ESRBBRFTENEEEEZZUSET
FTE-
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21 Trade receivables (continueq)

Payment terms granted to customers are mainly cash on
delivery and on credit. The average credit period ranges from
30 days to 60 days. The ageing analysis of the gross trade
receivables based on invoice date is as follows:

B H I ERRK

21 EZEWRFEIE

AEFREHONRERERREE
NHEEE - FHEERN FI0A
E60R -REZEHBAONEHE
WK IBERREOTMT

2022 2021

—E== =

HK$’000 HK$’000

FERT FAT

0 — 30 days 0&230H 2,247 2,641
31 - 60 days 31260H 943 753
Over 60 days H@E60H 2,337 2,591
5,527 5,985

22 Deposits, prepayments and other

22 e FANFREREMBER

receivables MIH
2022 2021
—s==-= —ET -4
HK$’000 HK$’000
FExT FET
Deposits and prepayments (Note (i) e RIBRRIE (B i) 16,758 8,812
Other receivables H{th & YR IE 481 292
17,239 9,105
Less: non-current portion B IEmENER
Deposits and prepayments B RIERRIE (1,780) (770)
Deposits, prepayments and other e AN RRIE K EH M E U
receivables — current portion HIBE— R D 15,459 8,335
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AP BERRMTE

22 Deposits, prepayments and other
receivables (continueq)

Notes:

()

(i

(i)

()

Amount mainly represents rental deposits, and prepayments for utility,
insurance expenses and subcontracting fee.

For deposits and other receivables, the Group applies the HKFRS 9
general approach to measure expected credit losses which uses a
3-stage model to measure loss allowance.

See Note 3.1(b) for credit risk exposure and expected credit loss
provision for deposits, and other receivables and the information about
how impairment losses are calculated.

As at 31 March 2022 and 2021, management considered that the
expected credit loss for deposits and other receivables was immaterial,
thus no loss allowance was made.

As at 31 March 2022 and 2021, the maximum exposure to credit risk
is the carrying amounts of deposits and other receivables as the Group
does not hold any collateral as security.

As at 31 March 2022 and 2021, the directors of the Company consider
that the carrying amounts of deposits and other receivables approximate
their fair values.

As at 31 March 2022 and 2021, the carrying amounts of the Group’s
deposits, prepayments and other receivables are mainly denominated in
Hong Kong dollars.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

B H I ERRK

23 Other financial assets at amortised cost 23 RE#BERAFEZ2HEMS

2022 2021

—=-= - —F

HK$’000 HK$’000

FTHEx FET

Loan and interest receivables (Note a)  ERE R L F B (Mfzta) 38,908 48,005
Less: loss allowance (Note b) o BERE (MEb) (2,263) (2,409)
36,645 45,596
Less: current portion BB E D (2,075) (11,953)
Non-current portion EmENE 34,570 33,643

(a) Movement of loan and interest receivables (a) EWEREANENES

2022 2021

—ZE__ —E-—4F

HK$’000 HK$’000

FTERT FHET

At beginning of the year i) 48,005 16,200

Additions =T 4,090 34,991

Accrued interest FEETFI B 2,816 2,640

Settlement for the year FELHE (16,003) (5,826)

At end of the year RER 38,908 48,005

As at reporting date, the balance mainly composed of: RWERR ARFE0E:

() A loan arrangement with the subsidiary of a joint () AEBR-_Z=_TF=A++tH
venture — Top Success Investment Group Limited entered H—REEPE-ILFTRERE
by the Group on 17 March 2020. As at 31 March 2022 HERRA IR 1 B ) MY B A R R 32
and 2021, the principal amount of the loan amounted MERLF- R _F__F R
to approximately HK$30,000,000, with interest bearing T-_—F=ZA=+—H BEXRX
at 6% per annum and repayable for the year ending 31 % %7 430,000,0007% 7t * ¥% F F
March 2025. Kewit B ERBE_T_1

FZA=+—HALFEEE-

(i) A loan arrangement with an associate — e-post Limited i) AEBR_Z_ZTFMA
entered by the Group on 22 April 2020. As at 31 March “t+ZHE -RKEEQF -
2021, the principal amount of the loan amounted to e-post Limitedz] 2 I E R Hk -
approximately HK$4,991,000, with interest bearing at RZE-_—F=A=+—H'§&
5% per annum and repayable for the year ending 31 AR & 4 54,991,000/8 7 0 1%
March 2025. FHMEE%A B ERBE_ZT

—RE=ZA=T—HLFEE
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B I RER M T

23 Other financial assets at amortised cost
(Continued)

(@) Movement of loan and interest receivables
(Continued)

(i) A loan arrangement with a third party extended by the
Group on 27 September 2020. As at 31 March 2021,
the principal of the loan and interest receivables was
amounted to approximately HK$13,014,000, with
interest bearing at 8% per annum and repayable on 26
September 2021. The amount was fully settled during
the year ended 31 March 2022.

(iv) Certain loan arrangements with an associate — e-post
Limited were entered by the Group from 28 January
2022. As at 31 March 2022, the principal amount of the
loans amounted to approximately HK$3,340,000, with
interest bearing at 8% per annum and repayable for the
year ending 31 March 2025.

(vy A loan arrangement with an associate — Step Wise
Limited was entered by the Group on 3 March 2022.
As at 31 March 2022, the principal amount of the loan
amounted to approximately HK$750,000, with interest
bearing at 5% per annum and repayable on 7 September
2022.

(b) Loss allowance

As at 31 March 2022 and 2021, the Group applies the HKFRS
9 general approach to measure expected credit losses which
uses a 3-stage model to measure loss allowance other
financial assets at amortised cost.

See Note 3.1(b) for credit risk exposure and expected credit
loss provision for other financial assets at amortised cost and
the information about how impairment losses are calculated.

Movements of the Group’s loss allowance for impairment of
other financial assets at amortised costs are detailed in Note
3.1(b).

As at 31 March 2022, the Group recognised a reversal of

loss allowance of HK$146,000 for other financial assets at
amortised costs.
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49 /13,014,000 7t * 17 F 7| &
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(b)

24

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

Other financial assets at amortised cost
(Continueq)

Loss allowance (continued)

As at 31 March 2021, the Group recognised the loss
allowance of HK$7,000 for other financial assets at amortised
costs.

As at 31 March 2022 and 2021, the maximum exposure to
credit risk is the carrying amounts of other financial assets at
amortised cost as the Group does not hold any collateral as
security.

As at 31 March 2022 and 2021, the carrying amount of other
financial assets at amortised costs are dominated in Hong
Kong dollar.

Financial assets at fair value through
profit or loss

23

(b)

24

B H I ERRK

BREBERAIREzHMS
MEE @

EERE#

R-ZE-—F=ZA=+—H A£ED
BRLEEKANNEZHb M EE
7 ET 18 B 7,000 7T ©

RZF__FR_FT_—F=AH
=+ B ARAKEWESA TR
R@ERR WS EERR A REH
PRATIBR 2 Bty & B A B R AR A ©

RZEZFR_FE-—F=A
=+ —H EREEKAVEREZEME
BMEEMNBREENETE

ZRERBEAAEBEIR
ZEMEE

2022
—E__F
HK$’000
FET
Listed equity investments EWRARIEE 18,106 19,185
Notes: Mt aE

(i) The listed equity investments represent shares listed on the Stock
Exchange.

(i) The fair values of the listed equity investments and mutual fund
investments are based on quoted prices in active markets and are
classified within level 1 of the fair value hierarchy.

(i) Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss is presented within
investing activities in the consolidated statement of cash flows.

(iv) Changes in fair value of financial assets at fair value through profit or
loss are recorded in ‘other (losses)/gains — net’ in the profit and loss
(Note 7).

(V) Information about the relevant accounting policy and fair value
estimation is provided in Note 2.11 and Note 3.3, respectively. For an
analysis of the Group’s exposure to the price risk and credit risk, please
refer to Notes 3.1(a) and 3.1(b).

()  LEWERARERNE A LR -

iy LEHABRAREREERESKRENAAE
BENREREEMSHNRESERRE
RARBEENE—HA-

iy BRBHEEAAEBEIECZEMEER
§|JF\A1F}ﬁ$//|LE§ZTX§/§§UW °©

(v BBBEZRAABEIRZEBEEN
DaBESHHNER [ Hb (BE) /
Weas — 58] (MIEE7)

v FAHEEEEFERERAABEMETHNE
B RIS R KT 552,11 R T 553.3 - B R A
SEEEMNERRRREERR ST
BE2EMF31(@ &3.1(0) °
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BHMBHRAME

25 Cash and cash equivalents

25 e RBREEHEEH

2022
—E—-= =
HK$’000 HK$’000
FExT FHE T
Cash at banks and on hand RITReMFHERS 77,644 70,590
Short —term bank deposits (Note (i) 5 HARIT 17 3 (P REG)) 36,267 35,975
Cash and cash equivalents HehkBEEFMEER 113,911 106,565

Notes:

(i) Cash and cash equivalents represents cash and short-term bank
deposits with an original maturity of three months or less from the date
of acquisition.

(ii) Cash at banks earn interest at floating rates based on daily bank
deposits rate.

(iii) Cash at banks and on hand of approximately HK$123,000 or
RMB100,000 (2021: HK$1,346,000 or RMB1,171,000) are denominated
in Renminbi. The conversion of Renminbi denominated balances
into foreign currencies and the remittance of such foreign currencies
denominated bank balances and cash out of PRC are subject to the
relevant rules and regulations of foreign exchange control promulgated
by the PRC government.

The carrying amounts of the cash and cash equivalents are
denominated in the following currencies:

GEE

(i) RekReFERBBERKBEAHE
REMEA=ZMEAKANZRE MG
RITFE

(i) |MARESVRESARTERAMNTRTS
F R BREUF S o

@iy  R1T R F IR L 49123,0008 T AR
100,0007T ( — & — — 4 : 1,346,000/ 7T
s AR ¥E1,171,00070) THIA A REEETE -
R A RBEFHE & &8 KRR INE R #§
ZENEHENRITESHRREEHP
+ Y5 78 38 <7 FP B BT A8 15 19 48 8 SINEE
B R A ROE AR o

HekfeSEBEBMNERENT
PG R ETE:

2022

—E=E__ =
HK$’000 HK$’000
FExT T T
HK$ BT 83,785 69,088
Renminbi AR 123 1,346
uss$ ETT 27,201 35,172
Others Hip 2,802 959
113,911 106,565
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26 Share capital and share premium

Authorised capital — ordinary shares /
of HK$0.01 each VEBR
At 1 April 2020, 31 March 2021,

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

B H I ERRK

26 ARG EE

Nominal value
of ordinary Share
shares premium
ERREE R RE
HK$'000 HK$'000

Number of
shares

R &E
(thousands)

(T TET TET

FERA-SREEOIET

RZE-_ZFMA—H"

1 April 2021 and 31 March 2022 “F--%ZA=t—-R
T -¥mA-BR
“E--#=f=+-H 10,000,000 100,000 -
Issued and fully paid: BETRER:
At 1 April 2020, 31 March 2021, R-Z-ZFMA-R-
1 April 2021 and 31 March 2022 —F--%ZA=t—-R"
T -§mA-BR
—E--%=f=+-AH 550,000 5,500 132,921
Notes: F &L -

(i) The ordinary shares entitle the holders to participate in dividends, and (i)
to share in the proceeds of winding up the company in proportion to the
number of and amounts paid on the shares held. The ordinary shares
entitle the holders to one vote per share at meetings in person or by

Proxy.

(i) Share premium represents the excess of the issuance price of the

Company'’s shares over its nominal value.

TR TRAEASERS SRR
WHAHARNBE RN SELID
ERARBERMERE-EBRE TS
ABIRZERREFEEH AR ETK
B ER -

(i)  BIEETEARRRGEITEREB
HHEE-
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Xty ik
27 Other reserves 27 HibfRE
Capital Exchange
reserve Other reserve  Retained
(Note i) reserve (Note i)  earnings Total
BEXfE HERE
(Mati)  HepfE  (W&i) REEF @it
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TET THET TET FTET TET
As 1 April 2020 AZE-TENA—H 6,593 1) (3,667) 82,525 85,430
Profit for the year EREF - - - 19,009 19,009
Release of exchange reserve to Rl NGRS
profit and loss upon closure of an B [E X EEE B R
associate - - 171 - 171
Currency translation differences &N E%
- Group -r5 - - 206 - 206
- Joint ventures and associates —RECERBENT - - 911 - 911

At 31 March 2021 and 1 April 2021 RZ-_T——%

=A=+-HBk
“Z-—-FWmA-A 6,593 21) (2,379) 101,534 105,727
Profit for the year FEREA - - - 2,097 2,097
- Group -K£E - - 20 - 20
- Joint ventures and associates —AEMERBENT - - 67) - (67)
Dividends (Note 31) B& 2 (PEs1) - - - (4,400) (4,400)
At 31 March 2022 RZE-Z
=R=+—H 6,593 21) (2,426) 99,231 103,377
Notes: Bt 5
() Capital reserve 0] RN
As at 31 March 2022 and 2021, capital reserve of the Group represents RZEBE_—FR_FE-_—F=A=+—
the aggregate values of share capital and share premium of certain H AEBENEAEEEERNETEEN
subsidiaries comprising the Group. ETHBRARMBRARRN ZENEE
Ho
(i)  Exchange reserve iy  HIMEREE
Exchange differences arising from the translation of the foreign WMt EE2. 7RI - R B AN PR HI B RSP E
controlled entity are recognised in other comprehensive income as AMER ZEREMEZERARR I
described in Note 2.7 and accumulated in a separate reserve within REZANEBEER Rt - 258
equity. The cumulative amount is to be transferred to profit and loss BRHE SR EEREEE AR

when the respective foreign controlled entities are disposed.
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B H I ERRK

28 ESZEMAME - BFRER

28 Trade payables, accruals and other

payables Hib BT R1E
2022 2021
—E—-= —E-—F
HK$’000 HK$’000
FTHEx F& T
Trade payables SN RIA 11,951 7,186
Accruals and other payables: JE &t SR I8 B H Ath & <P RKIE
Accrued expenses JEETRAX 13,959 13,784
Advanced from customers EPER 6,165 4,853
Contract liabilities BREE 5,592 6,693
Other payables H th fE T B 5,529 1,145
Accruals and other payables JE & R I8 I H 4th FE < 5K I8 31,245 26,475
Less: non-current portion B IEm BN ER (173) (470)
Accruals and other payables — current 5t 7K I8 Kz E b 8 1~ Fk 18 —
portion FEHH 31,072 26,005
Notes: B3
[0) Payment terms granted by suppliers are mainly on credit. The credit (i) HEFRUEONZBKREEAREE &

period ranges from 30 to 90 days.

(i) For the year ended 31 March 2022, HK$6,693,000 (2021: (i)
HK$5,347,000) of revenue recognised was included in the contract
liabilities balance at the beginning of the period.

(ii) As 31 March 2022 and 2021, all trade payables, accruals and other (i)
payables of the Group were non-interest bearing, and their carrying
amounts approximated their fair values due to short maturities.

(iv) The carrying amounts of the Group’s trade payables, accruals and other (iv)
payables are mainly denominated in Hong Kong dollars.

BH N F30H E90H °

RBE-_ZT-_—F#=ZA=+—RHILFE"
TR HY U 256,693,000/ T (— T = —4:
5,347,000/ 7T ) st ABAMI & M B B4 & -

RIB - R -_FT-_—F=R=+—
B AEBEFRBEZRENMNKIE  ERIE
REAMEMREESENS BRI A
BE FENEEEREAABEMES -

AEENEZEMNFE Bt RARE
RN FENREEEZNETE
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28 Trade payables, accruals and other
payables (Continued))

29

The ageing analysis of the trade payables based on invoice
date was as follows:

28 BESEMNRIE EFRER
L th P& FRIH o0

BH5RMNRBBENEREHHOKRE
DM

2022 2021
—E=-=
HK$’000 HK$'000
FExT FATT
0 - 30 days 02 30H 3,813 6,222
31 - 60 days 31260H 5,654 646
61 — 90 days 61290H 2,457 318
Over 90 days H@E90H 27 -
11,951 7,186
Borrowings 29 & 8§
2022
HK$’000 HK$’000
FExT FETT
Current RE
Bank overdrafts RITHEX 118 -
Trust receipt loans SR E S 2,397 961
Bank loans RITER 23,701 18,943
26,216 19,904
Notes: 5T

(i)

v)

The borrowings of the Group are subject to financial covenants and
the Group is in compliance with the financial covenants as at 31 March
2022 and 2021.

As at 31 March 2022, the borrowings of the Group were secured by
personal guarantees provided by a related party of the Group. Included
in bank loans to the extent of approximately HK$23,701,000 (2021:
HK$18,943,000) are mortgage loans which are secured by properties
of the Group of approximately HK$65,064,000 (2021: HK$58,078,000)
(Note 13).

The carrying amount of bank borrowings approximate their fair value
as the interest payable on these borrowings is either close to current
market rates or the borrowings are of a short-term nature.

Details of the Group’s exposure to risks arising from borrowings are set
out in Note 3.1(c).

The carrying amounts of borrowings are denominated in Hong Kong
dollars as at 31 March 2022 and 2021.
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29 Borrowings (continued)

The table below analyses the Group’s borrowings into relevant
maturity groups based on the scheduled repayment dates
set out in the loan agreements and ignore the effect of any
repayment on demand clause:

B H I ERRK

29 &«

TRAAEEREER A
EERAMZI AR B DNEE
DA A EE AR BRER K
ROFE:

2022
—E—-=
HK$’000
TET
Within 1 year —F R 4,912 1,987
Between 1 and 2 years —EWF 1,852 1,049
Between 2 and 5 years MERF 4,455 3,294
Over 5 years HFLAE 14,997 13,574
26,216 19,904
Note: B &
Bank borrowings contained a repayment on demand clause which enables FITERERSRITUZBAIFEZREREERK
the bank to exercise at its sole discretion. Accordingly, the entire balance was KB 2EHMEBRIERTHARK

classified under current liabilities.

The weighted average effective interest rates per annum were
as follows:

IEFHERFEREINT :

Trust receipt loans ST HIEER 2.30% 2.30%
Bank loans RITEK 2.32% 2.25%
Note: B 5 -

The fair values of the borrowings approximate to their carrying amounts as
at 31 March 2022 and 2021 as all the borrowings carry interests which are
benchmarked against Hong Kong Dollar prime rate or Hong Kong Interbank
Offered Rate (“HIBOR”).

RZEZZFR=ZZT=-—F=A=+—H &
EMAnBEEEEERERE REEMAEHE
BEN2RBRABETREREENERHEBRITRE
FEXR ([FBRITRAEREE]GFE-
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30 Deferred income tax

Deferred income tax is calculated in full on temporary
differences under the liability method using the tax rates
enacted or substantively enacted at the reporting date.

Deferred income tax assets and liabilities are offset when there
is legally enforceable right to offset current tax assets against
current tax liabilities and when the deferred income taxes
related to the same fiscal authority.

The analysis of deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities

30 JEEFTFEH

BEEMBERDRIBEABEENEE
FHEEMREERMHOREIRE
RUEZREHEAE-

A A AR BTN AT A5 R B AR IR
BEERNHHAEREEE BET
PrBRP R —FEREE ADET
PRemEERBELAENE-

ELEHRBEEMELCHABED T

is as follows: mr
2022 2021
—®==%F =
HK$’000 HK$’000
FExT FABTT
Deferred tax assets EETRIBE E
— Deferred tax assets to be recovered  —iBB+ —{EA B K EH
after more than 12 months RIEFTEE E 2,379 3,059
Deferred tax liabilities EXEFHIEAR
— Deferred tax liabilities to be recovered —i#R:@+ — & B & Yz B &Y
after more than 12 months EERIEAE (5,349) (6,009)
Deferred tax liabilities — net EERIBAE-F5 (2,970) (2,950)

The gross movements on the deferred income tax account are

EEFBHERENEZSHMT

as follows:
2022
HK$’000
TEx
At beginning of year NG (2,950) (4,214)
Addition from Step Acquisition (Note 33) PR INEEBELRRE
(Ff7E33) (231) -
Credited to the consolidated profit and R A& HFIEZEF A
loss (Note 11) (FFFE11) 211 1,264
At end of year RER (2,970) (2,950)
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B IR 5
30 Deferred income tax (continueq) 30 ELERBH
The movements in deferred income tax assets and liabilities BLEFGEREERBERFRN (K
for the year, without taking into consideration the offsetting of ZER—EBEANZEHRIEKE) EE
balances with the same tax jurisdiction, are as follows: /1N
Fair value change of Accelerated tax
intangible assets depreciation
ENEELNNEEED MABERE
2022 2021 2022 2021
—E-C —E-—F —E-C T
HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
T THT T FHT
Deferred tax liabilities EEHREAR
At beginning of year REA - - (6,254) (6,791)
Addition from Step Acquisiton BB RESEESH
(Note 33) AE (FiFE33) (231) - - -
Credited to the consolidated REFERPEA
profit and loss - - 790 537
At end of year REKR (231) - (5,464) (6,254)
Tax losses
2021
—E-—4F
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FHT
Deferred tax assets EETIEE BE
At beginning of year REH 3,304 2,577
(Charged)/credited to the consolidated A& HHEZH (k) & A
profit and loss (579) 727
At end of year RER 2,725 3,304
Deferred income tax assets are recognised for tax losses BEIEFTSMEE A BB IR ST
carry-forwards to the extent that the realisation of the related BB ARRERN FEEM
tax benefit through future taxable profits is probable. Tax RS o BIBEEBEELER P
losses in the PRC can be carried forward to offset against R IEE B A e A R 2R B
future taxable profits for 10 years as the subsidiary in the PRC ABEN AEHTF EHREREA
qualifies as a High and New Technology Enterprise and tax AETERRERATEMMEZE:
losses in Hong Kong and Malaysia can be carried forward to REBME RO DA IEEEA] &
offset against future taxable profits without expiry date. HOEHEARRERD & F - &/ ER

B
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30 Deferred income tax (continued)

As at 31 March 2022 and 2021, the Group had the following
recognised and unrecognised tax losses available for offsetting
against future taxable profits.

Unrecognised tax losses expiring:

30 IEEMBH =

E’Uﬁéu%f/%ﬂf%

2022
—E-=

HK$’000

FET

HK$’000
FET

REER AN E AR AR E -

— Within 10 years —R+EFA 12,071 8,926
— Unlimited —EHARR 9,872 10,593
21,943 19,519
The Group did not recognise deferred income tax asset of AEBEYEBEREDIESBIB
HK$3,440,000 (2021: HK$3,087,000) in respect of tax losses 21,943,000 L (=T = —%F
amounting to HK$21,943,000 (2021: HK$19,519,000). Tax 19,519, oooﬁém)ﬁﬁém;@ﬁﬁﬂ%&ﬁ
losses in Hong Kong can be carried forward to offset against & EE3,440,000% T_E (ZE=Z—%:
future assessable profits and have no expiry date in 2022 3,087,000 L) R T = —F >
(2021: Same). Tax losses in PRC can be carried forward to EEVEEBEAEANEERK

offset against future taxable profits for 10 years (2021: 10
years).

31 Dividends

A dividend in respect of the year ended 31 March 2022 of
HKO0.9 cents per share, amounting to a total dividend of
HK$4,950,000, was proposed by the Board on 19 August
2022 and to be recommended to the shareholders of the
Company at the forthcoming annual general meeting. The
proposed final dividend will not be reflected in the financial
statements as at 31 March 2022.

An interim dividend in respect of the six months ended 30
September 2021 amounting to HK$4,400,000 was paid in
December 2021 (2020: nil).

JERBERN B EERBBH (T
Z—F R P RBIBEET L
R K 8 2R K104 #Y JE AR B i A
(ZZ-—F:105F) °

31 RE

gEEenN TN A+NHIE
EHE-_ZE-_—_F=ZA=+—H1t
FEZIREGROIGEN  £ARE A
4,950,000 7T W #8 7 FE JE IR R IB
FRELFAARRBREEZZ -HE
—TECCE=ZA=+—RBZHBR
EETERMEZRBRE -

EBEEE_ZT-_—FhLhA=+H1
7~ E A E"J':F'HHHQ 84,400,000/ J©
(2 -_ZF B)BER_T_—%F

TZAIKSS e

2022
—E-=

HK$’000
FET

Proposed final dividend of HK0.9 cents &% 7 #ii% B S A% & @ A%
(2021: nil) per ordinary share 098I (=T =—F: &) 4,950 -
Interim dividend of HKO0.8 cents per IR BB IR E B AR08 I
ordinary share (2021: nil) (ZT_—%F:8]) 4,400 -
9,350 -

244  eprint Group Limited Annual Report 2021/22



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

B H I ERRK

32 Notes to the consolidated statement of 32 S§4fHRERERME

cash flows

(a) ¥EELENRE

(@) Cash generated from operations

2022 2021
—s=-= —E - —F
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FET
Profit before income tax B FTSELADE 5,914 20,989
Adjustments for: AT SIBEETHREE:
Depreciation of property, ME- -BELSHTE
plant and equipment 13 10,944 11,385
Depreciation of right-of-use assets ~ FAEEENE 14 18,170 20,439
Losses on disposals of property, PENE BEREEHERE
plant and equipment 7 62 528
Impairment loss on financial CREEREBE
assets 185 685
Impairment loss on goodwill B 7 3,086 -
Impairment loss on property, Y% BB &R EREEE
plant and equipment 8 3,398 -
Fair value losses/(gains) on FRBREALEBEIERZ
financial assets at fair value CREENAAEEAE
through profit or loss BB (W) 7 4,094 (1,938)
Amortisation of intangible assets | EEBE 8 93 -
Dividend income SR ON (69) -
Recovery of trade receivables Y [el 5 BT EH O B 5 FE IR IE
previously written off (136) -
Gain on Step Acquisition of R b =0 U BB BT B8 & Rl Y &R
subsidiaries 7 (3,000) -
Finance income BB A 10 (3,180) (3,333)
Finance costs AR 10 1,080 1,553
Share of losses of associates FE(h B & N B 2 518 17 660 1,441
Share of losses/(profits) of BIEAELCEZER/ CEF)
joint ventures 18 708 (875)
Release of exchange reserve upon 85 — 5 & 2 7] 18 3 X
closure of an associate B 5 - 171
Changes in working capital LEEREY
- Inventories -FE (2,948) 212
— Trade receivables —-E 5 rlE 1,872 (1,492)
— Deposit, prepayments and —%&& ENFER
other receivables H Al e U KR (7,216) 2,409
— Amounts due from related — A E N R R
companies (994) 91)
— Trade payables —BHEMNFHIEA 3,937 1,188
— Accruals and other payables — FE & FRIE K H b fE A FRIE 3,393 1,248
— Amount due to directors -ERESEHE 30 -
— Amount due to related parties — R EE R 3R (1) -
Cash generated from operations KEMERE 40,082 55,019
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BHMBHRAME

32 Notes to the consolidated statementof 32 8 BEERERMTE »
cash flows continueq)

(b) In the consolidated statement of cash flows, (b) REHREREXRD HEY
proceeds from disposal of property, plant and X BERRENFASRES
equipment comprise: &

—=E-= e
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FHETT
Net book amount (Note 13) AR FE (MIFE13) 63 719
Losses on disposals of property, plant ~ HEWE  FHE K&
and equipment (Note 7) B EEE (MEE7) (62) (528)
Proceeds from disposals HEMEHRIA 1 191
(c) Net cash/(debt) reconciliation (c) B& (&%) FHEYE
This section sets out an analysis of net cash and the AEEFRESFE2OMEERSF
movements in net cash for each of the years presented. RS REEZEE-
Net cash/(debt) Be (B%)FHE
2022
—E-_—F
HK$’000
FERT
Cash and cash equivalents BehBE2FMEER 113,911 106,565
Lease liabilities — due within one year MEABE-——FAIIH (6,221) (17,513)
Lease liabilities — due after one year HEBE——F1&IH (3,493) (2,053)
Bank borrowings — due within one year R1TEE ——F A F| H (26,216) (19,904)
Net cash e F8 77,981 67,095
Cash and cash equivalents HekFSFMEEE 113,911 106,565
Gross debts — variable interest rates BISHRRE — 28 =X (26,216) (19,904)
Gross debts — fixed interest rates BIS4R%E — B 7 & (9,714) (19,566)
Net cash e FRE 77,981 67,095
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32 Notes to the consolidated statement of

(c)

cash flows (continueq)

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

Net cash/(debt) reconciliation (continueq)

Net cash/(debt) (continuea)

B H I ERRK

32 SHEERERMTE

(c) B (EH) FHEYEKR»©
Be (B%)FHE®

Lease Lease
Borrowings liabilities [ETJINES
due - due within - due after
within 1 year one year one year
R—FR HEaE- HEEE-
Nz EE R—F R H R—FE#&ETIH
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
THT THT THT
As at 1 April 2020 R-E-ZTEMA—R (21,157) (20,200) (17,004)
Cash movements: B Eg:
Proceeds from bank borrowings RITIEEMEHE (2,873) - -
Repayment for bank borrowings BERTEE 4,126 - -
Repayment for principal element of ~ EEEEEEAEHSH
lease liabilities - 20,193 -
Payment for interest expenses XAMERX - 1,103 -
Other non-cash movements: R HH 228 -
Acquisition of leases UhE-tikD - (1,375) (1,119)
Accretion of interest expenses MEFEM - (1,103) -
Reclassification BHOE - (16,131) 16,131
Foreign exchange adjustments HNE BB - - 61)
As at 31 March 2021 RZEZ—$=ZRA=+—H (19,904) (17,513) (2,053)
Cash movements: B
Proceeds from bank borrowings RITEEMEHE (28,065) - -
Repayment for bank borrowings BEBITEE 21,936 - -
Repayment for principal element of ~ EEEEBEREHH
lease liabilities - 20,258 -
Payment for interest expenses THFERE 435 645 -
Other non-cash movements: AMH#HE &2
Acquisition from Step Acquisition R WBEEELNRE (183) (734) -
Acquisition of leases -2k - (6,298) (3,361)
Accretion of interest expenses F SR (435) (645) -
Reclassification BHNE - (1,921) 1,921
Foreign exchange adjustments HNEE 35 B - (13) -
As at 31 March 2022 RZZEZZ$=RA=+-H (26,216) (6,221) (3,493)
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B I RER M T

32

(d)

33

248

Notes to the consolidated statement of
cash flows (Continued)

Significant non-cash transactions:

Except for the additions of right-of-use assets and lease
liabilities upon commencement of leases, accretion of interest
expense and foreign exchange adjustments, there were no
other significant non-cash transactions during the year ended
31 March 2022 and 2021.

Business combination

On 5 November 2021, E-BOSS CO. LIMITED (“E-BOSS”),
an indirect wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company, entered
into a share purchase agreement (the “Share Purchase
Agreement”) with Mr. Yip Hin Lun (“Mr. Yip”), pursuant to
which Mr. Yip agreed to sell and E-BOSS agreed to purchase
3,150,000 issued ordinary shares in the share capital of
Sakura Japan, a limited liability company incorporated in Hong
Kong, legally and beneficiary held by Mr. Yip, representing
42% of the then existing issued shares of Sakura Japan, at a
total consideration of HK$6,300,000 (the “Step Acquisition”).

Upon completion of the Step Acquisition on 23 November
2021, Sakura Japan becomes a 62% owned subsidiary of
E-BOSS. Accordingly, the financial results of Sakura Group has
been consolidated into the consolidated financial statements
of the Group since then.

As at the completion date of the Step Acquisition, the Group
remeasured its previously held equity interest in Sakura
Japan to its fair value and recognised a resulting gain of
approximately HK$3,000,000, which has been recognised to
the profit or loss and presented as “Gain on Step Acquisition
on subsidiaries” under “Other (losses)/gains — net” in the
consolidated statement of comprehensive income.
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32

(d)

33

EHBEERERMEE

EXFRERF:

REBEEZE-__FR_FT-_—F=
A=+—BLEFE BRREERRK
BAETRAEEELRTBEESE A
BF S 8 0 K o BE G BB AN - B A
MmERIFRER G-

EBAa

RZEZ—F+—HAAB AQF
ZHEBEZENBRARZEANPNERA
A([ZEMW])EENTBEE([E
EEDITZVEEWZ ([ZEEW
D) OB EXLEREHEMER
PBRAEBEBZTHE(—HRE
BEMKIZZ2BRAF)RKRAFH
BEAEEEERERFA/S 150,000
REETEAKR HERB 2L
EERDBITRMZ242% RRE
/£6,300,0008 7 ([BE & =\ I ig =
H]) -

REBRARBEERN T - —F
T—AZT=AxkK B21TH
EXRRZREEF2%EE 2B
RE A B2 IPESEZHB
XEBUHCDAHEARAEBEZAHY
B o

RESAKEEETKBH A&
EREERAMBEZADERES
FEHEEEAAEBE UL ERYK
7 493,000,0008 e iz W m B R 1B
mRER 2IREHEERER
[Hth (EE) WE—FBEIET
Z [ BEHmNWENE R ks -
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B H I ERRK

33 (K& 6tw

33 Business combination coninueq)

Details of the carrying value and fair value of the Group’s
previously held equity interest in Sakura Japan at the
completion date of the Step Acquisition were summarised as
follows:

AEBERMMAFHBZ AHERER
PR AW IR EH K A 2 R (B
RAfBEFEHRENT:

Fair value of previously held equity interest

ERMBRZTBEREZAAEE

in Sakura Japan 3,000
Carrying value of previously held equity interest % Al FT #5518 2 A~ 8h 2 A% 4 O R sk =0

in Sakura Japan before the Step Acquisition s =IER] 2 BREE -
Gain on Step Acquisition on subsidiaries (Note 7) & 4 =\ U B Bt B A B Ay Iz (M 3%7) 3,000

The fair value of identifiable assets and liabilities of Sakura
Group as at the date of the Step Acquisition were as follows:

[ERNNE

BerHESEREBAKESFR
BEHCABHEERBBEZAR(E

HK$'000
THAT

Brand name oo e % TR 1,400
Property, plant and equipment S ER =& 226
Right-of-use assets EREEE 215
Trade and other receivables B 5 & E b fE U R IE 1,583
Tax recoverable A Ug [ 7 89
Cash and cash equivalents ReMkRSEEER 509
Trade payables B 5 e kI8 (2,323)
Borrowings f& (183)
Lease liabilities HEAE (734)
Deferred tax liabilities BREFIEAE (231)
Total identifiable net assets at fair value BRAREBEFTENIZINEEFERTE 551
Less: Non-controlling interests W FE R IR (209)
Total identifiable net assets at fair value AEBEEGRAREBERTEDN

attributable to the Group Al B & EFEEE 342
Goodwill Ea 8,958

9,300

Satisfied by: ATH A
Cash consideration ReRE 6,300
Fair value of previously held equity interest in SHIAFEBR 2 TBEREZAREE

Sakura Japan 3,000

9,300
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CXnEUE e Eo Ik
33 Business combination (continued 33 ¥BEftw
The Group has elected to measure the non-controlling RE BB E ZigE NPT UEE AT & 7
interests in Sakura Japan at its proportionate share of the BEFEMNSHEAFEENE
acquired identifiable net assets. The amount of the non- TEEMFERERZ NEBAK
controlling interests at the date of the Step Acquisition BEHEHEMEEREZHEOAR
amounted to approximately HK$209,000. 209,000/ 7t °
An analysis of the cash flow in respect of the Step Acquisition EEEEANBEENR RN
was as follows: HH)
HK$’000
FBT
Cash consideration paid ENRERE 6,300
Cash and cash equivalents obtained by Sakura 7 T 8EEENEHAWEEERH
Group as at the date of the Step Acquisition BEEzReERESEEER (509)
Net cash outflow arising from EHAWEEREEE 2B R EFE
the Step Acquisition 5,791
34 Commitments 34 EiE
Capital commitment BEAREE
Capital expenditure contracted for at the end of the year but FREFTHNEHREENEARAX
not yet incurred is as follows: m

2022 2021

—E=-=

HK$’000 HK$’000
FERT TET

Property, plant and equipment e ] 6,565 -
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35 Related party transactions

Parties are considered to be related to the Group if the party
has the ability, directly or indirectly, to exercise control or
significant influence over the Group in making financial and
operating decisions, or vice versa. Related parties may be
individuals (being members of key management personnel,
significant shareholders and/or their close family members)
or other entities and include entities which are under the
significant influence of related parties of the Group where
those parties are individuals. Parties are also considered to be
related if they are subject to common control.

The directors of the Company are of the view that the
following individuals and companies were related parties that
had transactions or balances with the Group:

Name of related party

B I TR M T

35 BEFRS

fisd 2 — 77 A B % 3K 3R A AF R BE
REEARBRETHAEETEE
HEXBEAZEN ABEZTER
SEERE RZTA-BETAS
BEA(BIZZEEEBAB TEER
&/iﬁ:%Lﬁ%F%%)TE@
ER BRXGA/ABEANKTEERER
BREARZENER- ﬁ#ﬂ :
%07 TR R A A R A

%wﬁ THME A KR A
£H

Gk
EERN ETRHATFEES
77

O af B
2% I >
At & ol

Relationship with the Group

RASERAR

BELER

Mr. Chan Kong Hung Chris
PSR el 7 52 A

Mr. Foo Pei Pan
HEH &

Mr. Cheng Sze Tok
BBERE

Ms. Wong Man Yee
ITHELL

Non—controlling interests of a subsidiary of the Group

REEMNE AR FFERERTAA

Non—oontrolling interests of a subsidiary of the Group

AEBEMEARFERERITA A

Non-controlling interests of a subsidiary of the Group

AEEM B A RS A A

Non—controlling interests of a subsidiary of the Group

REENBARFERERTAA
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BHMBHRAME

35 BEAIRSG =

35 Related party transactions (continueq)

Name of related party

RESEH

CTP Limited

e-post Limited

e-print Solutions Sdn. Bhd.

eprint Limited

Montana Capital Sdn Bhd

King Profit International Limited

ENBEBRBERAR

Protoss IT Sdn Bhd

Profit More Rich Limited

BEZARAT

Promise Properties Limited

KRR MEER QA

Sakura Japan Property (Hong Kong)

Limited
BZABE (FB)BRAF

Sakura Global Property Limited
BZIRREXAR AT

Step Wise Limited
KEFRLQE

Top Success Investment Group Limited

I RRKREERBER AT
Top Success Investment

(Hong Kong) Limited
EHRRKRE(FEB)BRAT

VWV Limited
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Relationship with the Group

Controlled by the directors of the Company
AR R ESE

Associate of the subsidiary of the Group
REBMB AR E AT

Joint venture of the subsidiary of the Group
AEBMBARIMNEEDE

Ultimate holding company (Note i)
=3y NCINQ D)

Controlled by a joint venture of the Group
HARRE S & BEEH

Controlled by the directors of the Company
ERN/NIE- =l

Controlled by a joint venture of the Group
HAEES L PEET

Controlled by the directors of the Company
BANA R EEEH

Controlled by the directors of the Company
AR R ESES

Associate of the subsidiary of the Group (Note ii)

B A T 0B A (W)

Controlled by an associate of the Group (Note ii)

F 7N 5% [ Bt = 2 A HE o) (B o)

Associate of the subsidiary of the Group
A B 2 7 1B 44 2

Joint venture of the subsidiary of the Group

REBEMBARINEG EE
Controlled by a joint venture of the Group
HASE S L

Controlled by the directors of the Company
AR R ESE
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Xl e
35 Related party transactions (continueq 3B BEAIRS @

Notes: M5

i, The Company is controlled by eprint Limited, which owns 56.9% of the i AR Aeprint LimitediE #l e i T ==
Company’s shares as at 31 March 2022 and 2021, and is beneficially FR-ZIFEZ-—F=ZHA=+—H eprint
owned by Mr. She Siu Kee Wiliam, Mr. Chong Cheuk Ki, Mr. Lam Limited# B A A 8] 256.9%0% 17 WA &
Shing Kai, Mr. Leung Wai Ming, and Mr. Leung Yat Pang. The directors BESE FHaHEE MEREEE R
consider eprint Limited, a company incorporated in the BVI, being the FHEERR - BEEERHEE -EF
immediate and the ultimate holding company. R Beprint Limited (75 8 2 Z B 5 7 1

RN 2 AR)) RERERSERIERAR -

i On 23 November 2021, Sakura Japan Property (Hong Kong) Limited i RZEZ—F+—A=+=0"8271
and Sakura Global Property Limited have become the subsidiaries of HE(FB)ERARRBZIRKEES
the Group. RAREKBAREEZHBAR-

(a) Transactions with related parties (a) HEAEFNRXS

The following transactions were undertaken by the Group with AEBHBEFCHETUNTR S

related parties. In the opinion of the directors of the Company, ARNABEERE BEIXZIRIE

the related party transactions were carried out in the normal BEBRAEFRASEESEER
course of business and at terms negotiated between the R B IR R AETT ©

Group and the respective related parties.

2022
—E=-=
HK$’000
FER
Rental expense of plants and RS ENREEN
machinery, premises, stores and = K 2SR PT
carparks in Hong Kong payable or paid %k R{EHIHH L FI
— CTP Limited —CTP Limited 5,916 5,580
— Profit More Rich Limited —BEZABRANA 809 763
— Promise Properties Limited —REFMERR A A 1,898 1,792
- VWV Limited —VVV Limited 2,495 2,353
- King Profit International Limited —ZFBEBREBRAA] 546 515
11,664 11,003
Emolument payable or paid &1 3 B 1 37 B
— Mr. Chan Kong Hung Chris — R B 2 o A 835 820
— Mr. Foo Pei Pan —{EER L 992 820
- Mr. Cheng Sze Tok —BRELLE 826 820
2,653 2,460
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BHMBHRAME

35 Related party transactions (continueq)

(@) Transactions with related parties (continueq)

35 BEITRS =
(a) HEBREFNRS (#)

2022 2021
—E-=
HK$’000 HK$’'000
FET FHETT
.T. license fee income receivable or FE U S B B FBHE
received ERATFAIERA
— e-print Solutions Sdn. Bhd. —e-print Solutions
Sdn. Bhd. 112 111
Subcontracting fee payable or paid ER%ZENSRER
— Protoss IT Sdn. Bhd. —Protoss IT Sdn. Bhd. 14 21
Revenue from sales of goods and FEM B WIHE & m
services receivable or received PR 75 W 5=
— e-print Solutions Sdn. Bhd. —e-print Solutions Sdn. Bhd. - 71
— Sakura Japan Property (Hong Kong) —BZTEE(BH)
Limited* BRAEN 17 -
— Sakura Global Property Limited* —BZ2RREEBRAF 7 16
— Protoss IT Sdn. Bhd. —Protoss IT Sdn. Bhd. 1,300 1,192
— E-post Limited —E-post Limited 73 -
1,397 1,279
Interest income from other financial FE W sk B W 55 A AR B AR
assets at amortised costs receivable or 2 Hith & @& E 2 F B U A
received
— Top Success Investment (Hong Kong) —1t SR E (F8)
Limited BRAA] 1,800 1,166
— E-post Limited —E-post Limited 367 210
— Step Wise Limited —REBRAF 3 -
2,170 1,376
Dividend income receivable or received  JEJ sk B W% B A
— E-post Limited —E-post Limited - 785
Management fee income receivable FEM S B WE R E WA
or received
— E-post Limited —E-post Limited 282 -

*

(the date before Step Acquisition).
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The transactions were incurred from 1 April 2021 to 22 November 2021
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B H I ERRK

35 BEFRG
(b) EEEE AE Hrif
TEEBEBABSHMZFERELH

35 Related party transactions (continueq)

(b) Key management compensation

Details of the key management compensation are disclosed in

Note 37. 37 °
(c) Guarantees and securities provided by related (c) BELSFIRRHEERMIEKR
parties

MERsEE (M2 KEEAE
(HfaE14) PR R RANE IR AN T -

Guarantees and securities provided by related parties for
borrowings (Note 29) and lease liabilities (Note 14) were as
follows:

mASE—FHHEARZ

Guarantees provided by a director of a

2022
N

— i e— —

HK$’000
FEx

2021
—E-—F
HK$’'000
FHET

subsidiary of the Group EERMHER 35,993 35,793
Guarantee provided by a spouse MASEE—HEHEA A
of non-controlling interests of a FEEREEFAEALZ
subsidiary of the Group fe B IR B R 6,340 6,340
42,333 42,133

2021/22% 5 eprint EEAERAT 255



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

B M EmERME
35 Related party transactions coninueq) 3B BEIRS @
(d) Balances with related parties (d) EEREE F &%

2022 2021
—E-_—F S

HK$’000 HK$'000
FTERT THET

Amounts due from related companies:  FEUL B8 & A &) A -

Sakura Global Property Limited* BeRHEEBRAAN" - 5
e-print Solutions Sdn. Bhd. e-print Solutions Sdn. Bhd. 18 9
Protoss IT Sdn. Bhd. Protoss IT Sdn. Bhd. 215 211
e-post Limited e-post Limited 843 25
1,076 250
Other financial assets REHK AR 2
at amortised costs: HtemEE:

— Top Success Investment —EFRERERE (BH)
(Hong Kong) Limited BRAF] 29,357 29,456
— E-post Limited —E-post Limited 6,535 4,770
— Step Wise Limited —REBRAR] 753 -
36,645 34,226
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A P R M 5
35 Related party transactions coninueq) 3B BEAIRS @
(d) Balances with related parties (continued) (d) EEREE R &8k (&)
2022 2021
—s===
HK$’000 HK$’'000
FEx FET
Amounts due to related parties: ERESRE:
Sakura Japan Property (Hong Kong) BZABE (FHE)
Limited* BRRAA - 1
e-post Limited e-post Limited 200 200
200 201
Amounts due to directors: EAESHIE:
Mr. She Siu Kee William REBEFLAE 55 50
Mr. Chong Cheuk Ki EHAEA 40 35
Mr. Leung Wai Ming REAEE 40 35
Mr. Poon Chun Wai EIRE A 20 15
Mr. Ma Siu Kit BIRAREAE 20 15
Mr. Fu Chung BREE 20 15
195 165
Lease liabilities: HERE:
CTP Limited CTP Limited - 5,256
Profit More Rich Limited BEZEBRAT - 722
Promise Properties Limited RAEFMERR A A - 1,864
VVV Limited VVV Limited - 2,449
King Profit International Limited ZHNERARAF] - 536
- 10,827
* On 23 November 2021, Sakura Japan Property (Hong Kong) Limited * RZFZ—F+—A=+="827F
and Sakura Global Property Limited have become the subsidiaries of PE(EB)BRARKBZIRIKEES
the Group. RAREKNARAEE 2B AR
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AP BERRMTE

35 Related party transactions (continueq

(d) Balances with related parties (continued)

Notes:

(0)

(i)

(i)

(v)

The above balances with related parties are unsecured, interest-free
and are repayable on demand. The carrying amounts of these balances
approximate their fair values.

For amounts due from related parties and other financial assets at
amortised costs, the Group applies the HKFRS 9 general approach
to measure expected credit losses which uses a 3-stage model to
measure loss allowance.

As at 31 March 2022 and 2021, management considered that the
expected credit loss for intercompany receivables was immaterial, thus
no loss allowance was made.

The amounts due from related companies do not contain impaired
assets. The Company does not hold any collateral as security.

The above related party balances with related parties are denominated
in Hong Kong dollars.
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35 BEARG =
(d) EBEES & o)

(i

(i)

(v)

LHEBEETEENARSEIEKR 2
B RREFEER ZEEARNREER
HEARBERAE-

FRIEWRIED A RRB R ARRZ
HteMEEMS AKERBEEY
BmEENFESE—RAAFTERBEE
BiE ERABZERELGEEERE-

RIB - R -_FT-_—F=R=+—
B BEERANARMEERKERNTES
EEBBYTERN Bt RIELEBEE
fEo

EREERRRETBEREEE K
REIW S B EA IR R IERER -
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B H I ERRK

36 ARNAHBMRRKRKEHE
2E

NGRSO

36 Statement of financial position and
reserve movement of the Company

Statement of financial position of the Company

2022 2021
—=E-= =T = —=%F
Note HK$’000 HK$’000
B 5 FET FET
Assets BE
Non-current assets EMENEE
Investments in subsidiaries  RKMERFEMESE 73,897 73897
Current assets MEEE
Prepayments and other receivables T8/ FU I8 K H th g Uy k18 179 13,421
Current income tax receivable U E HApT IS - 130
Financial assets at fair value through EBEHRZE AL BEYIEZ
profit or loss TREE 14,212 14,339
Amount due from subsidiaries JFE UK BT B8~ B 3B 19,538 19,535
Amounts due from fellow FE U [B) 2 MY B A R 5
subsidiaries 124,274 110,777
Cash and cash equivalents BeE MRS EEER 2,667 1,548
... 160870 159,750
Total assets BERRE 234,767 233,647
Equity and liabilities EmkaE
Equity attributable to owners of AAaER AE(ER
the Company
Share capital A& A< 5,500 5,500
Share premium f& 10w & 132,921 132,921
Other reserves HAfEE a 95,655 94,587
Totalequity . B=mR®E . ...2%4016 233,008
Liabilities af
Current liabilities mENBE
Accruals FEETFRIR 489 474
Amounts due to directors FEREE IR 195 165
Current income tax payable JERTE BARTE T 7 -
Total liabiltles ~~~~~ &fFes® 691 639
Total equity and liabilities BmkBEBE 234,767 233,647
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CXnEUE e Eo Ik
36 Statement of financial position and 36 AN EBBEMRRREHEE
reserve movement of the Company B =
(Continued)
Statement of financial position of the Company AATHBEMRRE 2
(Continued)
Note: Bt 5
(@)  Reserve movements of the Company (@ ARAFEEED
Capital Retained
reserve earnings Total
BERFE REEF st
HK$’'000 HK$’000 HK$’'000
FHT FHT THT
At 1 April 2020 W-ZE-ZHmA—A 73,508 17,522 91,030
Profit for the year F W - 3,557 3,557
At 31 March 2021 W-ZBE-—F=F=+—¢H 73,508 21,079 94,587
Profit for the year FAEF - 5,468 5,468
Dividends (Note 31) S (P 5E31) - (4,400) (4,400)
At 31 March 2022 R-ZB-——#=F=+—H 73,508 22,147 95,655
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

B BB IRRNT

37 Benefits and interests of directors 37 ESFEmRER
(a) Directors’ emoluments (a) EEFHH
Mr. She Siu Kee William is the chief executive officer of the RBELEERAEBENITHAH -
Group. The emoluments of each director of the Company for AARBE_ZT_Z_F=AH=+—
the year ended 31 March 2022 is set out as below. HIEFESES2HMEAINBAT-
Other
emoluments paid
or receivable
in respect of
director’s other
services in
connection with
the management
Employer's of the affairs of
Estimated money  contribution to a the Company
Performance value of other  retirement benefit Share-hased or its subsidiary
Salaries bonuses  benefits (Note i) scheme payments undertaking
RESEE
LACERL] |
HipBAl PEESE:A:
CREEA EENER REBRHEEAT
RREA (i) BAHEMHR EhHEpHE
Executive Directors HiEs
M. She Siu Kee Wiliam ABEEE 615 2820 950 - 18 - - 4403
Mr. Chong Cheuk Ki Fegs 435 952 510 - 18 - - 1,075
Non-executive Director FES
M Leung Wai Ming PERLEE 435 - - - - - - 435
M. i Lu (Note ) Bk (M) - - - - - - - -
Independent Non-executive BUkUfES
Directors
Mr. Poon Chun Wai BRELE 195 - - - - - - 195
M. Ma Su Kit ShhkE 195 - - - - - - 195
Mr. Fu Chung BakE 195 - - - - - - 195

2,070 3712 1,520 - 36 - - 7,398
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

BHMBHRAME

37 Benefits and interests of directors coniniesy 37 EEBFZ R EZS =

(a) Directors’ emoluments (continued) (a) EEHM »
Mr. She Siu Kee William is the chief executive officer of the RBEEERAEENITHAH -
Group. The emoluments of each director of the Company for AARBE_TE-_—F=AH=+—
the year ended 31 March 2021 is set out as below. BIEFESES2HMEAIN BT

Other emoluments
paid or receivable in
respect of director’s

other services in

connection with

the management

Employer's of the affairs of

Estimated money ~ contribution to a the Company

Performance valug of other  retirement benefit Share-based or its subsiolary

Salaries bonuses henefits (Note i) scheme payments undertaking

ifp

Executive Directors ez

Mr. She Siu Kee William SRERE 600 2,820 284 108 18 - - 3,825

M. Chong Cheuk Ki EagkE 420 938 17 - 18 - - 1547

Non-executive Directors P2ty £

Mr. Leung Wai Ming DEEEE 420 - - - - - - 420

M. Li Lu Note ) FREE (W) - - - - - - - -

Independent Non-executive ~ BUFHTEES

Directors

M. Poon Chun Wai ERELL 180 - - - - - - 180

Mr. Ma Siu Kit SknkE 180 - - - - - - 180

Mr. Fu Chung kit 180 - - - - - - 180

1,980 3,758 45 103 36 - - 6,332

Notes: B aE -

0] Other benefits include insurance premium and medical allowances. 0] EMAReERE REEERM-

(ii) Mr. Li Lu was appointed as a non-executive director with effect from 19 (ii) FREABZZ-ZF+—AtTNAR
November 2020 and resigned on 22 July 2021. BEZERFRNTERT TR T =_—F

A+ =HEHE-
No Directors waived or agreed to waive any emoluments in BHE-_T-__FR-ZFT=-_—F=A
any of the years ended 31 March 2022 and 2021. =+t HLEARAFE BEEFK

ZAREREETAME -
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37

(b)

(c)

(d)

(e)

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

Benefits and interests of directors coninuea)

Directors’ retirement benefits and termination
benefits

No Directors’ retirement benefits or termination benefits were
paid during the years ended 31 March 2022 and 2021.

Consideration provided to third parties for
making available Directors’ services

The Company did not pay consideration to any third parties
for making available Directors’ services during the years ended
31 March 2022 and 2021.

Information about loans, quasi-loans and other
dealings in favour of Directors, controlled bodies
corporate by and connected entities with such
Directors

Save as disclosed in Note 35(d), no loans, quasi-loans and
other dealings were made available in favour of Directors,
body corporates controlled by and connected entities with
such Directors subsisted at the end of the year or at any time
during the years ended 31 March 2022 and 2021.

Directors’ material interests in transactions,
arrangements or contracts

No significant transactions, arrangements and contracts in
relation to the Group’s business to which the Company was a
party and in which a director of the Company had a material
interest, whether directly or indirectly, subsisted at the end of
the year or at any time during the year (2021: Nil).

37

(b)

(c)

(d)

(e)

B B R K i

ESNmRER

EERNEIFRESTALR®E
=R
BHE_ST-_—_F#K-_FT-_—F=AH
—t+—HALFE BMELXNENE
ERREFHNESKRIERBEF -

RRERUEERBAF=SxH
KR E

BE_T-_—_Fh-_T-—F=H

S+ —HALEFE ARBDLEME
HERERBAE=F I HEMRE-
ES-ZZEEEEHNEA
ERERZSEENHETRZ
EX-EERREMREZZE

BRI ST EEN BEZZ
TR E-—F=ZA=+—H
FTFERNEMMERFLER TE
MEE XZEEELHNEAE
m&&%%%%@kimhﬁ&ﬁ
B EERMELEMR

B
ZHIEHNTH

AN BV RT3 F R S F A ] B
Faﬁi?ﬁ’ﬁﬁiﬁ&ﬁ%@Z%ﬁ‘%ﬁﬁl"

ﬂ%%ﬁ&ﬁﬁﬁ&ﬁ¢%ﬁi
AERZZEARS THREH (=
T — )
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Five-year Financial Summary

L FERBEBRE

2022 2021 2020 2019 2018
B —F-—F —ZE-FF —FE-—NF —T—N\FE
HK$000 HK$000  HK$'000 HK$’'000 HK$’'000
FExT FATT TABTT TAETT FAETT
Results E
Year ended 31 March #®BZ=HA=+—H
IEEE
Profit attributable to KAREREAA
equity holders of JEAL 5 A
the Company 2,097 19,009 5,688 17,353 22,032
Assets and liabilites ZBERA®S
As at 31 March NR=A=+—8H
Total assets BEE 335,568 331,152 327,602 310,673 311,157
Total liabilities BaE (85,300) (80,497) (97,597) (76,155) (79,491)
Net assets BEFRE 250,268 250,655 230,005 234,518 231,666
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